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2 The Whims of Fortune

allowed to make money, they'd refrain from denouncing those who
succeed. Everyone wants to be better off: the minimum wage-earner wants
to make more, and so do those who earn twice his salary. So why in the
world brand someone who is paid four times as much a ‘sordid materialist’
the minute he wants to make it six? There will always be someone poorer
than oneself, and there will always be someone richer. Admittedly, there
is an intolerable discrepancy between those who can afford more than
essential needs and those who fall below the level of survival; but this
contrast appears mostly between industrial societies and those of the Third
World, rather than within western nations. Making money doesn't oblige
people to forfeit their honour or their conscience.

In France, of course, money has never been honourable, except perhaps
during the 19th century. The Church put it on the index in medieval
times, and ever since the age of industrialism, socialists and Marxists have
held it responsible for every evil. It is a foregone conclusion that money
will always remain impure. And yet, how herculean the efforts to acquire
it!

The French, whether hypocritical or irrational, it doesn’t matter, have
no trouble in getting round their own contradiction: they simply cherish
their own possessions while condemning everyone else’s. Among all
peoples, their love of money is doubtless the keenest, as every Frenchman
suspects every other of being motivated by selfish materialistic considera-
tions. Property, savings and inheritance are sacred; money itself and
finance are suspect. The French cling to their pathological distinction
between their little nest egg and anonymous riches labelled ‘inance’. This
fantasy provides an alibi for the inventors of wealth tax, euphemistically
referred to as the ‘tax on large fortunes’, levied on an aggregate of static
property, impossible for the most part to divide or liquidate; whereas only
those profits earned through the dynamic flux of the country’s economy
qualify for annual withholding.

In the final analysis, societies, like individuals, involve their whole
nature in their relationship with money. The rich are regarded with
ambivalence. One wants a kind of paternal protection from them, and
simultaneously one envies and rejects them. People expect them to feel
superior, and then revolt against what is an imaginary humiliation. No
one sees the rich as brothers, but as members of another species; money
isolates them. In their own eyes, however, the advantages money brings
them are too easy; the wealthy value only what they earn by personal
merit.

Mere mortals made of blood, flesh and bone, the Rothschilds have
always symbolized money and everything it represents: luxury, fame,
power. And should any of them be so ill-advised as to boast about it, he'd
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these images, to relive some of those events. Neither sentimentally nor
critically; I merely hope to resuscitate for a moment that theatre of
shadows now forever silent. Its actors have vanished; nobody will ever live
that kind of life again or know the frenzy and sweetness of an era when
everything was possible. As a witness to it, | feel duty-bound to try, at
least, to revive its memory . . .

In 1829, my great-grandfather, James de Rothschild, purchased the
property of Ferriéres from the heirs of Fouché, Napoleon’s Minister of
Police. There was then only a small chateau on the edge of a pond, and
some land which James expanded through a series of acquisitions. Already
rich, he decided to build a residence on this domain worthy of his success
and social ambitions — no doubt also a subconscious symbol of revenge by a
former ghetto child. He began by draining the land, landscaping the
grounds, erecting farm buildings. According to the Illustrated London
News, Ferriéres soon became known as ‘France’s model farm’. Then he had
the little chateau razed, and not a trace of it remains.

The construction of the new chateau was expected to take some twenty
years, but work progressed far more rapidly than foreseen. The first stone
was laid in July 1855, and the building was completed in 1859 — a
miraculous achievement then. While the construction was under way,
James lived in the hunting lodge which was later incorporated in a long
building that became the stables.

He had engaged a famous English architect and landscaper, Joseph
Paxton, who, like himself, was a self-made man: a gardener’s son, he'd
started out by assisting his father on the estate of the Duke of Devonshire.
He served his apprenticeship as gardener from the age of fifteen, worked
his way up, married the bailiff’s daughter, and finally attracted attention as
both a gardener and an architect. Among his most famous buildings was
the Crystal Palace. Perhaps in royal recognition of this triumph, Paxton
was knighted.

Sent to the Far East by his friend the Duke of Devonshire, Paxton
brought back and acclimatized all sorts of exotic trees and plants till then
unknown in Europe. In addition to his talent and lightning success, he
possessed sufficient audacity and originality to win over my great-
grandfather. _

Paxton’s plan for the chateau of Ferriéres was at first sight very simple:
an immense square edifice flanked at each corner by square turrets
surmounted by spires (later replaced by cupolas). The fagades were
relatively austere, the only touch of fantasy being a gallery on the north-
east side, enclosed by an Italian-style colonnade. At the centre of this
imposing structure was an immense room with a skylight: the ‘main hall’.
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The interior decoration was entrusted to the painter Eugéne Lami. I still
have many of his charming watercolours depicting the preliminary stages
of his work as well as ideas he discarded, and just as many revisions. The
dominant décor is obviously Napoleon III, but everyone readily mixed
styles during the middle of the 19th century. The ‘white drawing room’,
adjoining the main hall, was furnished in Louis XVI style, covered with
tapestries on a white background; white marble statues framed the
windows, and angels floated among the clouds on the painted ceiling. The
period changed again on entering the salon des cuirs (leather salon), where
separate panels painted on leather, originally a single hanging called The
Triumph of David, depicted a larger-than-life-size procession of figures, the
work of Govert Flinck, said to have been inspired by Rembrandt drawings.
As a child, I was particularly impressed by one of these panels in which
David, on horseback, is holding between his knees the enormous head of
Goliath with the fatal stone still embedded in his forehead, his eyeballs
rolled back in agony. These ‘Cordoba leathers’ reflected the light bril-
liantly, and the walls seemed aglow with their ochre, red and golden
shades. In any case, they gave the room a 17th-century air, even though
the great marble columns spaced round the walls were more reminiscent of
the Italian Renaissance. In the main dining room, a huge Bavarian
wooden fireplace added a German accent, although here too Soldani’s
bronze bas-reliefs on the doors reminded one of Italy again.

The main hall was a truly magical place. Its vast dimensions and the soft
light falling through the glass roof suggested the nave of a cathedral, and its
height permitted two different décors: on the upper level, the walls were
covered with emerald green velvet and hung with a series of tapestries (one
of which was slashed to ribbons in 1870, the others disappearing during the
1940 Occupation). On the lower half, at eye level, were a number of
paintings, including some of the most beautiful from my grandfather’s
collection: Ingres’ famous portrait of my great-grandmother Betty;" The
Marquise Doria by Van Dyck, later donated to the Louvre; a charming
portrait of a woman by Gainsborough; and Franz Hals’ Woman with a Rose.
Busts of Roman emperors stood guard while a woman generously bared her
bosom above the great marble mantelpiece. The two large doors opening
onto the principal entrance were flanked by a pair of Blackamoors several
metres high, who seemed to bear all the weight of the ceiling on their
shoulders. A billiard table in one corner, a piano in another, Italian
Renaissance cabinets delicately carved and inlaid with ebony, ivory,

* James, before my grandfather Alphonse, had begun to collect paintings by the Old
Masters. But he was also interested in contemporary art and commissioned a portrait of his
wife from Ingres. He wanted to have five copies made for his children, but the 1848
Revolution prevented the artist from satisfying this unusual request . . .
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The guest rooms offered one of the most original features of the chéteau.
They were really suites, each one with its own entrance hall, bedroom and
sanitary facilities, and especially its private bathroom, an unheard-of
extravagance at the time. Most of the spacious rooms were furnished with
canopied beds, the walls covered with fabrics whose motifs suggested the
name of each apartment: the ‘pheasant room’, the ‘bird room’, the
‘bouquet room’. Matching materials were used in the bathrooms, where
the tubs encased in mahogany or lacquered wood represented the height of
luxury; when one sank into one’s bath, the leaden colour of the zinc and
the smooth feeling of the polished metal, its temperature scarcely warmer
than that of the water itself, gave one a marvellous sensation of well-being,
further enhanced by the sight of the dancing flames in the little private
fireplaces. Delicious moments, and well calculated, as you can imagine, to
impress guests and visitors, or at least to give them a surprising and novel
experience. It must have been this kind of detail, even more than the
sumptuous décor, more than the size and number of the rooms (German
chateaux had at least as many) that struck Wilhelm I, then King of Prussia,
when he exclaimed with admiration (and perhaps a touch of envy), “‘What
an incredible palace! A king would not have dared to build it. It took a
Rothschild!’

Bismarck, however, did not share his enthusiasm. ‘It looks like an
upside-down chest of drawers!’ he said with a grimace, referring to the
square shape of the chiteau and its four corner turrets. This undoubtedly
reflected the opinion of the day. The architecture shocked people because
it didn’t resemble any traditional French style. But while nobody went into
raptures over the beauty of Ferriéres, everybody was enthralled by its
mixture of luxury and comfort, which was then unknown in France and is,
in my opinion, more of an Anglo-Saxon tradition.

A few years after Ferriéres was opened, Napoleon III gave it an imperial
dimension by deciding to pay it a visit on 16 December 1862. Public
opinion interpreted his gesture as the desire to form a closer relationship
with James, whom he had previously kept at a certain distance — or, at any
rate, the sign of the end of an era during which the Pereire banking family
had benefited from the imperial favours.

Journalists outdid themselves in their accounts of ‘the day with the
banking king’. Le Monde Illustré wrote of ‘the model farm, the finest in
Europe’ . . . ‘the hall which is the Baron’s private museum’ . . . and
described the Emperor as decked out in a dark fancy-dress outfit that
looked like the national costume of Brittany. As the French flag waved
atop the chéteau, ‘the ladies of the family gathered on the staircase . . .
The Emperor inspected all the rooms, walked around the grounds, visited
thestables. . .’ They rhapsodized over the luncheon: ‘gorgeous food, the
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Ferriéres, 1 January, 1871

Madame la Baronne;

[ am taking the liberty of sending you a few details about Ferriéres in the hope
that this letter will reach you and that perhaps you will be able to pass on this
news to Madame the Baroness James and to Monsieur the Baron Alphonse.

First of all, the invasion of the grounds by the Lagny Irregulars, killing
pheasant and hare, despite the protests of Monsieur Saint-Ange and the guards.
September 14 and 15, arrival of the Prussians; on the 16th, General von
Eupling and his staff; they were very nice and admired Ferriéres; on the 17th,
arrival of General Gordon and his staff; he ordered Monsieur Charles to prepare
a dinner for fifteen. In the end, they were 32 at table, and very dissatisfied with
the dinner. The General summoned M. Saint-Ange and told him that this was
impossible, that in Madame de Rothschild’s home one should be treated in a
manner befitting the name and the style of the chéiteau; nevertheless, they
drank 65 bottles of wine, including 32 of champagne, but it wasn't enough. The
General had M. Saint-Ange taken off to the guard room escorted by four
soldiers, and he had to spend the night on a bed of straw. It was sad to see this
nice 75-year-old man in such a position; the next morning he was to have left
with the army, but at 5 o'clock, Madame Saint-Ange went to see the General,
and after much pleading obtained his pardon. I accompanied M. and Mme
Saint-Ange throughout the whole sorry affair.

The 18th, departure of General Gordon; the 19th, arrival of the King and his
staff. The King occupied the apartments of Mme la Baronne Alphonse, M.
Bismarck the former apartment of Baron James, M. Moltke those of Mme la
Baronne James. The King'’s visit went off very well, he had his own servants and
kitchen, the domain supplied everything he needed: game, fruit and flowers; he
gave us two thousand francs, but his retinue was very large, 3,000 men and
1,200 horses, divided up between us and the peasants. I myself had 4 officers
and 6 soldiers, who were very well behaved, but this was not always the case,
because I too was involved in an incident.

The soldiers billeted at La Tafarette fished all the ponds, but that wasn’t
enough for them, so they decided one night to open the sluice-gates in order to
find lots of fish stranded the next morning. When I was given warning of this, |
went with several of my men and a locksmith to close the gates, but at that very
moment the cavalryman arrived to water the horses. Terrible disappointment,
no water! The soldiers thought it was | who had had the water drained, and they
dragged me to the General, who was billeted with Madame Vavasseur. |
explained what had happened, but he didn’t believe me; he called the guards to
take me prisoner, and | was ordered to have the ponds refilled at once. As this
was impossible, and as none of it was my fault, they finally let me go after a few
hours.

The King went to church every Sunday with his staff. M. Jules Favre was
staying at M. Saint-Ange’s. If only the negotiations had stopped this horrible
war, | would have planted a tree in honour of the peace, it was all agreed upon
with the King — but unfortunately, it didn’t turn out this way; the sth of
October, departure of the King for Versailles; the 6th and 7th, looting of
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romantic, more grandiose, more historically important. But the nature
and personality of my family and its life-style imparted to Ferriéres a
certain number of characteristics that belong to it alone, and which make
its story unique.

First of all, its originality. While we children may not have realized it, it
certainly was there. For example, one would think that a house with some
thirty guest rooms must have enormous kitchens. One imagines a com-
plete parallel ‘downstairs’ universe, as in the Jean Renoir film, La Régle du
Jeu, in which the servants’ world is a replica of that of the masters of the
house, with all of its rites and hierarchies, its defects and absurdities.

But who could possibly imagine the kitchens at Ferriéres? Since it’s in
their nature to emit odours that are not always pleasant, and since it’s
difficult to keep them out, someone had the idea of isolating the kitchens
from the rest of the house. Not merely relegating them to a far end of the
chateau, because a draught could still have wafted undesirable aromas
towards the living quarters. No! They were built 150 yards away and, more
precisely, buried underground! This veritable command post, consisting of
several rooms, was connected to the pantries inside the chiteau by a
tunnel through which a miniature railway train on roller bearings carried
the food between the kitchen and the chateau, while warming candles
underneath the trays kept the dishes at the proper temperature. We saw
nothing strange in this reality of another era, in fact, this was one of our
favourite playgrounds. We used to help push the little train and its heavy
wagons, on which we sometimes had a ride, squeezed in between two
platters. | often used to visit the kitchens themselves, which were,
incidentally, very well lit by a skylight camouflaged from passers-by by a
curtain of shrubs. I have a hazy recollection of the chef enthroned in
solitary splendour in the middle of his domain, isolated in a glass cage,
giving orders to a battalion of scullions who scurried in all directions, while
an enormous spit turned in front of a furiously blazing fire.

Heating the chateau was not a simple matter. In the basement, a huge
furnace with an insatiable appetite, a veritable bottomless pit, requiring
constant feeding (it consumed several cords of wood a day), provided the
hot water as well as heat for the ground floor, the drawing rooms and the
corridors. The rest of the chateau, the bedrooms and bathrooms, were
heated by individual fireplaces. Keeping these fires burning entailed the
mobilization of several people. Specially designed trolleys on little wheels
rolled through the corridors, carrying logs that were deposited in huge
chests situated in strategic spots, where the chambermaids and footmen
assigned to this task came to replenish their supplies. In my bed at night,
when the lights had been turned off, I loved to contemplate the ballet of
shadows created by the flames as they danced on the walls, glided across
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‘I tell you it’s red damask!’

‘No, no! It’s the Baron Edouard!’

And so it was that at certain hours, at breakfast time, for instance, a
‘Bell Song’ was played — though not the one from Lakmé.

We also loved the bedroom floor. One of our favourite games consisted
of getting up after we'd been put to bed, creeping stealthily out of our
rooms, and silently opening one of the doors that led onto the inside
gallery of the main hall. There, on all fours, stifling our nervous laughter,
we used to watch whatever our parents and their guests might be doing
downstairs.

[n those days, the servants’ world was a completely separate one, but one
we children knew well. Including the butlers, footmen, kitchen staff,
laundresses, maids, cleaning women and the fire-feeders, there must have
been at least thirty people ‘below stairs’. On certain weekends, when
guests brought their own chauffeurs, valets and loaders for the shoot, more
than fifty people were fed in the vast servants’ dining room. When my
great-grandfather James was alive, the chiteau could put up as many as a
hundred servants.

Among all the positions of the ‘household staff’, some were particularly
prized. In my grandfather’s time, so the story goes, the most coveted job
was that of the ‘grand admiral’, whose duties consisted of rowing about the
lake at mealtimes, floating slowly among the swans, in order to enliven the
landscape and offer the guests a poetic and charming spectacle.

There was another member of the staff whose only function was to
prepare salads. My father, a fine gourmet, must have found a salad
particularly delicious one day, and probably decided that the creator of this
tasty dish should henceforth be officially in charge of seasoning.

Then there was the ‘still-room’ maid, who was neither exactly a pastry
cook nor exactly a baker, but an expert in making muffins, scones, buns
and all the fancy breadstuffs so appreciated by the English. My father, who
often went to England in his youth (his mother was English), had always
adored these things, and one fine day he decided to send for a specialist. |
can still see her, a red-headed English woman, baking every day in a
special room — although nobody ate the food because it was supposed to be
fattening.

[ also remember a man who came from the neighbouring village of
Lagny every Monday to calibrate the chimes, rewind and verify the
numerous clocks in the chateau. It took him an entire day.

In my grandparents’ time, the grounds were looked after by a veritable
battalion of gardeners — fifty of them. A famous story was told about my
grandmother who, while visiting friends one autumn day, was enraptured
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never understand why | should have been so scared.

Ferriéres was opened only in the autumn, and we lived there for three
almost uninterrupted months. The term, not to mention the idea, of a
‘weekend’ was then unknown; my parents went ‘for the season’, taking up
residence there as a generation earlier ‘the Court took up residence at
Compiggne’. Just imagine all that was involved in this massive move into a
totally different life!

The installation in our ‘autumn quarters’ began early in October,
although it was not yet permanent because the racing season at Long-
champ wasn’t over and my father, who owned a large stable, never missed
arace in which his horses were running. On racing days he therefore stayed
overnight in Paris; it was out of the question to make the round trip in a
single day, even though it took barely more than an hour to cover the 35
kilometres between Paris and Ferriéres. Yet my father loved to drive.
When he was young, he'd been given one of the first Mercedes, doubtless a
model with a ‘driving stick’ instead of a steering wheel; but in the end he'd
given up what was then considered a ‘daring’ sport and two or three
‘mechanics’ had taken over the care and driving of his magnificent shiny
automobiles. | remember in particular a Rolls and a Delaunay, both very
hard to handle with their heavy steering, absence of brakes on the front
wheels, and other inconveniences that would make one smile today.

Once the shooting season was under way, my parents went to Paris only
for two days or so in the middle of the week. What did they do the rest of
the time?

Sunday was the only day devoted to shooting, as my father observed the
Sabbath. The shoot was the great event, a kind of féte that brought a
multitude of people together, and I'll describe it later.

During the rest of the week, life at Ferriéres resembled the descriptions
in 1g9th-century Russian novels, a sort of French version of A Month in the
Country. My father rose late, dealt with his correspondence, read the
newspapers, wrote . . . | can still see him, his glasses perched on his nose,
bent over the dossiers from the Bank of France or the Compagnie du Nord
that had been sent down from Paris. Sometimes, but not often, due to the
lack of partners, he had a game of bridge; but it seems to me that we kept
mostly to ourselves on weekdays. In the afternoon, my father played golf
and persuaded my mother to join him. He often spent long hours initiating
us into the mysteries of billiards, pretending to enjoy it, and these games
always ended too soon for us. Billiards was no fun without him. Sometimes
our parents also tried to teach us bridge, but my mother, who played badly,
soon lost her patience, while my father remained serene and smiling.

We also tried to hold seances, but only for fun, not really to invoke the
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riding lesson over the same old path. The only moment of unrestrained fun
was when we were taken for a drive in a cart pulled by a Shetland pony.
The pony fully merited her name of ‘Mighty’, because I never ceased to
marvel at the strength and energy of such a tiny animal. But even then, our
nannies were at our side, never letting us explore a little further. . . into
the forest, for example.

We were also bored by the long hours devoted to our first writing
lessons. Then too, there were very few other children around, apart from
the bailiff’s children and the chauffeur’s son. A visit from the Hottinguer
children, who lived in the neighbouring chiateau of Guermantes, was as
exciting as a Christmas present.

Our daily lives were thus as predictable as clockwork, and when by
chance something unforeseen interrupted our over-organized days, it wasa
rare treat — for example, during the terrible winter of 1917 when the lake
froze over and we were allowed to go ice-skating! Nelly, my faithful
bulldog who never left my side, followed me onto the frozen lake. She was
an ungainly creature, yet somehow I'd managed to teach her certain tricks,
like jumping fences on command and walking on top of them as on a
tightrope. In spite of her strange eyes (one was brown, the other blue), she
had a sweet expression. She huffed and puffed after me on the ice,
sometimes falling at the same time I did. Or she’d start off at a fast clip, and
I'd shout the order to ‘sit’, whereupon she’d slide along on her rump with a
look of utter astonishment on her face. Another gala moment occurred
one windy day when my nanny reluctantly let me go rowing on the lake.
With a large napkin fastened to a makeshift mast, I invented a sailing boat.

When | was ten, I began attending a lycée in Paris and didn’t get to
Ferrieres until late on Saturday afternoon. But soon we were old enough to
participate a bit in the adult activities, and from then on Ferriéres became
a veritable paradise. It meant sharing for twenty-four hours the grown-up
world, their fabulous shoots, their life of luxury. It was like Alice crossing
the frontier into Wonderland. Sometimes, when our sacred schedules
would permit, we were even allowed to dine with the adults!

My father bought me a child’s gun when [ was very young and turned me
over to his gamekeeper for lessons; soon he let me follow the shoot and
accompany him on the golf course (although it was really my mother who
tried to teach me the rudiments of the famous ‘swing’).

Life now had quite a different flavour. Even the things that used to bore
us to tears, in particular those obligatory walks, were suddenly transformed
into a series of fabulous adventures, now that we were allowed to
accompany our parents and their friends.

Right next to the chateau there were two large adjoining enclosures
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Next we'd visit the rose garden, then the ‘florist’ (like Piraeus, not a man
but a place), where row after row of spacious hothouses were filled with
grape-vines and orchids. We'd cast a rapid glance at the laundry, an
elegant, picturesque building on the Tafarette (the little stream fed by the
lake) where every day, all year long, a team of laundresses, supervised by a
launderer-in-chief, washed piles of sheets and towels from Paris as well as
from Ferriéres — some 80,000 articles a year!

But the most exciting visit for the children was to the stables, which
could house a hundred horses. This was a domain of subtle nuance, for
there were three different kinds of horses.

First, the saddle horses. Their stable, an extension of the former
hunting lodge, was next to the garage, where cars were parked alongside
antique carriages of all sizes and styles that had formerly been used to carry
the inhabitants of the chateau on their journeys and errands. These horses
were under the charge of our riding master, a former non-commissioned
officer in the Cadre Noir at Saumur, who was assisted by two grooms.

The second stable was located on a village street that bordered the
grounds of the chateau. It was reserved for draught horses, about ten of
them, which had once pulled the carts and carriages that met guests at the
Ozoir-la-Ferriere and Lagny railway stations, and were still used on
shooting days to draw a variety of conveyances, especially the diligence, a
sort of omnibus whose role I'll describe later.

Finally, there were the huge workhorses: Percherons, Ardennais and
Boulonnais, whose massive hindquarters were lined up the length of
immense stables on the farms run by the bailiff at Ferriéres and at
Pontcarré. Needless to say, a visit to these farms, humming with activity,
not forgetting the other animals being bred and reared there — cows, sheep,
pigs — provided a marvellous incentive for walks.

When we went by the golf course, we'd sometimes stop for a moment at
the ‘English chalet’, one of my grandfather’s whimsies. This house, made
entirely of wood that could be dismantled, had been the star attraction of
the British pavilion at the 1889 Paris Exhibition. It was really charming;
my grandfather fell in love with it and had it reconstructed at the edge of
the forest. It could actually have been lived in, since the bedrooms were
fully furnished, but I can’t remember it serving any purpose other than
sheltering us from the rain and giving us a place in which to change into
our golf clothes. (Later on, when I decided to move out of the chateau, 1
considered for a moment restoring it and living in it myself; but by that
time the wood had become too rotten and | finally had to have it
demolished.)

The important personage at Ferrieres was the bailiff. While he had
nothing to do with the inside of the chateau, which was the responsibility
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three magnificent coach horses, driven by a coachman in full dress.
(When my father went shooting alone, and later with me, we rode in a
charming little yellow carriage with curtains, but we were entitled to only
one horse.)

The carriage moved off, the horses broke into a trot in the direction of
the dark forest, and thus everyone arrived at the rendezvous spot, which
was sometimes quite distant from the chateau.

The forest was divided into four shooting sectors: Hermiéres, Pontcarré,
le Parc and Croissy — vast areas, each one the responsibility of a keeper who
lived there and devoted his time to breeding, rearing and feeding the
game, protecting it from marauding animals and poachers, all year long.
Each shoot was in a different sector, with the corresponding keeper taking
charge of organizing the day’s sport and leading the drives. Only these four
keepers, under the command of the head keeper, were entitled to wear the
family colours: a blue uniform with yellow buttons and a blue velvet cap.
The other keepers were dressed in ordinary brown woollen or velvet suits,
each outfit indicating the exact role of the wearer in the complicated
hierarchy, with its head keepers, assistant-keepers, auxiliary-keepers, etc.

There were four drives per shoot. My father assigned positions to each
guest, then took his place at the end of the line, an unrewarding spot
because it involved dealing with the ‘runaways’, those clever, experienced
birds who flew off at a tangent and were much more difficult to shoot.
When | was a beginner, [ stayed beside my father; later he entrusted me
with blocking the other end of the line. When everyone was in position,
with his loader or a keeper behind him holding his two guns, my father
signalled to the head keeper, who sounded the call. When the reply came
back from the beaters, the shoot was on.

First cries, first beating of wings, and the first birds soon arrived and tried
to cross the line. About half an hour later, the beaters closed in and the
shoot reached its climax. Hundreds of pheasants in ordered ranks took
flight in a flurry of feathers. The guns didn't know where to shoot first; the
loaders could hardly reload fast enough; the gun barrels burned our fingers;
the stricken birds seemed to explode in sprays of feathers, tracing strange
trajectories before falling all around us with a dull thud. The air seemed to
tremble and echo like the thunder of war, with barrages of explosions
filling the sky. The excitement was at its peak. Soon we heard the cries of
the approaching keepers and beaters, flushing out the last hidden birds. It
was over. But [ still needed several long moments to calm the pounding of
my heart.

At this point the ‘dog man’ entered on the scene, a Scotsman, a
specialist in labradors and retrievers, who had been brought over with his
family to become a resident member of the staff at Ferriéres. He took off
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they'd flown badly.

Every detail of the day was discussed, reliving the highlights. The good
shots, with a vaguely absent air, feigned indifference, while the less adroit
seemed to hang their heads, as if in shame.

Back at the chateau, we changed our clothes for the next meal: once
again, an abundance of various meats, cheese, pastries of all kinds, hot
chocolate. All this before tackling for the final time a lighter dinner served
at nine o'clock. How we managed to eat so much in a single day is still a
complete mystery to me.

[n the meantime, everyone went outside to cast a conqueror’s eye on the
display of bag which was laid out on the lawn and lit by torches held in
outstretched arms by the four head keepers, to the sound of hunting horns.

After dinner, the guests departed one after the other, with their share of
the game packed in a large hamper. Only a few of them spent the night in
the chateau.

If the Sunday shoot was the high point of the week at Ferriéres, Christmas
was the climax of the season. It started on the afternoon of the 24th. A
vast space was cleared in the orangery, which sheltered the palms and
other delicate trees throughout the winter, and rows of benches were
installed. In the centre stood the Christmas tree, all lit up and sprinkled
with artificial snow. The village band played fanfares as my parents
entered, followed by their three children.

We stood in a line, surrounded by the gamekeepers in full uniform,
facing the benches filled with the children from Pontcarré, Bussy-Saint-
Martin, Bussy-Saint-Georges and other villages, excited but well behaved
because their parents kept an eye on them. A delegation from each school
then recited greetings to my father and mother, and at last the toys and
presents were distributed, along with a chocolate bar and an orange, in
respect of some forgotten tradition. As soon as we were old enough, my
parents turned over this responsibility to us, which made us feel very
important. Finally, my father gave a little speech of Christmas greetings to
enthusiastic applause, and then everybody left, first the young mothers
with their babies in their arms, again in respect of some tradition.

That evening, another long wait began. As in all French homes, Father
Christmas was supposed to come down the chimney, with his sleigh and
reindeer and his magic sack; but at Ferriéres, [ don’t know why, he left by
the window. Before going to bed, we looked inside our shoes, neatly lined
up in the fireplace next to the red cardboard boots, and | already imagined
them filled with dazzling and mysterious objects.

The first thing | saw the next morning was the shiny wrappings. But I
had to wait, dying of curiosity and impatience, until someone came to
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enough to enter the lycée. And yet it is Ferriéres which, for my sisters and
myself, remains closest to our hearts.

Could it be that pleasure and happiness always began for me the
moment [ left Paris? But then, why not Chantilly, where we always had
such fun?

Ferriéres was certainly a world unto itself, an isolated enclosure where
we lived a full life: only at Ferriéres can | remember being sick, experienc-
ing childish fears renewed each night, and suffering as only children can. It
was perhaps not exactly the Grand Meaulnes with mists and clouds,
chiteaux and magic balls, dark forests in which one lost one’s way.
Ferriéres was like an ocean liner in the forest. Immobile, but nevertheless
an invitation to adventure. Its only openings led into the boundless forest;
and this domain, to which I was so long refused the key, never lost its
powers of enchantment.

The chiteau itself was almost like an echo of the forest. Its dark
basements were like a forest glade; its endless corridors that ran around the
hall were like woodland paths; its staircase where the wounded boar lay
nightly in wait forme . . .

And so at dusk I was often overcome by a disturbing feeling, halfway
between anxiety and sadness. The lake with its shifting mists, the blanket
of fog that sometimes hovered all day long, were not the only reasons for it.
The dense forest, its secret denizens, its hidden mysteries . . . it must
have been lurking there, whatever it was that came to wring my heart.
And almost every evening at twilight, the same pheasant would perch on
the same tree and utter his mournful cry, as if to mock me. Why should this
call from the direction of the Italian gallery remain so vivid, to the point
where [ can still see that little boy watching the approach of night from his
bedroom window?

Then from the depths of my memory, even today, arises an entire
procession of shadows from my childhood. The old nostalgia is rather
unsettling; memories of the chateau flow back to me from the distant past,
and my ageing bones are shaken by an uncontrollable tremor of sadness
and of tenderness.
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footing in winter on the slippery wooden paving blocks. I could hear the
drivers’ curses and observe their strange gesticulations as they tried to urge
the horses onto their feet again.

[nside the house, a multitude of servants scurried in all directions,
bustling about (and sometimes loitering) on every floor. My parents were
not the only ones to maintain such a large staff, for domestic service was
still one of the major sources of employment in France in the early 1900s.
When they went out in the evening, a liveried butler always waited up for
them, no matter how late, in order to accompany them to their rooms or
serve them a drink; a chambermaid always helped my mother undress and
go to bed.

Between the servants and the children, there was a kind of complicity. I
remember the sweet smile of Madame Edouard, the linen-maid, whose
company | often sought during my playtime hours. And I can still see
Marie and Jules, the concierges — or rather, hear them, since Marie, who
answered the telephone, used to literally yelp as she rushed from one line
to another, while the two dogs my mother had given her and who shared
her loge (Spad, a German shepherd, and Tank, a pomeranian) yapped in
unison. It was bedlam day and night. Jules, very dignified in his blue and
yellow livery, spent his time opening and closing the heavy carriage gates
whenever he heard three toots on the horn demanding entrance.

One day, one of the servants inveigled me into believing that I was
gifted with almost supernatural powers; while I was amusing myself by
playing my bugle, he claimed to have seen a regiment of soldiers parading
down the street, obviously in response to my battle call!

But now I'm slipping into idle memories. In this book, born of my
regrets and hopes, why should I too begin conventionally with a descrip-
tion of my childhood? Ferriéres, with its enchanted shadows and the
poetry of its vanished world, deserves to be recalled. But the rest, as will be
seen, was not a part of that fairy-tale universe. I thought it over for a long
time. My childhood was not unlike that of many other ‘privileged sons’. |
had nannies, like some; the lycée, like everyone; the university, as was
fitting; and military service, like all good citizens. Nothing fairy-tale in all
that! However, since the adult is already wholly present in the child, I
finally decided that, like it or not, I ought to revive for a moment those
crucial early years. |

The recollection of my schooldays does not really interest me as such.
But . . . why did the lycée, which my parents felt would teach me to be
‘like everyone else’, merely convince me that [ was different? Why was my
military service, on the other hand, such an easy experience, why did it
seem to provide the solution I was seeking to my problems? Why and how
did my mother, who adored my sisters and me, burden us with her own
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When Russia joined our side during World War II, my father, who could
never have been called a ‘leftist’, discovered overnight all sorts of splendid
qualities in our new ally, including that of democratic freedom. Notwith-
standing his lively, sharp intelligence, he tended to see things as he
wanted them to be, for better or for worse. Moreover, he always viewed
things with reference to the past.

There was nothing affected about him. A genuinely modest man, he
never talked about himself. Unfailingly patient, understanding and
generous, he was very affectionate towards his wife and children. He
couldn’t do enough to please us. He introduced us to riding, golf, shooting,
and later on tried to get us to share his passion for horseracing.

When serious matters were involved, such as the family reputation, the
protection of the interests for which he was responsible, or the fight against
anti-semitism, he displayed innate dignity; his sense of honour was
intrinsic and unconditional. Once or twice, feeling insulted by some anti-
semitic remark, he'd even fought a duel, fortunately without serious
consequences.

Always attentive and thoughtful towards his friends and family, my
father was cordial but never intimate. Thin and nervous, he was quite
temperamental and could fly into a rage over trifles, although he was
seldom angry with us.

He had his little eccentricities, especially at home. For example,
endowed with a very sensitive palate, he was fussy about his food. He
would often hold up his plate to the butler with an outraged air,
indignantly declaring, ‘This mutton smells of wool!” or “This fish reeks of
fish!" and then add, ‘Can’t you bring me something that is at least edible?
An egg, perhaps?’

He did not care a whit about appearances or what people thought of
him. Towards the end of his life, he used to go all by himself in summer to
Ciro’s, the most elegant restaurant in Deauville, carrying under his arm a
little box containing his personal provision of homemade cream cheese
and créme fraiche.

For years he played golf either at Chantilly or on his private links at
Ferriéres designed by Simpson, the most famous golf course designer of the
day. My mother used to join him. She had an elegant swing which was also
remarkably ineffectual; my father’s style consisted of hopping stiffly up and
down with a jerky motion, his tongue stuck in his right cheek. After each
game, they would firmly announce that the secret of this diabolical sport
was . . .one day in the wrists, another in the arms, and sometimes in the
entire body. They were obviously genuine golfers!

My father also loved to play cards. Every day after the office (at home we
never called it ‘the bank’), he went to the Nouveau Cercle on the
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My mother, Germaine Halphen, came from a good French Jewish family.
Her father died when [ was a little child, and all I know is that their
Jewishness never bothered either him or his wife. Intensely patriotic, they
were generally hostile to foreign ideas and people.

My grandmother, a rather domineering widow with great strength of
character, suddenly discovered a passion for painting and spent hours
every day in front of her easel. She also held a literary salon where, every
Saturday afternoon, she ‘received’ famous authors, proudly believing (and
convincing others) that her salon was one of the steps on the way to the
Académie Frangaise.

[ usually spent a week or so in July at her house in Ville d’Avray, which
was surrounded by a large garden overlooking Paris and filled with a
continual stream of artists and intellectuals. | remember in particular
Anna de Noailles, the poetess, who seemed to have a weakness for young
men; and Paul Valéry, who was an extraordinary mixture of kindness and
mordant wit.

My grandmother refused to leave France during World War II, prefer-
ring to live in hiding and in poverty throughout the Occupation, which
she endured with admirable fortitude. She died only three months after
the Liberation.

My mother was petite, smaller than she seemed to be, even though she
was slightly round-shouldered and became more so with age. Brown-
haired and black-eyed, she might easily have grown stout if she had not
adhered to a strict diet. She was a pretty woman with soft, harmonious
features. Unlike my father, she was very down-to-earth, devoid of fantasy.
She saw life from a practical point of view and ran her household with a
tight rein.

Far more than my father, it was she who took charge of our education, in
that she scrupulously organized everything concerning our health, our
daily programmes, our leisure activities. She also assumed the responsi-
bility for teaching us good mariners, from elementary etiquette to the most
subtle forms of courtesy. Her basic principle was that we should never be
boastful or pretentious. How often I heard her say, ‘You've got to make up
for having more than other people’ —a dictum | have tried to drum into my
own children. And if they remember only one piece of advice from me, |
hope it will be this one.

In a book of recommendations to a young Frenchman setting forth for
England, André Maurois used as an example Alain Gerbault, who had just
completed his famous solitary voyage around the world in a small boat. If
ever he were asked if he knew how to sail, Gerbault was advised to answer:
‘I've done a little rowing.” Enchanted by this reply, my mother often
quoted it to me.







36 The Whims of Fortune

overhear her muttering, between polite smiles, critical remarks about the
restoration that had been completed without consulting her. Everything
that escaped her personal control aroused her innate desire to dominate,
although she immediately suppressed any outward sign of it. But these few
trees don’t make a forest; her bad moods were intense but infrequent.

My mother was a virtuous woman with a generous heart. Mindful of her
obligations, she considered it only natural to help others. Throughout her
life she employed a social worker who investigated needy cases and advised
her in finding ways to aid them. Every Thursday, she visited the Roths-
child Foundation’s children’s home in Nogent-sur-Marne, distributing
gifts and playing with the children, who smothered her with hugs and
kisses and called her ‘Germaine’.

Although she was not exactly what one might term an ‘intellectual’, she
was nonetheless receptive to all sorts of ideas. A perennial student, serious
and conscientious, she adopted ‘gurus’ in various fields, such as philos-
ophy, painting and music, promptly relinquishing her own critical
faculties and accepting their teachings as gospel. She loved learning new
things. In her youth, she'd studied singing for a while, without success; at
eighty, she decided to take swimming lessons! She was an avid reader,
especially after my father’s death when she was often alone, and particu-
larly enjoyed the classics and works on child psychology. She herself wrote
two books: one on the life of Bernard Palissy, the 16th-century scholar and
ceramist, illustrated with photographs of the finest pieces from my father’s
collection; and the other, at the urging of her son-in-law, Gregor
Piatigorsky, a biography of the Italian composer, Luigi Boccherini.

Loved and respected for her elegant manners, her loyal generosity and
irreproachable behaviour, this great lady died at the age of ninety-one,
after four years of illness. I owe her far more than these few pages.

My two sisters are younger than I. The elder, Jacqueline, has dark hair,
while Bethsabée is blonde. Jacqueline was born ten months after our
brother Alphonse died at the age of four from complications following an
appendectomy, and my mother’s grief while she was carrying Jacqueline
may account for the fact that she was a melancholy child.

She was pretty, but neither flirtatious nor very sociable. Her marriage,
when she was far too young, ended in divorce. She found consolation in
her piano lessons, even aspiring to a professional career. Although she
never achieved that ambition, in spite of lessons from Alfred Cortot,
whom she idolized, her musical efforts were rewarded in another way. She
met the famous cellist Gregor Piatigorsky and married him just before the
war. They lived happily together for nearly forty years, until he died of
lung cancer. (Alas, he smoked.)
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say, and seconded by an assistant. For a while they both wore those nurse’s
uniforms such as are still seen in old films, before reverting, so to speak, to
‘civilian’ clothes.

While there was a change in number and in outward aspect, their
mental attitude unfortunately remained the same. | remember them as
veritable dragons, dim-witted sergeants who insisted on the strictest
discipline and refused to tolerate the slightest caprice. My nanny ruled
tyrannically over three domains: my body, my stomach, and my mind.
Every day | had to take a walk at a certain time, ‘for exercise’, perform the
meticulous ritual of afternoon tea, and spend endless hours with my
schoolbooks. Our walks led either to the Tuileries gardens or to the leafy
clump of trees at the beginning of the Champs-Elysées. At ‘five o'clock’ tea
(which, of course, took place at four o'clock sharp), I had to swallow a
bowl of milk along with bread and butter, although I had no appetite. One
day, a wasp hidden in the marmalade stung my lip, and forever after, tea-
time was a nightmare for me.

Never for an instant was this discipline relaxed. My mother told me
later, with a wry smile, that when we were escaping to Bordeaux by car,
the nannies insisted on stopping every day at four o'clock for their
sacrosanct tea, no matter where we happened to be.

Even on the beach at Arcachon, my nanny made no distinction
between fun and exercise and never let me relax for a minute, nervously
ordering me to ‘Dig! Dig!" whenever my activity seemed to wane. My
playmates finally took to calling her ‘Miss Dig-dig’, a name she’d certainly
earned. It's not surprising that these indomitable nannies forged the
character of a nation which neither Napoleon nor Hitler succeeded in
conquering!

Their strictness in our case had at least one valid excuse; my brother
Alphonse’s nanny had never reported the fact that he vomited every meal,
and she was held responsible for his death. This tragedy which, I now
realize, marked my parents’ entire lives, created a veritable ‘appendicitis
complex’ in the family, and the operation itself seemed jinxed. My sisters
and I all had to undergo it, in my case during World War [ when [ was only
six. Again, it was an emergency operation, performed in my mother’s
bathroom; again, my nanny had never mentioned the nausea I felt at
every meal, and she too was fired and forgotten. This critical inter-
vention almost cost me my life. Because the fever failed to subside, there
had to be a second operation to insert a drain, and everybody feared the
WoOrst.

‘He’s still alive,’ reported the surgeon, ‘and if he can sleep through the
next two hours, he'll survive.’

My mother had had an appendectomy as a child, but my father
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My dear mother unwittingly did me great disservice in this respect. Her
over-protectiveness humiliated me in front of my friends, and after a while
I asked the chauffeur to stop and let me out a few hundred yards from the
lycée so that my arrival would not attract attention. The psychological
damage was more permanent, however, in that I lacked confidence in my
ability to deal with the little problems of daily life and ended up believing
that I was neither clever enough, self-sufficient nor manly enough, to
cope. | had even become so imbued with a sense of restriction that one
day, when nobody was there to meet me after school, all I could think of
doing was to ask one of my teachers to walk me home!

Once, however, | was allowed to stay overnight with some friends near
Dinard on the Brittany coast, and I came home enchanted by the
experience. I'd had a wonderful time; I'd been to the cinema and a party; 1
was absolutely elated by it all. I don’t know which item on the programme
so displeased and enraged my mother, but the upshot was that my friends,
considered vulgar or perhaps of dubious morality, were crossed off the list;
they were, at least, attacked by such a barrage of long- and medium-range
artillery that they were knocked down and out of my life forever.

The lycée was a good school, but my grades soon fell below average, so
my parents hired a tutor for me, Roger Nathan (who later became famous
as Secretary General of the Ministry for National Economy). | worshipped
him like an elder brother. He built up my self-confidence, broke down my
emotional defences, and enlarged my scope of interests. In particular, he
introduced me to painting, and I still remember how thrilled [ was when he
encouraged me to buy two inexpensive watercolours, my first ‘art
acquisitions’.

Nevertheless, | had to repeat my fifth year, and was transferred to a new
school, Louis-le-Grand, and assigned a new tutor, René Fillon, only four
or five years older than me, who was preparing for a degree in literature.

[ was still going home every day for lunch, but now the walk was longer
and took at least three-quarters of an hour . . . and I was still
accompanied! I started to study seriously. At the end of my next-to-last
year, | was awarded a prize for excellence, several prizes in maths, and
eventually passed the final exams of the baccalauréat with flying colours.
René Fillon, who was by then working towards a post-graduate degree,
continued to tutor me in preparing my diplomas in literature and law. We
were fast friends, and after the war he became one of the managers of the
bank.

My vyears at the lycée, where | was supposed to lead an ordinary life, to
submit to the same discipline as the other students, to be just another one
of them instead of a privileged child, only partially fulfilled my parents’
expectations. As a day student, I did not participate in extracurricular
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nannies present, just the family. It was always a red-letter day.

My mother, who believed in adhering to a strict daily schedule, made us
sit down at table at twelve forty-five sharp. She questioned us about our
studies, our behaviour and our daily lives, never missing a detail. My father
was almost invariably late for lunch. We supposed that his professional
responsibilities were terribly demanding. He was always affectionate and
seemed happy to see us. My mother, having fulfilled her educational
obligations at the beginning of the meal, caught his mood and the
atmosphere was warm and relaxed. Neither my sisters nor myself were
particularly talkative, but my parents generally managed to get us to open
up a bit, except when the Baron de Brimond, an old family friend,
whiskered and black frock-coated, was invited to join the family luncheon
party along with his granddaughter. He too was rather taciturn, which
made the rest of us even less communicative than usual.

Our parents also spent the month of August with us. My father used to
go to Deauville for the season, dividing his time between his stud farm and
the racecourse. Now they decided to accompany us to Dieppe or Dinard,
which were reputed to be healthy climates for growing children and, when
we were adolescents, safer for our souls than the libertine atmosphere of
more sophisticated summer resorts.

There was one place where we felt less bound by routine and discipline,
solitude and boredom: Chantilly, where we spent the Easter holidays and
the months of July and September.

My father had a passion for horses, the English countryside and the
Middle Ages. He therefore decided to build a Gothic country house in the
heart of a landscape resembling the area around Newmarket, the horse
capital of England. Consulting numerous documents and taking as a model
the chateau of Montal, a Renaissance gem in the Lot region, he built a
house in the style of Viollet-le-Duc. The sculptured wood and stone, the
bedrooms all facing north (summer heat was not yet fashionable), various
devices that opened secret doors, all made this astonishing modern
medieval manor planted in the middle of an English-style park next to the
stables where our horses were trained, the only place where I really lived
the life of a normal child and where our nannies’ fussy supervision at last
abated somewhat.

Chantilly is practically synonymous with horses, which I've loved ever
since | was a little boy, first in Normandy at the Meautry stud, where the
foals were born, then at Chantilly, where from my window I could see the
horses training long before I learned to ride. I watched many trial runs on
‘Les Aigles’ (the training track) and on the racecourse itself, and admired
the jockeys going to work on their little ponies which they treated like
Vespas. Having reached their destination, they'd simply hop off, and the
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and complicated toys. Fascinated by the limitless field of possibilities, I
imagined myself capable of exploring them all.

[ was also a faithful subscriber to the English boys’ adventure story
magazines, such as the Wide World, with its tales of lost heroes struggling in
the savage jungle, and the Strand, in which chaste love stories invariably
ended with the boy finally kissing the blushing young girl, discovering with
rapture that her lips were so marvellously ‘cool’. (In Anglo-Saxon
literature, it took a long time for ‘flaming passion’ and ‘burning lips’ to be
accepted!)

[ also tried my hand at drawing, inspired by the advertisements of an
English art school, the ‘ABC of Drawing’, which offered a free criticism of
the reproduction of the picture of a young girl’s head. Not realizing that
the copy was supposed to be life-size, | conscientiously sent a drawing of
exactly the same dimensions as the picture in the advertisement — no more
than one inch high! In reply, | was simply asked how old I was. This
humiliating experience brought to an abrupt end my childish and
decidedly unpromising artistic career.

Magic also appealed to me. | purchased countless books and magazines
that explained how to read palms and cards, to become a ventriloquist, to
analyse character from a person’s facial features, or how to acquire and
develop magnetism! But obviously, all of this dabbling in para-psychology
could not provide what was missing in my life: the right to do the same
things that my friends did.

Strange as it may seem today, being a Rothschild didn’t worry me at all,
for money was nothing to be ashamed of at that time. People built
chateaux, bought works of art, lived extravagantly, in short, were not
afraid to appear conspicuously wealthy. The rich didn’t feel guilty, because
nobody accused them of anything. My school friends weren’t jealous of
me, and my teachers gave me no special treatment. Perhaps, at about the
age of fourteen or fifteen, | may have gone through a brief stage of puerile
vanity, but my mother’s lessons soon brought me back within the bounds
of modesty.

My parents never made the kind of arrogant statements that are
traditional in certain families. “When you are a Rothschild . . . " is a
phrase | heard only much later, when I was working at the bank; and then
it simply referred to our tradition of rigorous business ethics, and in fact,
was more like an order to respect them.

If I was unaware of inequalities, it is because at that time, when social
differences were far more clearly defined than they are today, the hierarchy
was not based solely on money. During periods of relative stability,
everyone instinctively found his own level. For example, ‘society people’
(a term which had no connotation of superficiality, as it does today) knew
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the second a creamy bisque; an egg or fish course; then game — partridge,
pheasant or hare, followed by a roast accompanied by several sauces and
vegetables; next, cold meats and salad, after which came two desserts, and
finally cheese and fruit. An abundance of wine was served throughout the
meal: reds and whites, bordeaux and burgundies, champagne, sweet
wines, not to mention a variety of liqueurs.

My daily life also changed. Having passed the second part of my
baccalauréat, a decision now had to be made as to my university education.
Business administration schools did not yet exist in France, and the closest
equivalent, ‘Sciences-Po’, the political science faculty, had the reputation
of being a haven for rich boys seeking an easy diploma. So I enrolled in
both the Sorbonne and the Law School.

My academic duties somewhat limited my social life; I was allowed to go
out twice a week, including Saturday night. But oddly enough, unlike
most people who have been deprived of freedom, I did not take advantage
of it. I didn’t rush into the wild night life of the Latin Quarter, nor did I
discover romance, nor even the theatre or cinema. I got my degrees with
top honours in Medieval French, awarded by Gustave Cohen himself.
Afterwards, satisfied and happy, | went off to do my military service, but
not without a certain apprehension. Although my nanny-ridden child-
hood was far behind me, | had the feeling that the army, like the
university, was merely an extension of my schooling; my real entry into the
adult world would come only later. After all, a sergeant is not so very
different from a nanny!

Since I'd opted for the Cavalry, | was automatically assigned to Saumur,
whose reputation for strict discipline and spartan conditions both fascin-
ated and intimidated me. When I was told on the evening of my induction
into the Eleventh Cuirassiers that I'd have to sleep on a bed of straw in the
Dupleix barracks, I felt all at once lost and homeless. (The NCO finally
sent us off to spend the night at home. ) The next morning, all the recruits
were piled into an extraordinarily slow train which took twenty-four hours
to reach Saumur, less than two hundred miles away. Army life had indeed
begun.

Immediately assigned to a brigade and treated like everyone else, I was
quite satisfied with my lot. A cadet without a stripe to his uniform, I led the
life of an ordinary soldier: reveille at six, cold-water wash, hospital-
cornered bed, then classes all day long. The training course consisted of
five or six months of this regime. The cadet on duty marched us in step to
the stables; the officer who assigned us our horses (we were always given
the same one) then took us in hand for an hour of fast trotting without
stirrups, which wasn't easy. We always had to keep the same distance
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The impressions we bring back from our long voyage through childhood
form a heritage that is never lost. In recalling these early memories, I can
see more clearly the extent to which our parents leave an indelible imprint
on us. Far more than their words of advice, it is their daily personal
example that remains with us forever.

Other members of the family have also influenced my life. I found my
grandmother Leonora (Laurie) particularly intriguing, perhaps because
she was seldom mentioned. English like her brother Lord Rothschild, she
married her French cousin, my grandfather Alphonse. She was very
beautiful and had a host of admirers, to whose attentions, it was said, she
was not always unresponsive. But old age finally dulled her radiance. One
day, after contemplating her reflection in the mirror, she suddenly decided
to abandon all forms of coquetry and from then on she never again
appeared in society. When she was almost seventy (and | was eighteen
months old), she contracted pneumonia after a ride in the Bois de
Boulogne and was ordered to stay in bed. A few days later she got up again,
put on her most sumptuous evening gown, and dismissed her maid for the
night. Then she had dinner in her dining room. She made the long walk
from one end of the house to the other, back to her bedroom, unac-
companied. She undressed, lay down and died.

[ have always admired her stoical courage and hope to prove worthy of
her example.

I've devoted many pages to my adolescence, disregarding my mother’s
advice: ‘Never talk about yourself; one hasn’t the right to bore other
people with one’s problems.” Perhaps there is a note of vanity behind her
words: one mustn’t reveal one’s weaknesses.

Ever since my strictly scheduled, highly organized childhood days, I
have had not only an aversion to idleness and inertia, but also a penchant
for programmes. Even on holiday, I feel guilty doing nothing. But there’s
something about me that even those close to me do not know. At times
now, | fall silent and enjoy drifting into a long and pleasant reverie. I'm
capable of living the inner life of a cow, and nothing irritates me more than
for some intruder to try to interrupt my ruminations.

An over-organized childhood is also probably responsible for my lack of
fantasy, even a certain lack of initiative, which might have turned me into
a genuine hermit, had I lived alone. Happily, and undoubtedly not by
chance, [ have always been attracted by stimulating, dynamic people, and
my second wife, Marie-Héléne, has swept me up in her whirlwind
existence.

Of all the precepts recommended by my mother, the one that remains
foremost in my mind is certainly modesty. So | was amused by the witty
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inflicted during the Revolution. But his first really important financial
exploit occurred in 1818: France had signed an agreement with Austria,
Prussia, Russia and England, in which she agreed to allocate the sum of
240,800,000 francs (about 26 billion francs at today’s rate) as an
indemnity for all the groups and individuals who had suffered damage
during the Napoleonic wars. James, only twenty-six years old and newly
installed in France, arranged to place the loan required to honour this
commitment. The conditions he offered the government were infinitely
more attractive than those of the financier Laffitte. Villele thereafter
succeeded in making a very advantageous conversion of this loan in 1823,
whereupon he publicly expressed his gratitude to James in the most
complimentary terms.

Due to this transaction, to his tireless activity and his reputation for
integrity, James found himself holding a virtual monopoly on the big
European loans; during the course of his professional life, they amounted
to the equivalent of 1,200 billion new francs; in addition to which,
between 1813 and 1830, England borrowed through the Rothschilds two
billion seven hundred million francs, and France one billion one hundred.

During the 19th century, the essential activity of the bank consisted of
underwriting loans taken out by various European nations, which meant
that the Rothschilds bought the totality of each loan, at considerable
personal risk. Afterwards, if the operation succeeded in stabilizing the
borrowing nation’s financial situation, its credit rose, the loan could be
quoted on the Stock Exchange and sold at a more or less profitable margin.

James never forgot that during the 18th century his father and his
ancestors had been tradesmen in Frankfurt before becoming financiers,
and he never overlooked an opportunity to continue this tradition. He
acquired the mercury mines of Almadén in Spain, and sent agents to
California and Mexico to buy precious metals used in European coins;
going even further, he began to mint money for such states as Piedmont
and the Two Sicilies; he set up an agency in New Orleans to buy cotton,
which was resold in Le Havre; he sent agents to Cuba, Puerto Rico and
Manila to buy up tobacco, which he then sold to European governments.
Like most businessmen, he was attracted by the principle of vertical
integration of an enterprise, so he became a shipowner in order to
transport his merchandise himself. His fleet included a three-master
christened Ferriéres, which was one of the most handsome and modern
vessels of the French merchant navy at that time.

In the industrial field, James had a taste for high-risk ventures, and was
audacious enough to back a young man named Emile Pereire, who was
employed at the rue Laffitte as a trader for foreign commercial paper. An
ardent believer in the scheme to build a railway between Paris and Saint-
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Before giving us his blessing at the moment of our final parting, my father
reminded us that according to the law of God we should consider all men our
brethren and do as much for-others as our means permitted, regardless of their
race or creed. He advised us to remain united and carry on together the banking
activities he had initiated. He told us the tale of the King of the Scythians who
summoned his sons to his deathbed and showed them a sheaf of arrows so tightly
bound together that nobody could break it; then, taking them apart, he showed
them how easy it was to break each arrow separately. ‘As long as you remain
united,’ he told us, ‘you will be strong and powerful; but the day you separate
will mark the end of your prosperity.’

(When James was knighted, he chose five arrows as one of the symbols on
his coat of arms; and in 1968, the same five arrows became the trademark
of the Rothschild Bank until its nationalization. )

The solid ties between James and his four brothers never weakened, and
it was common knowledge that the five European branches worked
together very closely. (James’s couriers had the reputation of being the
swiftest in Europe, his network of informants the most efficient. This did
not preclude prudence: all correspondence was written in Hebrew, and -
one never knows — it was always unsigned. )

Ten thousand mourners, from the greatest to the humblest, followed
James's coffin on foot in 1868. The funeral procession was over two
kilometres long; traffic on the boulevards was paralysed for hours. The
press unanimously lauded his benevolence, his honesty and sense of
justice, and mentioned with surprise and admiration the extreme sim-
plicity of his funeral, in sharp contrast to the recent extravaganza of his
friend Rossini. It was James himself who had, before he died, chosen to
leave by ‘second class’, in an unadorned hearse drawn by two black horses.

His heir, my grandfather Alphonse, was born and bred in Paris and had
therefore never experienced the hardships of the ghetto. On the contrary,
he had benefited from all the refinements of a French education; his tutor
was a famous writer of the time, Désiré Nisard, director of the Ecole
Normale and a future member of the Académie Frangaise. When he took
charge of the bank, it was at the height of its power and renown. A few
years later, he had the chance to prove his patriotism as well as his ability.

After the defeat of 1870, Thiers sought to launch a huge bond issue of
five billion francs as an indemnity which Germany had made a condition
before liberating the French territory it had occupied. Alphonse, along
with his friend the Finance Minister Léon Say, arranged all the technicali-
ties of the loan and personally contributed to its immediate success. (It was
over-subscribed by 500 per cent and was one of the greatest successes in our
financial history.) Alphonse himself had underwritten almost half of it,
that is to say, about two and a half billion francs.
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independent entities, each in its own country, and, after 1918, each chose
its Own course.

London became a merchant bank, financing loans to industry through
acceptances which they underwrote, at the same time acting as financial
adviser, intermediary and promoter. ‘N. M. Rothschild and Sons’ also
owned a gold refinery, becoming so predominant in this field that even
now the price of gold is decided each day in its offices in New Court on St
Swithin’s Lane, a few steps away from the Bank of England. One must not
forget that the City of London was the most active financial centre in the
world until the period between the two world wars, when New York
assumed the lead.

Paris, on the other hand, was merely a narrow, rather provincial
financial market. The generation before me had taken charge of the
business less than ten years before World War I. In 1914, they had an
opportunity to renew a past tradition in an operation that was typically
19th century in character: just after the outbreak of hostilities, the French
government needed to borrow dollars. They contacted Morgan'’s, who pre-
ferred, however, to deal with the Rothschilds rather than with a govern-
ment. Once the loan was completed, Rothschild Fréres found themselves
the debtors. They passed on the dollars to the government without taking
any commission, although the deal committed them entirely.

In all circumstances, my father saw himself as a disinterested servant of
his country. Wilfrid Baumgartner once told me that during the 1920s,
when he was Secretary of the Treasury, he had to face a financial
obligation which he couldn’t meet in time. He appealed to my father, who
made it a point of honour to lend him the necessary funds without the
slightest discussion.

But after 1918 a new world appeared, marked by inflation and monetary
erosion. My father’s generation lost its footing; it had grown up during the
exceptionally stable period of prices and wages that had lasted from 1870
to 1914, a golden age of forty-four years during which the value of money
didn’t fluctuate and income tax was unknown!

James had already experienced difficulty in adapting to new economic
and financial conditions, if one can believe the historians of the period.
He disagreed so strongly with the popular neo-Saint-Simonean theories
that he reduced his financial activity during the Second Empire. ‘He was as
unwilling to accept financial revolution as the political kind.” He did not
believe in collective capitalism where finance was concerned, and wrote a
detailed report denouncing its dangers and predicting bankruptcy for the
Crédits Mobiliers in Austria and France. But this retrenchment during
James’s time had only minor consequence for the bank, which remained
intensely active in many sectors. After 1918, however, a private institu-
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visible relics as in the old stories that everyone loved to tell.

The setting in which ‘Messieurs de Rothschild Fréres’ lived contributed
a lot to this atmosphere. Since 1817, the bank had been housed in a
mansion on the rue d'Artois, later rechristened rue Laffitte in honour of
the well-known financier, Prime Minister and Finance Minister under
Louis Philippe. (Its synonymy with the family vineyard, Chateau-Lafite, is
purely coincidental, as the difference in spelling would suggest.) Acquired
by my great-grandfather James, the building had been the private
residence of Queen Hortense, whose son Prince Charles-Louis-Napoleon,
the future Napoleon III, was born there in 1808. James lived in it all his
life, and until it was demolished in 1968, one could still see the room in
which he died, piously preserved in its original state. Throughout the
years, James had added several adjacent buildings to the original edifice, so
that the offices occupied numbers 19, 21 and 23.

All of the activity of the bank centred on what was called ‘the Room’, a
vast rectangular space with five windows overlooking the street. Perpen-
dicular to the wall between each window was a large, high, wide desk, each
one intended for a partner, so that they sat one behind the other.

[t was here that the employees, visitors, informers and brokers gathered
to make their reports to the heads of the bank or to receive instructions.
Although there was always one partner in each generation with more
authority than the others, the organization remained basically collegiate,
and while each partner also had a private office, it was used only for
transacting personal business.

When [ made my début in 1931, the Room was quite lively at the end of
the morning and again after the closing of the Stock Exchange. In James’s
time, however, it had been a scene of continuous chaos and frenzied
activity: streams of people arrived on various missions, trying to get a word
in or to hear one from the impressive and domineering personage who
ruled over the establishment. The father of playwright Georges Feydeau,
who worked at the rue Laffitte during James’s reign, gave a good descrip-
tion of it in his memoirs:

[t was incredible how everything in this immense banking house was ruled with
a rod of iron. What amazing order everywhere! Such willing employees, and so
intelligent! Such submissive sons! Such a sense of hierarchy! Such respect!
. . . I do not think it is possible to find anywhere in the world a bank where
everything is so organized, correct and respectable. The atmosphere is one of
important business and of a solid fortune laboriously acquired; the department
heads are respectable people; the offices are so clean that it is a pleasure to see
them; in short, apart from a few over-eccentric quips, during the fifteen years
I've known the house I've seen nothing that was not entirely honourable,
proper and fitting . . . '
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On the other side of this vast room lay the private apartments,
consisting of a dining room and private offices. Here, the atmosphere was
entirely different. Dark flowered carpets, walls half-covered with wood
panelling and the upper half with green velvet, upholstered corridors, dark
red leather sofas, heavy oaken doors reinforced on the outside by green
felt-covered swinging panels. The 2oth century was an intruder in this
realm of Queen Hortense, Louis Philippe and Napoleon 111, but where the
‘Belle Epoque’ had barely had time to leave its trace.

Nevertheless, Rothschild Fréres was more of a family secretariat than a
working bank. Of course, we maintained (at great expense) a limited
number of personal accounts, and we felt morally obliged to underwrite a
certain portion of each new government loan; but that was the extent of
our banking activities.

This stagnation did not, however, detract from the bank’s reputation,
which was its most important asset. While its panache may have lost its
brilliance, the recognition of its integrity, stability and seriousness
remained intact.

Unlike the London branch, the Paris house had been investing heavily
in industry since 1870: in railways, mining, the production and distribu-
tion of electricity and especially in oil. But here, too, I had to admit that
the bank restricted its efforts to managing its holdings instead of taking
initiatives.

Where oil was concerned, the rue Laffitte followed a picturesque course
that led to some unforeseen results. It seems that my grandfather had been
impressed by the use of petrol lamps and predicted that their use would
become general. He bought oil wells in the Caucasus and entrusted their
management to a small team installed on the top floor of our Paris office.
They were so meticulous that they personally decided on the bonuses or
pay cuts of each worker. Still, the results could not have been too bad,
because at the beginning of 1914, Royal Dutch acquired the company in
exchange for what I was told equalled 10 per cent of its own capital. Three
years later, the Russian revolutionaries confiscated the wells — the
operation was a total loss. Convinced that the Rothschilds had foreseen
events and hoodwinked him, Sir Henry Deterding, the president of Royal
Dutch, never forgave the family as long as he lived. | know that ‘one lends
only to the rich’, as the saying goes, but to attribute the gift of prophecy to
my family was an unrealistic fantasy.

The Rothschild Bank emerged from its torpor only on one occasion, but
it was an occasion of major importance.

After 1931, all of Central Europe went bankrupt, including the Credit
Anstalt in Vienna, of which my cousin Louis de Rothschild was Chair-
man. He had been careless enough to personally underwrite the trans-
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an assistant to whom he entrusted the actual management of the railway
company: René Mayer, a man of impressive authority, ability and height.
[t was he who negotiated the nationalization of the railways with the
Popular Front government in 1937 and succeeded in preserving their
private assets, thus permitting them to survive for a long time as holding
companies. René and | became close friends, especially after the defeat of
France in 1940, and later on when he was in London as a minister of the
Algiers cabinet. After the war, he chose to remain in politics, and was
Prime Minister before assuming the presidency of the European Coal and
Steel Community in 1955. He then gave up public life, returned to the
private sector, and finally accepted my offer to become president of the
Société Le Nickel — of which more later, when on the subject of our
mining investments.

With the impatience of a young man starved of activity, | seized every
opportunity during these pre-war years to learn and to keep busy. I tried my
hand at speculation on the Stock Exchange on a small scale, which proved
to be a useful initiation.

Buried among the minor holdings of the family, I discovered a company
called TEM (Travail Eléctrique des Métaux), which produced electric
batteries. Without actually serving on its board, | became, for all practical
purposes, its boss. The business was not very profitable, but it gave me
good experience in industrial management. TEM belonged to one of those
professional ententes which the government had created in order to limit
the collapse of prices. They were organized and supervised by an arbiter,
who in this particular case was none other than Pierre Pucheu — whom |
was to meet again later in very different circumstances.

People have forgotten how great was the confusion of ideas created by the
Depression. Those responsible for the economy, and especially the
financiers, sought a way to parry the blow, began to question traditional
methods, improvised solutions. Stagnation gave rise to an incredible
proliferation of political and economic theories which even the most
intelligent found incomprehensible. For a while, the rise of Fascism, with
its concept of autarchy seemed to offer a valid solution to the crisis. But the
Spanish Civil War soon exposed the odiousness of this ideology.
Roosevelt’s policy — fighting deflation by a rise in salaries, a budget deficit
and devaluation — seemed shocking and revolutionary to many Ameri-
cans, while in France, a few enlightened minds appreciated the advantages
of his strategy. In 1981, the French Socialist government employed the
same method, but alas, in a situation completely contrary to that of the
United States in 1932. And the results are there for all to see.

In the final analysis, and in the absence of any true science of
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CHAPTER

Allegro Ma Non Troppo

While the bank was gently prolonging the 19th century, France was
resting on her laurels. After the formidable explosion of triumphant joy in
1918, after the miraculous unanimity of the conservative parliamentary
election in 1920, came a time of disillusion.

[ look back upon my years as a young man, that decade between my
twentieth birthday and World War I, as a period during which France
seemed afflicted with paralysis. It wasn't solely due to the Wall Street
crash. In fact, the Depression reached our country several months later
than the other European nations, and even then was less spectacular as our
economy was less dynamic. More than so per cent of the French
population still depended, directly or indirectly, on agriculture; the nation
was therefore less vulnerable to the dramatic effects of an industrial and
commercial crisis which hit the United States and Great Britain much
harder.

Undoubtedly, the million and a half young men killed on the battlefield
were cruelly missed in France: their youth, their dynamism, their pro-
ductivity, their buying power, their enthusiasm. Nothing seemed to
budge, nothing seemed to want to change, nothing seemed possible,
politically or economically. France had become an old country, a country
of old people, whose population for the first time in its history was not
renewing itself. It was a time when someone could maliciously ask, “Why
does France choose such old men to govern her?’ and hear an Englishman
reply, ‘Because she can’t find anyone older!’

What a contrast to the quarter of a century following World War II,
when initiative, development, modernization, industrialization and
growth literally exploded in all directions, anchoring in people’s minds the
idea of continuous progress.

France was old and tired; but [ was twenty years old in 1929 and I felt young
and vigorous!
As I've said, my life of freedom began on the day of my eighteenth
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to choose vacation spots in consideration of the route that led there, and
the prospects of being able to compare one’s car with those of one’s rivals.
This is perhaps why [ selected Le Touquet, where I spent two summers
enjoying the tranquil charm of this large seaside resort so English in style
and manner — and especially enjoyed playing golf with Buzzie and Boy
Scheftel (who won the Boys' Championship that year) and with Charlie
and Bobby Sweeney, who became one of the very best amateur golfers of
the United States and Europe.

Then [ discovered Biarritz. The month of September was the height of
the season. [ was twenty, the age for parties, and Biarritz was one continual
party from morning until early the following morning, in the midst of a
host of Spaniards and South Americans, all very young, passionate,
uninhibited.

Every day at noon, in front of the Hotel du Palais, began the parade of
cars, each as shiny as the next: Rolls Royce, Packard, Bentley,
Duesenberg, Hispano, driven by arrogant young men accompanied by
superb girls with distant, haughty airs. We'd go swimming at the beach
called ‘Chamber of Love’ or at the foot of the ‘Virgin’s Rock’, before
playing golf on the new Chiberta links, with titled, sun-tanned members
of the oldest families of Europe and South America.

As soon as we'd changed out of our golf clothes, there was no question of
going anywhere else than to the Basque Bar, to join the crowd of
aristocrats and adventurers, all thirsting for pleasure, champagne and
conquests. | believe that [ never dined with less than twenty guests, many
of whom re-invited themselves each evening; nor ever neglected the
tradition of winding up the evening at Sheherazade, a restaurant-night-
club in the open country. The entrance was at the end of a drive lined with
valets in formal Russian attire, holding torches that illuminated the warm
night. On the dance floor (if one could reach it) we were among the first to
hear the songs still famous today, such as ‘Ramona’ and ‘Adios muchacho
companero de mi vida', whose melodies still put me in a sentimental
mood.

[ look back on those incomparable days at Biarritz as the gayest, most
carefree and stimulating féte that I have ever known. It was only a fairy-
tale, a magic bubble that burst in 1930, with the worldwide economic
crash. The atmosphere of festivity withdrew like the ocean tide, leaving
Biarritz a family-style beach frequented by what we used to call with the
cruelty of youth ‘a few old biddies with their hen-pecked husbands and
their snivelling kids’.

Cinderella lost her slipper.

At the age of eighteen, passing without transition from the cloistered life
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always wore and because of the saying, ‘an empty stomach has no
ears'!

However, | met a survivor of that species in danger of extinction. She
had lost her youth but retained all of her volubility. Her name was Charlie,
and Charlie, keenly aware of the evolution in her domain, once said to me
with a disillusioned air, ‘You see, my boy, between the society women and
the homosexuals, there’s nothing left for us!’

This impassable barrier between the two feminine worlds — on the one
side, the women of easy virtue with whom one finally hadn’t much in
common, and on the other, the untouchables of one’s own social circle
whom one admired and would like to love — was not very propitious for the
convergence of love and desire. This artificial duality led to the satisfac-
tion of neither one nor the other.

When [ think, with the perspective of half a century, of all that my
independence permitted me to grasp and to enjoy, | am reminded of the
saying, ‘It’s better to feel remorse than regret.’

Our subconscious sometimes has its logic. For me, it devised the fantasy
of marriage as the only circumstance capable of combining all the different
forms of love. | was subjugated by this solution to squaring the circle; it
monopolized my daydreams, guided the directions of my discreet explora-
tions. Despite my availability, the choice was limited, if only because of
the religious requirement. I had to wait for the spark to be set off. It
occurred when | was least expecting it, and in a very different way from
how | had imagined.

Another passion vied with my amatory activities at that time and was the
decisive factor in my weekend and holiday programmes: golf. Where did it
come from?

Throughout my childhood, one of my greatest pleasures had been
horses. I rode as a young man; [ even exercised my father’s racehorses, was
a member of a Hunt, and perfected my equestrian skills during my military
service at Saumur. During adolescence, I'd played tennis with friends my
age while still continuing to play golf, but very badly. For a long time I
alternated these three disciplines more or less successfully.

A few years before my military service, on returning from a summer
vacation with my cousins, ‘the Esmonds, in Scotland, where I'd played a
lot of golf, I suddenly decided to devote myself exclusively to this sport. It
was an instinctive, impulsive decision.

On reflection, my choice was influenced by various factors: I'd finally
made sufficient progress in golf to reach a competitive level; at the same
time, [ saw in it a means of proving my own worth to myself without owing
anything to anybody. There was also the simple pleasure of the sport itself,
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Mont-Agel, under the July sun, remain among the happy moments of my
sporting life.

From then on, my vacations were almost exclusively devoted to golf. In
September, I'd go to the Lacoste’s at Chantaco, near Saint-Jean-de-Luz.
Simone was a childhood friend, and I became very close to René.

In 1948, I won one of the most coveted trophies of the time, the Grand
Prix du Sud-Ouest, which was held at Saint-Jean-de-Luz on the Nivelle
links. We had to play seventy-two holes, four complete rounds of ‘medal
play scratch’, that is to say, without any major disaster. The following year
[ reached the semi-finals of the French amateur championship.

In 1949, | entered the amateur championship of Great Britain, which
was held that year on a magnificent seaside golf course near Dublin. The
training round took place in such a violent storm that we had to lean
against the wind in order to remain on our feet. One can imagine how easy
it was to aim the ball! I got through the first round without any trouble.
During the second round, playing against a dangerous little Scotsman, I
was one up and two to play. I finished with two pars — but my opponent
managed two birdies, and | was eliminated.

Another time, | was selected for the French team playing against Italy in
San Remo. All over the town there were posters announcing in Italian the
‘great match between the dilettante squadrons’. Of course, it meant ‘amateur
teams’ — but | hadn’t yet learned that Italian is a humorous language!

Since I've been involved in horseracing, I've had to give up competitive
golf. But every weekend, no matter what the weather (except, of course,
in case of snow), | play on a course I've built at Ferriéres. All by myself,
trundling my golf cart, I can try all of the experiments I like without
bothering a soul; and I always feel the same joy when | walk onto the
course, the same physical pleasure in hitting ‘a good ball’.

Golf thus absorbs most of my leisure time. After the war, I did try skiing
at Megeéve. At that time there were as yet no téléfériques or ski-lifts. It was
blood and sweat to climb the tracks of soft snow in our sealskins and heavy
laced boots. Having arrived exhausted at the summit, there was nothing
left to do but to glide down the slope during five minutes of inevitably
dangerous descent . . . or fall down, for better or for worse!

In the month of August, Deauville was the place to be, a ‘must’ for the
young smart set. While the casino played only an episodic role at Biarritz,
at Deauville it was the centre of nocturnal life. Biarritz had been
dominated by Spaniards and South Americans; Deauville was cosmopoli-
tan. Some people went there only to gamble, and for high stakes,
especially at the big baccarat table, as opposed to the chemin de fer, where
the sabot is passed around. In baccarat, there is a ‘banker’ who holds all of
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After three easy wins, Brantdme seemed virtually a sure winner of the
Prix du Jockey Club, and he would indeed probably have won that
prestigious three-year-old championship which fate had withheld from the
family since 1911. But bad luck persisted: he started to cough, developed
influenza, and was unable to run in the race.

That autumn, after a victorious return to the racecourse, he avenged
himself with a brilliant victory in the Prix de I'’Arc de Triomphe. During
the winter recess, covered with glory, he rested on his laurels, while a short
film was being shown on the Boulevards, entitled Brantéme, the Invincible
Horse.

As a four-year-old, his spring campaign consisted of one victory after
another. One Sunday in June, his stable-mate Péniche had just won the
Prix de Diane, when Brantome was led onto the racecourse. For some
unknown reason, he took fright, reared up, broke his halter (albeit a new
one), and, to quote a newspaper report ‘he takes off, hell for leather,
through the streets of Chantilly, slides on the pavement, falls, gets up
again, resumes his headlong rush, and finally stops at the end of a dead-end
street’. One can imagine our anxiety. He was only slightly injured,
although he might have killed himself a hundred times over. Alas, the
nervous shock broke his morale: he never won a race again. For the first
time in his life he finished unplaced in the Ascot Gold Cup, then only
fourth in the Arc de Triomphe, behind three fillies he refused to pass.

This was, moreover, the only gallant gesture of his life, for at stud he
didn’t show the slightest interest in the ladies who were presented to him.
To tell the truth, he was ‘in love’ with a grey mare — at least, it was only in
her presence that he became aroused; at the last minute, she’d be replaced
by the mare who was really supposed to be bred to him that day and whose
charms would not have been sufficient to seduce him.

When the Germans plundered the stud farm at Meautry in 1940,
Brantdme was deported — even though he had no Jewish blood. He proved
to be a member of the Resistance at heart, producing nothing worthwhile
for his usurping owners, whereas after the war his stud season at Meautry
resulted in some brilliant offspring. He thus lived happily ever after and
had many children. My father adored him. ‘I am merely a Baron,’ he used
to say, ‘he is a Prince!’ The day he died, a newspaper carried the headline:
‘Brantéme de Rothschild is dead . . . ' and the entire press devoted
articles to the career of ‘the most illustrious champion of the half-century’.

After Deauville, the autumn season in Paris always revolved around the
races, especially on Sundays. Before lunch, it was traditional to have a
drink at the bar of Fouquet’s, the meeting ground of fervent racegoers.
Most often we had lunch there too, in the room upstairs. On Sunday
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What joy to figure among the pioneers who invented different vacations,
discovered the pleasure of sun and sea, of wind and freedom! The Cote
d’Azur was still a dream, sublime countryside not yet disfigured by the
leprosy of traffic, modern buildings and trailers piled up on the beaches.
Saint-Tropez was still an unknown saint, a modest little village with real
fishermen, sparsely inhabited by a few artists following in the wake of
Colette. My father bought a motorboat, a Despujol, in which we used to go
for lunch on the Lérins islands, swim in the open sea, and discover tranquil
little hidden ports on the Cote.

The Aga Khan, a great friend of my parents, owned a villa above Nice.
He loved the company of young people, often invited us, and shared our
golf games on a course that has since become the racecourse. Incredibly
supple despite his legendary weight, he knew how to savour the pleasures
of life.

Sometimes I'd charter a yacht with two or three friends and cruise
around the Mediterranean, along the coast of Spain, the Balearic Islands,
the French and Italian Riviera, as far as Naples and Capri. It was during
one of these cruises, in 1935, wanting to return to France from Valencia,
that | made my first aeroplane trip in a little plane of the Aéropostale, the
famous pioneer French airmail service. Although it had only a single
engine, it made an infernal racket, and the flight was not lacking in
excitement. When we reached the Pyrenées, the pilot had to circle several
times in order to gain the dozens of metres of altitude necessary to cross the
mountains by darting through a pass.

A few years before the war, | had the chance to visit Egypt, Palestine
and the Lebanon. [ was not yet at all interested in Zionism, but Jerusalem
was an overwhelming experience. I'll never forget the deep emotion that
clutched my heart when I found myself in the middle of that biblical
countryside, treading ground so often imagined and suddenly a reality,
engulfed by memories of that Old Story, those golden legends, those
magical tales, perhaps among the most enchanting and poetic that a child
could ever be told. The first fairy-tale, which is never forgotten.

Returning home rather late one night, I found a note from my mother on
my pillow: ‘Terrible tragedy. That charming Alix has just lost her husband
in a train accident.’

Alix Schey de Koromla was descended from an old Hungarian family;
but after the treaties of Saint-Germain-en-Laye and of the Trianon, it had
been ‘nationalized’ Czech, since its property was within the frontiers of the
new nation created by the dismemberment of the Austro-Hungarian
empire. Through her mother, née Goldsmith-Rothschild, she was related

to a branch of my own family. She had married a German businessman,
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young boys and girls with Slav charm whom [ was to meet again after the
war, fugitives from the Soviet occupation, totally destitute, but who
succeeded in remaking their lives in France. The ruin and then the
dismantling of Kovecses after the war grieved me not only because of the
beauty and charm of the site, but because Alix had left the happy
memories of her childhood there.

We were married on 30 December 1937. The civil ceremony at the
Town Hall of the 1st Arrondissement just missed turning into a comedy.
The mayor’s speech was studded with gems that had to be censored: he'd
intended to say to Alix, ‘Madame, this is a golden moment for you!” But
above all, in his efforts to find a kind word for each of the relatives come
from such distant lands, he lost all sense of geography, paying compliments
to the Hungarians which should have been addressed to the Czechs, and
vice versa. Fortunately, | was able to read his speech before he pronounced
it; otherwise, one after the other, everybody would probably have walked
out before the ceremony was over.

The religious rites were held at Ferriéres. The houpe, a dais surmounted
by a cupola under which the Jewish wedding ceremony is performed, had
been covered with pink carnations and was set up in the centre of the large
white drawing room. While Alix and I moved forward, Grisha Piatigorsky,
my brand-new brother-in-law (he'd married my sister that same year), in
top hat and tails, drew from his cello tones of joy that moved one to tears.

[t was a ‘small chateau ceremony’ followed by a luncheon for intimate
friends. This privacy was in no way due to the political situation, but to the
fact that the etiquette of the day imposed a certain discretion on a man
who married a widow.

Among the messages of congratulation, there was a telegram from Frank
Goldsmith, Jimmy's father and Clio’s grandfather: ‘Bravo for the most
intelligent thing you've ever done’ — which my father mischievously
amended to: ‘the only intelligent thing . . .’

And so everyone joined in their approval of my marriage to this woman
of proven intelligence, refinement and virtue, who had experienced the
Jewish problems, knew England and America, spoke English and French.

And we sailed on the Queen Mary for a honeymoon in America.

Alix was a mixture of contradictory characteristics. She was sharp-witted,
but would get bogged down in trying to solve the administrative problems
inherited from her past, lost between a typewriter and a mountain of
papers. She loved the arts and literature, but her hobby was geology; she
never travelled without a little hammer which she used for testing all the
stones we happened to come across.

Haunted by the fate of her parents and friends who were still in
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avenues of huge thuyas, which joined together to form a bower. Walking
beneath it, one had the impression of being in the middle of a cathedral
made of greenery. At the end of the thuyas, the canal, which was fed by a
spring, became a rivulet that cascaded down and finally emptied into the
moat surrounding the chateau, which was built on a kind of platform
reached by crossing two lovely stone bridges.

The chateau itself, a simple structure built around a tower, had
unfortunately been disfigured by extensions added at the end of the last
century. A few years later, we had them demolished in order to return the
chiteau to its original aspect.

Next to the Portuguese laurel groves adjacent to the cider-press, there
was a chapel which Alix restored and decorated with modern stained-glass
windows, and where she used to give little concerts for her friends.

Reux inspired the architect and gardener that were dormant in me with
a thousand ideas and projects. Today, all the buildings have been restored,
the trees are full grown, the stud farm modernized, and Reux is the country
home of my son David, his wife and their three children.

Lili, Alix's daughter, very soon became like a daughter of my own, my
first-born child, long before becoming a big sister to David, who was born
in 1942. An easy child with a happy nature, she was a naturally good
student. In America during the war, she went to Brearley, a private girls’
school in New York, which she very much enjoyed. Once, however, at the
annual ball organized by the students’ parents, Lili felt terribly hurt to be
excluded from the party because she was Jewish. Alix, not knowing how to
console her, promised her revenge, assuring her that she would one day be
the only girl in the school to be invited to a party for Princess Elizabeth,
the future Queen of England. Sometimes the rash promises we make to
children are actually kept! After we all returned to Paris, Lili was indeed
presented to Princess Elizabeth, and must have considered it a perfectly
natural event.

How can [ speak of Alix and Lili without mentioning the faithful Lilah?
The daughter of an Austrian and an English woman, she was the nanny of
Alix and her sister Minka, then of Lili, and then of David! While her age
now prevents her from looking after David’s children, she still lives with
the family, a fully-fledged member of it and adored by all.

The convergence of sentiments between Alix and myself, the circum-
stances that had determined our marriage, had obscured the differences of
character and behaviour which would lead, much later, to our separation.
Already in 1937, with the shadow cast by Hitler over Europe, our world
seemed to be coming to an end and the instinct for survival encouraged
people to seek emotional security before the storm broke. Basically, we
were not made for one another, but we discovered it only later. Alix was
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tarily involved in these events, not only because of the nationalizations —
the railways, as has been seen, was a venture that had attracted the
Rothschilds from the start — but especially because of the famous slogan of
the ‘Two Hundred Families’, which designated us as ‘scapegoats’. The
word is all the more apt in that the leadership of Léon Blum exacerbated
the anti-semitism of a certain element in the right wing.

The slogan of the ‘Two Hundred Families’ seemed justified by a
peculiarity in the statutes of the Bank of France (which had not yet been
nationalized): only the two hundred most important stockholders had the
right to vote at the Annual Meeting. Although their vote gave them no
special power, the left-wing propagandists lit upon this detail to convince
public opinion that the fate of the nation was in the hands of its two
hundred richest citizens. Moreover, my father, as you know, was also a
director of the Bank of France. Blum and Rothschild — it certainly looked
as if France was controlled by the Jews! This is not the place to reopen the
eternal debate in which partisans and adversaries toss back and forth the
social reforms and the economic results of the Popular Front. I'd simply
like to stress the importance, to my mind primordial, that it assumed in the
collective subconscious of the French population, which was more than
ever divided into two hostile camps: an importance which largely explains
the behaviour of both factions in the face of escalating danger, and
especially during the Occupation.

On the one hand, the bourgeoisie experienced one of the most
frightening moments of its history. The general strike, the sit-down strikes
in factories, unheard-of till then, seemed to presage a veritable revolution;
and its power as well as its future seemed to be at stake. This fear
engendered a bitterness and aggression in the monied classes that turned
them against the leftist parties in general, Léon Blum and the Jews in
particular, all tossed into the same basket and accused of being conscious
or unconscious servitors of the Communist Devil.

This great fear felt by the ‘well-intentioned’ conservatives also affected
the middle classes, as the shadow of Hitler began to eclipse all of Europe.
Since, in the eyes of the most panic-stricken, it was the parliamentary
system, decadent and rotten to the core, that was leading the country
towards revolution, one began to hear the famous slogan: ‘Rather Mus-
solini or even Hitler, than Stalin!’ (And many who dared not express it
aloud, believed it in their hearts.) Already anti-semitism mingled with the
deep dregs of French xenophobia to reject the fugitives from Hitler’s
Germany who sought refuge in France.

When war broke out, everyone undoubtedly fulfilled his patriotic duty.
But the ‘Sacred Union’ of 1914 survived only superficially; in general, the
bourgeoisie retained at heart an ill-extinguished distrust toward the
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her car. When we arrived the following evening, the mobilization
numbers had already been posted, mine among them. The next morning |
joined up, and a few days later war was declared.

There are war stories galore in books, in films and on television, depicting
warfare in Vietnam, in Europe, in the Middle East; battles on land, on sea
and in the air, prisoners of war, escapes, heroic deeds, death, treachery,
lucky survivals, and countless other situations, plots, places and times all
over the world and throughout history. Why add my little tale to all of
this? The story of ‘my war’ is very similar to that of many of my
compatriots, with the exception of a few unusual incidents; and yet I feel
compelled to give an account of those five years because they turned out to
be in many ways a dominant experience and a determining factor in my
life.

In the first place, the young man [ was then (I was thirty) who had led a
life of leisure with every possible facility and protection, although too
serious by nature to be a playboy, was plunged overnight into a totally
opposite life: a life of ruthless danger, chaos, unpredictability, with no
protection other than one’s own wits, fortitude and good luck. Above all,
it was a revolutionary experience involving political judgement, posing
moral dilemmas; being separated from one’s home, one’s country, one’s
civilization, one’s past, one’s loyalties, one’s affections . . . and being
thrown into a strange, unreal world of adventure, heading nowhere, cut
off from all previous ties and roots. The same war was quite a different
battle for an American, whose home was unscathed and unthreatened, or
for an Englishman, fighting for the survival of his country, than it was fora
continental European who had lost his country and didn’t know if he
would ever return to it; it was a different problem in a different context
that created different anxieties.

When [ joined my regiment at the end of August 1939, | was a full
cavalry lieutenant, but our horses had been replaced by half-tracks and
motorcycles. I was put in charge of a platoon of requisitioned side-cars of
all types and makes, which tended to set off with a lurch and a loud bang
and then stall. In not much more than a week, an entire division had been
assembled, equipped, armed and sent on its way. It was called the 3rd Light
Mechanized Division, and was composed of an armoured brigade, a few
tanks, some artillery and two regiments of dragoons to which I belonged.
These units, although motorized, were called upon to fulfil typical cavalry
missions: moving far and fast, prepared for sudden engagements on wide
fronts until reinforcements could come up and take over on a large scale.

Our first move took us to a bleak agricultural village in open farmland
halfway to Belgium. There we started training, which meant learning and
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Paris seemed very much its usual self: gay, carefree, seething with
rumour and intrigue, happy, amusing and most un-warlike. After the long
winter came the spring, and [ got a short leave which I spent with my
family on the Riviera. Clearly, we were further and further away from real
war.

On 10 May, | was awakened by explosions, shouting, and in a minute
realized that ‘This is it. We're in it.” The order came at once. We packed,
lined up in a column, and finally got under way in the early afternoon. One
of my men, sitting in a half-track, became hysterical; a senior officer
advised me to take no notice but to keep him where he was lest his reaction
become contagious. After an hour or two we crossed into Belgium. The
customs-house was deserted, but soon afterwards we went through a village
that had just been bombed, and | saw a man carrying a little boy covered
with blood and plaster. I exchanged a grim glance with the liaison
motorcyclist next to my car. Our drive was finally uneventful, and we were
ordered to set up for the night in a forest.

[t might be useful at this point for me to summarize briefly the overall
French strategy and the way the Germans countered it, in order to
understand the unforeseen events which affected the First Army group to
which my division belonged.

The French General Headquarters (GHQ)) believed that our fortified
Maginot Line protected us on the east, and assigned only the minimum
troops required to man the defences. To the north was the river Meuse,
surrounded by the thickly wooded Ardennes, an area considered unsuited
to extensive military operations, so that the troops disposed there were
neither very numerous nor were they the best. Further to the north, there
were no defences along the Belgian border; it was therefore in this
vulnerable area that the French Generals posted the majority of the Army
and the élite of their forces.

On 10 May 1940, as predicted, Germany attacked Belgium, and the
First Army group was rushed north to stop them. But ten Panzer divisions,
led by Rommel and Guderian, under massive air support, attacked through
the Ardennes near Sedan, where they were opposed by the weakest
elements of the French army. Having opened a breach, German armour
headed south towards Paris for a few days, then veered north again to thus
encircle the Anglo-French army, the bulk of our forces. From then on, the
faster-moving Germans were always one or more steps ahead, and the
Anglo-French army, facing south and east instead of north, remained
consolidated but was pushed towards the sea until the improvised evacua-
tion at Dunkirk.

Ever since the morning of 10 May I had felt the excitement, even the
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words of German that Alix had taught me if he belonged to the Storm
Troopers, he nearly collapsed with fright at the very thought. As the flow
of refugees diminished, a rather too well-dressed Belgian staff officer
sauntered up and asked me what the situation was. He seemed suspicious
to me — there had been so much talk about a Fifth Column - and I
brusquely sent him away.

Night followed day and still no sign of the enemy. We held our
positions, which meant practically no sleep — it was getting to be a habit.
At dawn, some of my men imagined that the haystacks in the adjacent
fields were moving, and that they must conceal German soldiers ready to
make a sneak attack on us. But it was only nerves. Later in the day we
heard a lot of gunfire and I received a written message from Battalion HQ
informing me that the company on my left was heavily engaged. This left
me very puzzled because, as hard as | tried to remember everything I'd
been taught during my military training, | had no idea of what action, if
any, | should take. So I did nothing but send a warning on to my extreme
left unit, and as it turned out, it was the right thing to do. A little later
the order came to move back a few miles; I was lucky to have my
motorcyclists to get through to my platoons and deliver the message. As
we joined up behind a village in the rear, I heard violent explosions
which got closer as we reached the village itself. It was only then that I
realized it was our own artillery firing. Never before had | heard the
sound; it was a new and comforting experience. As all the components of
my company got together, machine-gun fire broke out at both ends of the
main street; but since we moved on, | never did learn who was involved
in the shooting.

After all these years, I cannot give a detailed account of our various
moves during the next ten days, nor would it be of any interest. The
general picture, however, was harrowing. From a purely military view-
point, I can understand that our highly mobile division was continually
being used to plug gaps in the general retreat, and to exert a delaying
action for the benefit of slower-moving troops. The Germans had broken
through our lines 100 miles to the south, and they had moved up towards
the sea, so that we were encircled and continually harassed by the enemy’s
efforts to close in on us. Everything was happening so fast; hardly had we
taken up a position than we were ordered to move elsewhere. In one
instance, we were facing a canal and were told it would be a last-ditch
defence, and that all of us would probably be killed by noon. The day
passed, however, in complete peace, and that evening we were off again.
We generally moved at night because of enemy air activity, holding static
positions during the daylight hours.

It seems incredible today that our only means of communication was by
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were called from a nearby hamlet and had attended to the mother and
child.

A far less dramatic incident occurred later, when | was nearing Paris on
my way back from Dunkirk and England. Amid the stream of refugees, I
noticed a middle-aged couple, the man carrying a cello in its case. They
needed petrol for their car. I couldn’t resist telling him that I was
Piatigorsky's brother-in-law, and I found a way of helping him out. He
could not have been more astounded than if Zeus and Moses had appeared
out of a cloud, hand in hand, to offer him a jerrycan!

As I've said, our brains were dulled from lack of sleep, and our nerves
consequently on edge. The enemy air force reigned unchallenged in the
sky, which added to the uncanniness. Whenever bombers flew overhead,
especially at night, we feared, inexperienced as we were, that they knew
we were there and were about to dive down and kill us. Since we lived in
constant fear of Fifth Column treason, any light however distant was
assumed to be an enemy signal, which only added to our worries.
Moreover, if a vehicle broke down and couldn’t be repaired at once, the
passengers who didn’t immediately jump into the following vehicle were
lost and eventually captured, just as anyone who went astray for one reason
or another was lost forever.

In such chaotic conditions, nobody ever knew why he was there, where
he was going next, for what purpose or for how long. We were never
informed of the general situation, nor of what our commanders were trying
to achieve. | remember that, having taken a position along yet another
canal with my platoons widely dispersed, | received a message saying that
the men were terrified of getting lost and wanted to be reassured by my
presence that | was looking after them. Another element added to the
gloom of the atmosphere: most of the cows had been abandoned in the
fields by their fleeing owners, and were therefore unmilked. Those
unfortunate beasts suffered agony and moaned continually, creating a
nerve-wracking and mournful background to our plight.

Lest the reader think that the battle of Northern France was nothing but
one huge traffic snarl, [ will relate two incidents.

One night, we were in a wood and Battalion HQQ was a mile or two away
in a hamlet of half a dozen houses. Towards midnight, I heard machine-
gun fire, which was most unusual, and received a message ordering me to
proceed to headquarters. There [ found that the Germans had infiltrated
our position, seriously wounding our commander, a Major, and killing the
men around him, before quickly withdrawing. And then, once more, we
were ordered to move on.

The other incident proved fatal to many of us. On the morning of 26
May, we were taken to a town called Carvin and informed that the







92 The Whims of Fortune

streets, and could see that it was obviously impossible to fight the enemy
out of the village, with so little means at our disposal. So, together with my
fellow officer, we decided to return to Carvin and succeeded in doing so,
under constant fire. From my original squadron, there remained only
thirty-five men. [ was told by the trusted NCO whom I'd left in charge of
the rear that nobody had fled during the attack, the missing had all been
either wounded or killed.

Back on the outskirts of Carvin, | managed to contact the Regimental
HQ, made my dire report and requested instructions. When I put my hand
in the pocket of the trenchcoat | was wearing, I pulled out a piece of
shrapnel two or three inches long. How it got there without injuring me
or even damaging the coat, remains one of the minor mysteries of World
War II.

At dusk, the sky turned black and a violent thunderstorm erupted;
haystacks in the open field were struck by lightning and went up in flames.
[t seemed like the beginning of the end of the world, as the Germans in the
distance started to close in. At this point, a young doctor I'd met once
before arrived from Regimental HQ and told me he had orders to go into
the field and attend to the wounded. I had to forbid him to do any such
thing, as it meant certain death for him and no relief for the wounded. He
left — and after the war he gave me a book with the inscription: ‘“To Guy de
Rothschild, to whom I owe my life’. He was the famous French Commu-
nist author, Louis Aragon.

At last, orders came to join the regiment elsewhere. Our action had
delayed the enemy for a day.

Carvin was my first close contact with death. Those who say that there
are two things nobody can face directly: sun and death — must be wrong,
because | was awarded the Croix de Guerre with palm a short while later.

In fact, Carvin was a sad episode typical of the entire campaign: courage,
losses, initial advance, lack of means to pursue it and, finally, retreat.

One day while | was walking alone along a canal in the late afternoon in
order to contact the neighbouring company, | heard an engine roar and a
plane came into sight at tree-top level. I could distinctly make out the
_ swastika, as it flew only a few yards above my head. It banked, and I
presumed that the greedy pilot wanted one more item for his score of the
day. I hardly had time to throw myself into a shallow ditch, when I was
sprayed by a blast of machine-gun fire which hit just in front of me and just
behind. [ was furious, and thumbed my nose at my personal enemy, who by
then had disappeared. A second later, the peaceful beauty of the spring
twilight made this fleeting encounter seem meaningless and unreal.

At the start of the campaign, my battalion had included twenty-seven
officers; but after the Carvin episode, only three of us remained, all the
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ranks, but if the officers in a unit are real leaders who show no fear (even
though they may feel it), discipline remains intact.

On 1 June, we finally marched down to the ships, which ranged from
destroyers to tiny private pleasure boats. On all of them the skipper was
bellowing at us to hurry aboard any vessel, but quickly, since the air
bombardment had resumed. I chose an old destroyer; there were hundreds
of us crowded together on the deck. During the Channel crossing, a
German bomber came up from behind and I could clearly see the black
belly of the bomb that hurtled towards me — and fell in the water alongside.
As our anti-aircraft gun fired shell after shell, I held my injured nose,
which throbbed with every bang. On that particular day, three destroyers
were sunk by enemy bombs, and the loss of planes, men and matériel was
the heaviest of the entire Dunkirk evacuation.

We landed at Dover and joined a long queue that wound all the way
through the maritime station used in happier days for the Golden Arrow
boat train between London and Paris. At one point, each man was given a
bun and a postcard, after which they had to find their way back to their
respective units. Seized by a sudden inspiration, I left the queue to look for
the station post office; it was open, and | sent a telegram to my wife in
Normandy, telling her of my safe landing in England. Incredible as it may
seem, with the German Army near to Rouen, the cable was delivered —
which only goes to prove that when everything is falling apart in a
shambles, trivial routine continues to the very end.

The English scene at that time was totally different from the one we'd left
behind: young people were playing cricket and golf or peacefully lounging
about on lawns; everyone seemed carefree and relaxed. Their only
acknowledgement of the war was in cheering the trainloads of evacuees as
if they were returning heroes. It was rather frightening to see such lack of
understanding of a tragic situation.

We were given no respite, but herded into a train for Plymouth, where a
troop transport was waiting to take us to Brest. We slept on deck during the
voyage, but the nervous strain of the past weeks had been so great that
most of the men woke up screaming in the night, dreaming that they had
been taken prisoner. From Brest, we were sent to Evreux in Normandy,
and then to the Chevreuse Valley, ten miles west of Paris, where we were
equipped with men and matériel and a new regiment was formed.

After the defeat, the Vichy government made much of the allegedly
inadequate English military effort; the British had sent ten divisions to
France, compared to sixty in World War I. The truth is that they were
even less prepared for war than we were. Some people were also irritated by
the priority given to the British during the Dunkirk evacuation, but this
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the radio Pétain’s bleating voice announce the Armistice, to take effect at
midnight. We somehow managed to contact Division Headquarters to ask
for transport in order to rejoin our forces. By midnight large trucks arrived;
we boarded them and set off, headlights blazing, because there was no risk
now.

[ was sitting next to the driver of the leading vehicle. Undoubtedly
exhausted by many sleepless nights, he must have dozed off at the wheel,
because he failed to take a turn on the winding forest road, and we
overturned in the forest. All the men behind me were seriously wounded;
one was dead. With the help of the others, we buried the unlucky casualty,
loaded the rest in the remaining transport, and arrived at Division HQ at
about 5 a.m. To the great credit of the medical corps, all of the wounded
were attended to there and then, including casting broken shoulders and
administering morphine.

At about 6 a.m., the doctor and his assistant — who was none other than
my friend Louis Aragon — took me to their room and gave me a veritable
political lecture about what Laval meant in the Pétain government, what
policy of collaboration would be pursued, what would be the fate of the
Jews, and so forth. Thanks to them, [ was fully alerted to every ensuing
development, and fully aware of what to expect and what to fear. Looking
back, this impromptu lesson seems to me a remarkable demonstration of
political knowledge and insight.

After which, dead tired, I fell asleep on the floor.

Thus ended the first phase of the war, after several months of stagnation
and forty-five days of blitzkrieg. France was defeated, and it was the worst
defeat of her long history. The country was invaded, at first partly and later
entirely occupied by an enemy who controlled all of its administrative and
political activities, deflected towards its own war effort the output of
French industry and agriculture, left the population unheated in winter,
grossly underfed all year round, with virtually no motor transport and
nearly two million able-bodied men held prisoner.

The reasons for the collapse were above all military, and have since
been analysed very thoroughly. It was partly due to obsolete strategic and
tactical planning, partly to a poor choice of armaments, partly to
production delays, partly to inept utilization of existing means in men and
matériel. For example, we had a very large number of excellent tanks, but
they were dispersed all over the country instead of being used in large
formations. De Gaulle’s teachings had gone unheeded. Similar errors were
made with our Air Force. Furthermore, during the last years of the Third
Republic, Parliament constantly overruled the government, so that
appointments such as Chief of Staff had to be approved by the political
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Industry had created an urban population of workers, foremen and
managers, but this group was only a minority in France, and its thinking
and philosophy were still foreign to the Establishment, which basically
considered the country as a nation of small land-owners, farmers and
peasants on the one hand, and of civil servants and soldiers on the other,
just as in the early 19th century.

At the time of total military defeat, men such as Pétain and Weygand,
who were as anti-German as anybody, could not see any sense in
continuing the combat from outside France. In their instinctive, down-to-
earth view of France, there was nothing left to defend once the country
had been overrun, since the sole purpose of all the wars of the previous
millennium had been to prevent that very catastrophe. To those who
could not foresee the formidable potential of the Anglo-American
alliance, it seemed wishful thinking to imagine that a continental country
like Germany could one day be defeated by outside military forces.
Napoleon had not been defeated by England alone, but by a coalition with
continental Europeans. Only Russia remained, but it had betrayed us a few
months earlier. Old-fashioned French officers could not visualize global
planetary war.

I’m afraid that some of our nuclear thinking today is based on a similar
philosophy, that is, to defend France and make its territory a sanctuary. As
if this would be of any use, with the rest of Europe destroyed or enslaved!

Historians will long debate the question of whether or not the 1940
Armistice finally served a useful purpose, and whether or not the fate of the
country would have been much worse if the fleet and the remaining Air
Force had been sent to a territory under Vichy French control, but beyond
Hitler’s reach, or even if it had joined the British forces.

At the time, as bewildered and shocked as everybody else, I didn’t even
question the justifications for the Armistice nor was [ aware of the high-
level discussions that preceded it. I think, however, that had I been asked
at the time, [ would have reluctantly approved, if only because it spared so
many soldiers from capture, gave so many citizens time to hide or to
escape. Swept away as we were by an irresistible cyclone and immersed in
the flood of defeat, we needed at least a little respite in order to catch our
breath and to muster our courage.
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sight of all those military officers, still rather arrogant and pretentious, in
spite of the defeat. Even if I'd been able to forget what Aragon had told me,
[ had the feeling from the very beginning that Vichy was something
foreign and hostile.

All vanquished nations tend to see the hand of God in their misery and
envisage their salvation only through redemption, with an implication of
virtuous, spartan behaviour. For many people, the devil in the allegory was
obviously personified by the Popular Front and the ‘corrupt’ left-wing
parties. The punishment of God was due not only to the former govern-
ment leaders, but also to all who had voted for them and thus shared their
guilt. Pétain and his administration seemed to be the instrument of this
divine vengeance, which would deliver the nation not only from the
danger of Communism, but also from foreign influence — in particular,
from that of the Jews. Mortification, submission to an irreproachable
leader, were the almost religious themes which struck a cord in the hearts
of all.

[ would have been justified in joining the swelling wave of criticism
against the Popular Front. It had, after all, attacked my family, listing it
among the first of the famous Two Hundred Families as class enemies,
along with many others; it had nationalized the Bank of France, of which
my father was a director, as well as the railways belonging to the network of
the Compagnie du Nord. But nothing in this world is ever all black or all
white, and [ refused to consider Blum, Daladier or Reynaud responsible for
our present misfortunes.

[ didn’t hear de Gaulle’s famous radio broadcast from London on 18
June, and nobody around me spoke of it. However, towards the end of
July, the rumour spread that de Gaulle had appealed to all French citizens
to refrain from going out in the streets between noon and one o’clock on a
certain day, as a sign of passive resistance. | happened to be in Aix-en-
Provence at the time, and | made a point of staying indoors during that
hour, feeling something akin to pride in accomplishing this symbolic
gesture — not allegiance to de Gaulle, but at least a manifestation of moral
resistance.

Demobilized at last, I learned that my cousins Alain and Elie were
prisoners in Germany.

[ then embarked on an interminable roundabout journey to reach La
Bourboule, near Clermont-Ferrand, passing through Limoges and Auch,
where [ stayed with an officer friend; I had to take five or six different trains
before I reached my destination.

The bank was already installed in La Bourboule, with one or two
members of the family, most of the staff, its books and accounts.
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in and the office, which was installed in a former hotel. It was fairly
pleasant, but not at all convenient.

Some members of the family and a few close friends who had reached the
Free Zone sought refuge with us — among them Frangois de Castellane, an
officer of my battalion, and his wife. We lived like survivors from a
shipwreck, in a gay and almost carefree intimacy, still blind enough to
enjoy idle pleasantry. When the weather wasn’t too awful, we’d go on long
bicycle rides on the mountain roads. The traffic was practically non-
existent; the only vehicles still running were a few charcoal-fuelled ones.
We tried some skiing, but the only possible slope, no more than 200 yards
long, was hardly worth the trouble. Nevertheless, we enjoyed this
collective way of life. The slightest visitor was reason for a party, and
throughout these months [ was never bored or depressed. A message from
Paris, a letter or telegram from America, were great events. In this isolated
spot, the war seemed unreal; we felt far removed from Vichy. Only once,
while I was telephoning, did | have the impression of the wires being
tapped. I lost my temper, cursed that filthy Fifth Column and its
anonymous spy — who, probably offended, must have hung up, because the
line suddenly became clear again.

‘Messieurs Edouard, Robert, Henri de Rothschild deprived of their French
nationality!’

One morning, casually unfolding the newspaper (the news was censored
and there was nothing of interest in it), | was stunned to see the name of
my family in the headline of the front page. I couldn’t believe my eyes; |
trembled with rage. Those puppets who enjoyed the defeat as an excuse for
punishing France, dared to condemn to ‘national indignity’ my aged
parents, perfect victims, irreproachable patriots. The pretext was both
hypocritical and cowardly: they had abandoned French soil. What a pitiful
joke! They were too old to be of any useful service to the nation, and they
refused to volunteer for cremation. After all, I too, along with a certain
number of others, had ‘abandoned French soil’ — via Dunkirk! The
denunciation of Henri de Rothschild was so scandalous as to be almost
comical. A resident of Portugal for many years, he had indeed left France;
coming from Belgium, where the war had caught him unawares, he was on
his way home! '

This decree, which deprived them of their citizenship, struck them off
the list of the Légion d’honneur and confiscated their possessions, was also
applied to a small, selected number of people who had left the country
during actual warfare. It had been inspired by Alibert, the Minister of
Justice in the first Pétain cabinet. Apart from his intention to strike a blow
at the politicians who had embarked on the ‘Massilia’ in hopes of pursuing
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find a means of communicating with the Occupied Zone, how to obtain
news of prisoners; everything that didn’t affect one’s daily life seemed of
secondary importance. This withdrawal within themselves may have
enabled people momentarily to forget the tragic situation of our country,
but at the same time, nobody was particularly preoccupied any more by the
fate of his neighbours. Today, one is struck by the fact that the French in
the Free Zone hardly reacted at all to the horrible conditions imposed on
the internees — Spanish Republicans, foreign Jews — in the Gurs camp.
Vichy was terribly guilty, but one must admit that there were also many
French Jews who closed their eyes and preferred to ignore the question. I
still believe that the heart of the nation was not anti-semitic. The French
were certainly as xenophobic as ever, and the recent immigration of Jewish
refugees from Central Europe was not likely to soften their hearts. Some
people in the Occupied Zone even took advantage of the situation to
denounce personal enemies or competitors under the cover of ‘official’
good conscience.

Of course, anti-semitism was more pronounced in certain social classes
than in others: I'm thinking in particular of the medical field. The French,
like many other people, didn’t care to know what might upset them too
much. But many of them helped or hid Jews, which was not the case in
Germany, even before the Gestapo had established its reign of terror.

In any case, this law remains one of the most shameful episodes in the
history of our country.

One month later, Alix decided to return to France, despite the Statute of
Jews, despite the decrees against my parents. | hesitated for a long time
before giving her the green light, fearing that she might be walking into a
trap. It was an act of courage on her part, for she thus accepted risks whose
dire consequences she knew better than anyone.

I went to meet her near the Spanish frontier, and realized immediately
that in her mind the French had become merely a cover for the Germans,
therefore enemies. She didn’t understand how I could continue to ‘cling to
my illusions’, why I didn’t realize how desperate the situation had become.
Two incidents during our return trip happily proved the validity of my
attitude.

First, we were stopped by a gendarme who asked for the car registration
papers and my driver’s licence. At that time, one could expect no good to
come from such an encounter, and we watched anxiously as the officer
inspected our papers. Then he said: ‘It is a great honour to meet a member
of such a famous and respected family . . .’ Our nervousness was suddenly
transformed into broad smiles.

A few hours later the same day, we stopped for lunch in a small







106 The Whims of Fortune

idleness of this resort life began to depress me. [ was impatient to find some
activity again, whatever it might be.

La Bourboule is important to me for another reason: it was there that I
assumed responsibility for the bank and for the family. In the general
confusion of defeat, the difficulties were enormous. Under the new law,
my father was deprived of all he owned. The agency in charge of
government property was appointed to prepare inventories of the family
assets and to place them in sequestration until they could be sold for the
benefit of the Secours National.

The purpose of my first visit to Vichy was to see one of the officials
responsible and persuade him not to ruin all the families whose sole
income was the pension that my father, uncles or the bank benevolently
paid them. He finally agreed to maintain these commitments out of the
confiscated assets.

Most of the real estate my family owned was in the Occupied Zone and
was seized by the Germans, who refused the French authorities so much as
the right of inspection. The rue Saint-Florentin was occupied by the
Germans, as was my house on the Avenue Foch and the one belonging to
my sister. Ferriéres became a rest home for German troops, who so
appreciated the comfort they found there that they tried to avoid
attracting attention by exercising restraint in their depradations. All the
objets d'art and the finest paintings of the family collection, in Paris as well
as in the chateau, were shipped to Germany, undoubtedly on Goering's
orders who wanted them for himself.

My parents unwittingly aided the Germans: worried by the increasingly
certain prospect of war, they'd taken the precaution of having the best
pieces of what had for long been called ‘The Rothschild Collection’,
acquired mostly by my grandfather Alphonse, carefully packed in order to
store them in a safe place during the bombardments.

The collection fortunately remained intact, and in 1945 the Allied
missions composed of specialists from American and French museums
finally discovered them in the depths of a German salt mine.

As for the horses deported to enrich the German stud farms, most of
them were able to be traced thanks to their identity documents — thanks
too, it should be added, to the denunciations by Germans who hoped to
make a good impression on the Allies. Betrayal was not a monopoly of the
French.

Our property located in the Free Zone was confiscated by the Vichy
government. Thus, the villa my parents owned in Cannes was ‘purchased’
by the city.

But the principal assets were the bank and the financial holdings. Only







108 The Whims of Fortune

could ever be occupied, nor that I could ever find myself in the slightest
danger in France. To his mind, returning to combat was merely a pretty
phrase, a cheap price for moral comfort, and he too wasn't far from
thinking that to leave France was the equivalent of going over to the
enemy camp.

My dilemma still astonishes me. How could I have, through scruples,
become so ensnared in false problems? Perhaps because it was such a short
time since I'd been entitled to make decisions, at the office as well as in my
private life! | hadn’t yet learned that, between two possible solutions, one
can only choose the least bad; that one should never expect unanimous
agreement; that after hearing everybody, one must listen only to oneself.

Alix and I hesitated for a while, but our doubts eventually simply faded
away . . .

Having made our decision, we still had to implement it. In order to
leave France, we needed papers as well as an American visa. This last
formality was the only simple one, thanks to my parents’ friendship with
Mrs Roosevelt. With the French authorities, it was another kettle of fish!
No man of age to bear arms was permitted to leave the country. But I soon
learned that in the case of Jews, those undesirable citizens, it wasn’t
difficult to obtain a derogation. However, my name was too symbolic, and
Admiral Darlan was afraid of being criticized by the Germans if he let me
leave. (I learned this detail later from my friend Miguel Angel Carcano,
Argentine Ambassador to France.)

At this point, we found an opportunity to go to Morocco, where my
family had some business interests. In the spring of 1941, Alix and I
embarked for Casablanca. We'd been told that the armistice commission
there was headed by a German civilian, a diplomat by the name of Auer,
whom Alix and her first husband had known before the war. She
remembered that he’'d expressed anti-Nazi ideas, that he was very
outspoken, no doubt to show how well-informed he was. We agreed that if
we happened to meet, we'd try to pump information from him. As luck
would have it, we ran into him as we arrived at the hotel, and he invited us
to have a drink at his apartment.

He was just back from Berlin, where he’d heard a persistent rumour: on
22 June, Germany was going to attack Russia. The very next morning, I
passed on to the young American consul what must have been one of the
most important pieces of information of the war. Nobody paid any
attention to it; it may, in fact, have been too late. Someone told me that
after the war Robert Murphy, who was then Resident Minister in North
Africa, requested an investigation into the reason for this apparent
negligence. In any case, on 22 June, Alix and [ were amazed and overjoyed
to hear the radio confirm this sensational news.
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The policy of the American government did nothing to clarify the
situation. It maintained unbroken relations with the Vichy régime, to
which it delegated Admiral Leahy, a most respectable and esteemed
personage. The objective was obvious: to do everything possible to limit
the effective participation of France in the German war effort, and above
all to prevent her fleet from being utilized by the enemy. While it was only
too evident, though hard to accept, the fact was that Roosevelt and the
State Department were hostile to de Gaulle. The tension between the two
men reached a climax when Admiral Muselier occupied the North
Atlantic islands of Saint-Pierre-et-Miquelin in the name of the Free
French: obviously, Admiral Leahy had promised Pétain that French
territory in the American hemisphere would be respected, hoping to
dissuade him from further collaboration with the Germans. As logical and
realistic as this policy would seem to be, it was, however, becoming
impossible to disregard the emotional element in the conflict between the
followers and opponents of Gaullism.

Furthermore, Roosevelt and de Gaulle were completely opposite in
temperament. The former, proud and conscious of his role as leader of a
powerful nation, was quite incapable of understanding the General, as
proud as himself, who remained intransigent, even without any forces to
back him up. Each was right from his own point of view: Roosevelt, in
temporizing with Vichy, even if by doing so he hurt anti-Nazi feelings; de
Gaulle, in trying to rally around his name and person the potential of our
country and its post-war possibilities. Roosevelt was playing for the
immediate, de Gaulle for the future. Later on, when the Vichy govern-
ment had been discredited, the hostility between Roosevelt and de Gaulle
was no longer justifiable and became no more than a meaningless,
deplorable prolongation of a personal feud.

To return to the French in New York at the end of 1941: the
constitutional legality of the Vichy government was a disturbing factor.
Vichy still governed the Free Zone as well as the vast territories of the
French colonies; one could despise it, but one couldn’t deny its existence.
The French, so divided in their opinions, nevertheless share a legalistic
approach towards their government: they respect the legitimacy of institu-
tions and are united in their reverence for the idealized entity of France.
The Vichy government held the attributes of legitimacy, however contest-
able, which no one among the French in the Allied camp could claim. The
French in America hesitated; some of them, refusing to take sides, even
joined the American, Canadian or British armed forces. Faced with this
confusing dilemma, a respected member of the Cartier family took the
inept initiative of suggesting that the volunteers let the American
government choose a French ‘leader’, and then enlist with him. His
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removed from what he'd always known before. His only interest was in the
war; he lived only for the day, which still seemed uncertain and remote,
when he'd be able to return to France. He was so conscious of being exiled
from his homeland, that I once heard him tell my mother, after he’d placed
on a table some object which then fell off: ‘You see, Germaine, in France it
would not have fallen.” Notwithstanding his gratitude towards America,
he always refused to accept his exile as permanent.

Alix soon became pregnant. We decided to move out of my parents’
apartment and take one of our own on Fifth Avenue and 1o2nd Street,
which was then a calm and tranquil neighbourhood (today it is less
residential, on the edge of Harlem). During the summer, I rented a cottage
in Syosset, Long Island. Alix was afraid of being again unable to carry her
pregnancy to its full term, and so spent her time lying down, carefully
avoiding all fatigue. In December, she gave birth to a baby boy. (And all of
a sudden there were three generations of Rothschilds living in New York!)
We named him David, which in Hebrew means ‘the beloved’ — it was
almost a gesture of defiance.

Wishing to learn the particularities of American law, | arranged to meet
my parents’ lawyer, Abe Beinstock, a warmhearted, enthusiastic man of
amazing youthfulness and exceptional vitality, who remained my friend
until his recent death.

My father and my uncle Robert had rented a small three-roomed office
on Fifth Avenue, where a young Dutchman, Peter Fleck, endeavoured to
put their affairs in order by unravelling a complicated tangle of documents
and forms to be filled in. I helped him as best I could, thanks to the
information | was able to provide. Little did I suspect that the modest
activities of this micro-organism of a business would develop considerably
after the war, and eventually become the basis of the American financial
establishment to which | have devoted my time since our French bank was
nationalized.

At the end of the war, Peter Fleck set up an American financial
company for us with two Dutch partners, who later withdrew. It pros-
pered, and we were able to sell it twenty-five years later on good terms. In
the meantime, in 1967, at my instigation, this company created an
investment bank. Our English cousins willingly agreed to join us in the
venture, and thus New Court Securities came into being — New Court
being the name of the building which houses the Rothschild Bank in
London. Its growth was slow but remarkably stable and vigorous until
1981, when there was a conflict with the president, who left us in the
middle of that year. It was then decided to strengthen the Rothschild
position, and my cousin Evelyn, Chairman of the Board of N. M.
Rothschild & Sons of London, and myself, became co-Chairmen. The







116 The Whims of Fortune

American politics, and proved to be of inestimable aid to Anglo-
American relations. Brilliant, original, witty and bold, truly erudite, he
was unanimously admired as much for what he was as for what he did, and
he was universally recognized as an exceptional, fascinating human being.
He loved music and the Russian language, and enjoyed nothing more than
talking about music in Russian; the problem was to find a polyglot music-
lover! My admiration and friendship for Isaiah have remained as great as
ever, and Marie-Héléne, who met him only twenty-five years later, was
immediately subjugated by his warmth and intelligence. Isaiah married
one of my cousins, but we do not see him as often as we'd like; he doesn’t
care to leave Oxford.

Finally, of course, we became joyously reunited with various members of
the Rothschild family: my uncle Robert and his wife Nelly, their daughters
Diane and Cécile, and my older cousins, Louis, Eugéne and his wife Kitty.

After the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor in 1941, America entered the
war; but [ should add the reminder that as long as a Free Zone existed in
France, she maintained her relations with Vichy.

A sad incident is indicative of the low esteem in which the French were
held at that time: the magnificent ocean liner Normandie had been bought
by the United States; it was docked in the Port of New York when fire
broke out on board. It so happened that the French engineer who had
designed the ship and knew it better than anybody in the world, was in
New York just then, and offered his help in fighting the fire. But he was
French, therefore suspect; his offer was refused, and the Normandie was
totally destroyed.

While the United States was mobilizing its resources of manpower and
matériel with astonishing efficiency, I never ceased thinking about my
return to combat, and gradually freed myself from the contradictory
pressures I'd been subjected to.

To tell the truth, with no new, decisive event occurring to clarify my
ideas, I simply gave in to the attraction that the Gaullist movement had
always held for me. In a way, it was the bold solution, whereas it might
have seemed more prudent to join Giraud. When I enlisted, I was warned
that it would take some time for my papers to be processed in London; after
which, my journey to Europe would depend on the British, who had no
reason for giving priority to a few French volunteers.

At the end of 1942 the Americans landed in North Africa. Everyone
expected to see the Vichy laws immediately repealed in these territories.
My father was particularly concerned by the uncertain fate of the Algerian
Jews: Vichy had revoked the Crémieux decree which since 1870 had made
them citizens of France. The local authorities, faithful to Vichy, did







CHAPTER

9

The Cruel Sea

The French administration has always excelled in slowness. The war did
not improve things, nor did the example of American efficiency. With all
of my enlistment papers duly signed, I had to wait several months before
anybody got round to informing me of the date, time, place and means of
my joining the Free French.

At last the day arrived when I was told to prepare for immediate
embarkation. | threw a pair of pyjamas and some toilet articles into my
officer’s valise, not forgetting my enlistment papers and a few personal
belongings. But that was all; we'd been advised to take a minimum of
baggage with us.

Alix drove me to the port where, in my brand-new uniform, I boarded
the Pacific Grove, a small cargo ship of about 7,000 tons, laden (if not
overladen) with meat and tanks — I almost wrote ‘butter and guns'! The
crew nonchalantly informed us that if we were torpedoed, the boat would
immediately split in two and sink within go seconds. I'll never forget that
figure after hearing it repeated so often, always with the same emphatic
precision: go seconds!

There were eighteen passengers, among them two Frenchmen about my
age who were joining de Gaulle; one of them, Maurice Meunier, a jovial,
kind-hearted fellow, was a ‘nose’: an expert in distinguishing and blending
scents for the perfume industry. There was also a very nice English couple,
he was a former RAF officer who had been wounded during the French
campaign; a young American woman, Maxine Miller, a not-so-secret
member of the OSS, pretty, blonde and rather shy, with whom [ still keep
in touch through time and space; another Englishman, who was a bear-
leader or a dog-trainer, [ forget. . .

At the beginning of the voyage, the Captain explained that we were
going to follow the coastline north to Canada as far as the latitude of
Halifax, where we’d join a convoy.

Crossing the Atlantic in those days was a real adventure. German
submarines controlled the seas. Actually, it was the beginning of the end
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light could filter through. After nightfall, we passed the time as best we
could, chatting, playing cards or various parlour games.

After a few days the frost abated, and we were sailing in what was for the
month of March good Atlantic weather. Our protection consisted of three
or four British corvettes and a Free French destroyer; and in the air, long-
range Catalinas based in Canada and Newfoundland on one side, in
Ireland and England on the other, which searched the seas and detected
enemy submarines. However, there remained a gap in the middle that
took 48 hours to cross and was not covered by air observation from either
side.

As we approached this gap, the weather cleared up, the sea subsided
into a long, flat swell, and the moon rose in a clear sky, giving excellent
night visibility. Our escort vessels acted like sheepdogs, moving fast and
far around us, and we were soon aware of lurking submarines in the danger
zone because our escorts were dropping depth charges which hammered
our hull however far away they were.

On the morning of what was expected to be the most hazardous 24
hours, we decided to spend the following night in the saloon, fully dressed
and equipped so as to be ready for any emergency, with the hope of going to
bed the next day. Around 6 p.m. a message came from the Captain
forbidding any more drinks. Dinner was uneventful, but from then on we
were told to carry our life-jackets with us constantly, even to the toilet. An
extra-long night was facing us and we felt pretty helpless in the dimly-lit
room, waiting and hoping, with nothing to do.

Around 10.30 p.m. the nervous strain was beginning to tell, so we
decided to play a game. Each player had to draw a crossword grid five-by-
five, everyone in turn named a letter, and when all twenty-five letters had
been placed as cleverly as possible, the winner was the person who had
made up the most words. After a few of these games, I claimed a winning
score. But my neighbour, looking over my shoulder, objected, saying that
I'd counted suB as a word although, no matter how often it appears in
American newspapers, it is only an abbreviation. A discussion ensued,
with me repeating, ‘suB exists’, my neighbour insisting, ‘suB does not
exist’ . . . until finally one of our companions said, ‘Well, let’s make this
the last one.” As he pronounced those words, the torpedo struck.

The lights went out and the ship quivered in a manner that left no
doubt. [ realized at once, ‘This is it, we've had it.” But the noise of the
explosion was muffled, since it took place well below and under water.
Within a second the ‘Abandon Ship’ signal was sounded. We picked up
our things and walked out of the saloon onto the deck.

As [ set foot on it, one of the fuel tanks caught fire, with flames rising
above the funnel ten yards high at least. It was quite a weird spectacle,
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passenger and normally have priority over thissailor. But. . .’ All thisin
my over-excited brain was to end in the conclusion you can guess: | yielded
my place to the sailor, with no assurance that there'd be room for
everybody. A few moments later | was reassured on that point. But the
duality, the last wish not to muff my exit — [ had the same reaction on the
three occasions when I was face to face with death — my upbringing rose to
the surface. As somebody once said about culture, perhaps good manners
are what is left when one has forgotten everything else.

Apart from having at last left the ship, our position had in fact not
improved, because we were against this big hull which was rolling
dangerously on top of us, and as everyone knows, when a ship sinks it drags
down in its wake all the floating objects around it. We had no oars, and
despite all our efforts we didn’t move. Desperation crept in once more.

At that moment there came from inside the ship an agonizing scream. It
was not repeated, but to this day my blood curdles at the thought. The
explosion of the torpedo had warped all the floors so that open doors could
not be closed and closed ones could not be opened. I hate to think how this
man had been trapped and what he endured.

Our hopes of survival were further dashed by the fact that we were on
the side of the wind which seemed to preclude moving away. But then a
second miracle occurred: the crest of a wave filtered its way between us and
the ship, and after a while a second one; after one more, we realized that
we were drifting up-wind. If my brain had been functioning normally, I.
would have understood that the wind was pushing the ship away from us,
and not the contrary. As we began to believe that we might not be
drowned after all, | became conscious of the fact that my clothes and body
were covered by the fuel into which I'd dipped before hoisting myself onto
the raft; the smell filled me with nausea and made me violently sick.
Realizing that if this got out of control it would be the end of me, I
mobilized all my willpower and successfully put a stop to the spasms.

But yet another danger threatened us: would the huge oil patch that
surrounded us catch on fire when the burning ship went down? It was only
when we were several tens of yards away that we began to feel reassured.
Sitting in water up to our waist, we rose with the swell, and each wave
swept a heavy flood of icy water over our shoulders. When we were lifted
on a crest for a fleeting moment, I could see the entire ocean littered with
flashing torches on the other lifeboats and rafts; then we'd plunge down in
the dark hollow again. The cold was fierce. I held onto the raft alternately
with one hand, then the other; the one in the water was numb, and the
other arm shivered violently, uncontrollably. One of the officers of the
Pacific Grove was with us, but when asked about our chances of being
picked up, he answered most unconvincingly. There was nothing left to do
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The British Captain didn’t hesitate a second: he put a motor launch to
sea with his aide and the Dutch Captain. They recovered the code and
destroyed it. But as they were about to re-board the corvette, the German
submarine, which had undoubtedly been prowling all night long,
launched a torpedo, missing its target by only a few yards. The English
Captain fired a salvo in the direction of the enemy and took flight,
abandoning the motor launch. After ten miles or so, believing that he’d
shaken off the submarine, he turned back and recommenced the compli-
cated manceuvre of rescuing the passengers in the motor launch.

And during all this time, alone in my cabin, unaware of these events, |
was thawing out and refusing to think of anything else.

After that, it was all over. The rest of the voyage was merely a story of
discomfort. With 180 survivors on board, there wasn’t enough room to lie
down outstretched, there was no water for washing, the corvette rolled
and pitched heavily — but we were fed, and slowly recovered. The convoy
had lost the three ships on the starboard side, but only ours had suffered
casualties: thirteen in all, most of them killed in the engine room which
the torpedo had blasted out of existence.

We landed at Gourock in Scotland and | disembarked in my uniform,
looking like a castaway, reeking of fuel oil, open-collared (since I'd lost my
necktie, haversack and pyjamas), but still carrying next to my heart my
papers and two or three cherished photographs. Yellowed by adventure,
sea water and oil, they were for many years on the corner of my desk, until
the day some thoughtless burglar stole them, along with my Free French
officer’s card.

A long scratch down my leg, probably infected by fuel oil, had
developed into a greenish blister. Before going to our appointed hotel, |
had time to buy a toothbrush, razor, nailbrush and soap — without being
asked for ration tickets. | had a delightfully hot bath, and with the aid of
the nailbrush and soap, I opened the blister and tried to clean the wound
without wincing too much. The next day it was practically healed, and I
tranquilly took the train to London.

That same evening, | invited my friend Jacques Bingen to dinner in a
restaurant, and was amused to see the other customers ostensibly avoid our
table, pinching their noses with expressions of disgust. My uniform still
reeked of my adventure.

From that shipwreck a thousand miles off the coast of Ireland, I've retained
a certain number of memories: some of them valuable lessons, others cruel
nightmares.

‘Oh, seas, what sorrowful stories you could tell!’ lamented Victor Hugo.






CHAPTER

e

Free French

In London I took a room at the Dorchester Hotel. The very first night [ was
awakened with a start by an alert. Not knowing exactly what | ought to do
in the circumstances, | asked the telephone operator, who replied
laconically, ‘Do as you like!” So | went back to bed. Then, with the lights
turned off, I got up to open a window: a lone aeroplane, caught in the
beams of the anti-aircraft searchlights, was trying to escape.

[ was back in the war. The city bore evident traces of it. Soldiers
everywhere, streets with bombed-out buildings like mouths with missing
teeth; sandbags piled in vulnerable spots. Nevertheless, one had the
strange impression of an orderly city: there was no rubble lying about;
people came and went about their business calmly, frequented pubs and
restaurants as usual (ration tickets existed only for clothing).

At night the helmeted civil defence patrols made their rounds; their job
was to climb onto the roofs at the first air raid signal, prepared to deal
immediately with incendiary bombs.

A soldier once again, | reported for duty with my written orders (stained
with oil, they had at least survived the shipwreck), and was duly enlisted.
After being issued equipment and clothing — [ kept my dragoon’s insignia:
silver stripes on a black background, black forage cap with white in the
crease — [ was sent to Camberley, a training camp one hour by train from
London.

When I signed my enlistment papers in the United States, I'd wondered
what my activity would be: I realized that the Gaullist government might
be a bit embarrassed by my presence. Vichy propaganda repeated inces-
santly that the Free French were nothing but ‘a pack of Jews’ accompanied
by a few ‘French traitors’; and while nobody gave much credit to these
affirmations, it still seemed clear to me that a Jew bearing a name like mine
would immediately be dispatched — not to say relegated — into the
anonymous ranks of troops. Besides, all I had to my credit was some brief
experience in warfare. So I expected no promotion of any kind, and was
quite prepared to follow the natural course of my engagement.

et s S S R —
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[ stood at attention, gave my name and rank in the proper manner and
waited.

The General’s face was expressionless: no curiosity, no sign of interest,
no sign whatsoever. The silence continued for several long, oppressive,
embarrassing seconds. Then he asked me what were my intentions, what |
hoped to do.

The question, while not out of the ordinary, still caught me by surprise
and I didn’t know what to answer. After another silence, I said that | was
there to serve my country and to carry out the orders | received.

Another silence. My reply seemed unexpected to him. Then he shook
my hand in a gesture of dismissal. And I never saw him again until the
middle of the 1950s, when our paths crossed quite by chance.

[ left, disappointed. My high hopes were replaced by a feeling of
frustration. After so much speculation about de Gaulle, so many im-
passioned discussions about the true significance of his ‘call’, his ‘combat’,
so many doubts as to the true character of the Free French Forces, this
interview — or rather, non-interview — had the effect on me of a cold
shower.

Was it due to his reserve, his innate lack of warmth, his shyness, his
dignity? I learned later that he'd just been told of the death in a plane crash
of a prestigious officer who had recently joined him and was a personal
friend. I also learned that silence was his means of testing the political
ambitions of the new arrivals.

After three months at Camberley, | was transferred to London. Like the
other officers, | rented a furnished room (at Lancaster Gate, from a
charming elderly lady), and went ‘to the office’ every morning.

Daily life included just the proper dose of discomfort and difficulty. For
example, the gas heater in my room functioned only when a shilling was
slipped into a slot, and then for no more than half an hour. Since the room
was quite large, [ stayed literally glued to the heater, with scorching knees
and frozen face. No bathtub either, just a washbasin for a minimum of
hygiene.

Our food was pretty dull — especially the bread made from potato flour;
and the evenings were rather lugubrious, apart from an occasional dinner
with friends. There was no public lighting of any kind; the city was
virtually plunged in darkness; only the taxis were permitted a tiny light,
invisible beyond a short distance. And on ‘smog’ days, | had to find my way
back by groping along the walls . . .

Nevertheless, this orderly, austere little existence was quite tolerable.
The worst was yet to come: the bombings.

In February 1944, there was a series of air raids, a sort of mini-blitz.
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[ took refuge with some English friends who had built a small brick
shelter at the back of their garden which could withstand the effects of
bombing, except from a direct hit. In the morning, when we went upstairs
to wash and shave, we took the precaution of leaving the door open in
order to avoid being trapped inside.

During the daytime, one had to control one’s nerves. Since the building
in which my office was located was considered sufficiently solid, we were
not allowed to go down into the shelters. In the depths of the London
Underground, there was total security. As we returned to ground level,
we'd glance uneasily at the sign posted next to the ticket office: green
meant all clear; red was the alert signal. Whatever it was, we had to
emerge, ears pricked, ready to throw ourselves to the ground as soon as any
nearby V1 ceased its roaring noise.

Street traffic continued even during the alerts. But it required pluck to
take a taxi; it was a question of trusting to fate. The taxi-drivers seemed to
be either deaf or insensitive to danger. With no defence against the V1,
more vulnerable than anybody else, they will always remain in my mind a
living symbol of unshakeable courage.

This reminds me of a cartoon I saw at about that time: it showed a group
of high-ranking officers in solemn conference, seemingly impassive, their
nervous tension betrayed only by their ears — which were six feet long!

Later on, after the landings, came the V2: ballistic rockets that travelled
faster than sound and fell at random. No alert was possible; no anti-aircraft
fire could warn of their approach.

Nevertheless, life went on. But it was preferable to dine in restaurants
located in a basement, or to shun the tables next to a window in order at
least to avoid being injured by flying glass.

London in wartime. A scene, an atmosphere I'll never forget.

Stolidly cheerful and pleasant, always ready to share one’s troubles, the
British were no more inclined to display their emotions than in peacetime.
They obviously expected the same behaviour from others. Faced with
obstacles, difficulties, destruction, risk and sorrow of all kinds, they
managed to hide their heroism behind the banal routine of daily life. I was
constantly reminded of my mother’s oft-repeated precept: ‘Keep yourself to
yourself.’ '

For a Frenchman whose country had just suffered a crushing defeat and
had lost confidence in its destiny, the English attitude was reassuring; it set
a good example. My anglophile upbringing had undoubtedly conditioned
me to this kind of behaviour; but I noticed that the French in London,
even though they were anonymous individuals in that mass of English-
men, ended up by adopting, almost despite themselves, the placid virtues
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responsible role, and since | was loath to become involved in games of
intrigue (I hardly ever saw Gaston Palewski, although I knew him well), I
confined myself to my strictly military duties, a field in which I felt at ease.

By this time the ostracism of the early Gaullists towards those who
arrived in London later was a thing of the past. (A friend of mine had been
with the General since June of 1940, assuming the modest post of
recruiting officer. He told me that the men who joined in July — of the same
year! — were jeered, as if they had taken an unduly long time to make up
their minds. )

In 1943, only a few military men remained in London. The most
experienced officers had already been assigned to form new combat units,
or to the Leclerc Division, or the French Army in Africa. The others had
no choice but to settle down at headquarters — or become secretly involved
in ‘more serious matters’ . . .

De Gaulle was not only head of the Free French Forces, he was now the
leader of the Resistance Movement inside France as well. We learned of
his underground activity from agents returning from France who gave us
briefings before leaving on a new mission or being whisked away by the
Secret Service. | remember the underground network leaders Henri
Fresnay and Lucie Aubrac . . . and I can still hear the actress Frangoise
Rosay address us at Wimbledon, where | was on a training course; the
outwardly self-composed British officers could not hold back their tears as
she spoke. We thus knew all about what was going on in Occupied France.

Apart from the Free French, there were many other foreign groups in
London: those, for example, which depended on the various governments
in exile: Polish, Czech, Dutch. They wore identical battledress; only from
the badges bearing the name of their country and their rank could one tell
who they were. To the British, all these Europeans living in England were
Allies, and all were treated on an equal footing. Only the Americans were
different. They wore different uniforms, they were better paid, less
disciplined, more cynical, louder; they walked with a loose-jointed gait as
in their cowboy films; but if they were criticized at all, it was quite unfair.

The Gaullists in London were united by certain ideas which they flaunted
with an almost grotesque panache.

A genuine Gaullist was above all a rebel at heart. The legal French
nation — its government and administration, the restrictions it felt obliged
to accept — was categorically rejected, even repudiated. For some, this
attitude contained a germ of revolution. Over-stepping the bounds of
legality had not been easy for all of them, and many had the feeling of
having crossed the Rubicon.

A Gaullist therefore looked upon himself as an outlaw, probably
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territories. In 1943, de Gaulle, fearing that this would be no more than
another Occupation on the heels of the German one, and with the same
dire effect, created a ‘Corps Militaire de Liaisons Administratives’,
directly dependent on the French Committee for National Liberation,
which would specialize in training French officers. In 1944, Boislambert
was given the responsibility of forming and commanding the MMLA.
More than 1,200 officers were therefore trained, assigned to ‘all places and
at all levels of the Allied units, in order to ensure their liaison with the
French populations, to re-establish the administrations, to replace them
wherever necessary’.

Boislambert had the reputation of being something of a ladies' man, but
still found time for politics. Involved in the Dakar affair, he had made a
spectacular escape and finally reached London. He now had the rank of
Colonel.

After a training course at Wimbledon, | assumed my new functions
along with a glorious title: Head of the Third Bureau. (The First Bureau
was concerned with Personnel, the Second with Information, the Third
with Military Operations, and the Fourth with Ordnance.) For the first
time in my military career, | had a staff job: sorting out the volunteers,
deciding on their training as liaison officers, and finally assigning them to
one of the English operational units | thought they were best fitted for.
Frenchmen of all ages and ranks passed through my hands. The future
relationship between the Allied armies and the French government, with
or without the intervention of our Mission, was a political problem that
didn’t concern me. But it was up to me alone to see that our affairs were
properly conducted as far as liaison with the British was concerned.

[t was very time-consuming work, since | had to deal with a large
number of volunteers. | made arrangements by telephone from my office,
and | was as deluged with calls as a telephone operator at peak hours! |
worked in close collaboration and perfect harmony with an English officer
of the same rank (I'd received my Captain’s stripes from Algiers), whose
duties were to ratify, if possible, my proposals and take charge of my
recruits.

Once I'd succeeded in providing a suitable post of some kind or other for
one and all, I found myself without a job! Boislambert announced to me
one morning:

‘Now you're going to run the Fourth Bureau and procure equipment for
all these men!’

And I assumed my new functions at once.

To return for a moment to Camberley and to one of my first assignments —
as standard-bearer of the Free French — | remember two amusing incidents.
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et Patrie’ (Honour and Country). I decided to keep him in suspense, and
each time he shifted to one side, I did the same, just as imperceptibly,
maliciously savouring my little game.

The officers often served as ‘stop-gaps’, called upon without warning to
perform all sorts of functions for which they were in no way prepared. As
always with the military, we were deluged with memoranda: one of them
requested everyone with a diploma to make himself known. Due to my
Law degree, I thus found myself filling the role of defence lawyer whenever
our courts martial had to judge French soldiers. Most of the cases
concerned some harmless fellow who had merely gone AWOL, although
he was charged with desertion. De Gaulle was even more determined to
prove his respect for French Republican legality than to assert his own
authority. In his mind, France itself was now installed in London; he
insisted that the smallest details substantiate this view. For example, he
saw to it that the Free French troops were supplied with the traditional
Caporal cigarettes, like any other French soldiers worthy of the name.

The military judges were for the most part elderly (not to say decrepit)
officers, devoid of sensitivity. I remember in particular one calloused
veteran who considered every defendant an unstable neurotic, on the
astonishing pretext that the soldier had come to London when he could
have quietly remained in France! This kind of prejudice — inappropriate,
to say the least, on the part of a judge — inspired me to take my job seriously
and to throw my heart into impassioned, idealistic pleas for the defence.

One case was graver than most. A French deserter had been arrested by
the British and locked up in the Allied military prison at Dundee, in
Scotland. The French military authorities sent a court-martial officer to
interrogate him, and I accompanied him in my role of court-appointed
defence lawyer. During the fourteen- or fifteen-hour train ride, we had
ample time to discuss the case, and finally made a deal on a verdict of
clemency, on condition that the accused accept the line of defence I would
suggest to him. Alas, | found myself dealing with an ignorant, narrow-
minded boy who would hear nothing of it. When his case came to trial, |
was no longer in London.

‘Fortunately, there are Sundays’, Georges Pompidou said one day. His
words never rang truer than during this period in London. A weekend in
the country with friends or relatives was more than a parenthesis in daily
life for me; it was a moment of grace. Idle mornings, conversation in front
of a blazing fire, walks in the woods without having to scrutinize the
sky. ...

I gradually resumed contact with some of my English cousins and other
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Communist concentration camps came at a time when pro-Soviet
sympathy was at its height, at the very moment when our valiant Russian
allies were causing Hitler a lot of trouble.

But he was above all preoccupied, tormented even, by the nightmarish
fate of the Jews; his mother was Jewish and could not leave Hungary. The
same dream returned to haunt him every night: he was on a road, pursued
by assassins; as hard as he tried to scream, no sound came from his lips; he
was unable to summon help. This dream summarized all the anguish of
Koestler, the prophet: knowing the truth, but unable to convince others,
whether it was alerting the world to the massacre of the Jews, or unmasking
the Soviet régime. His failure to influence the Allied governments, to
persuade them to come to the aid of the deportees, plunged him in despair.
Thanks to him, I no longer had any illusions about the fate of Jews sent to
the so-called ‘work camps’. Many people, however, still refused to accept
the truth. Churchill himself, it seems, asked for proof the first time he was
told about ‘the final solution’. Perhaps the reason why the Allied
governments hesitated to denounce officially what was going on in the
camps was because they were afraid that public opinion would then
clamour for the premature opening of a second front. In any case, when
the Allies liberated Auschwitz, it was hard for me to understand their
apparent surprise at what they found there.

A disciple of Jabotinsky, Koestler was not only concerned by the fate of
Palestine, but was also an impassioned, militant Zionist. A former
Communist, he probably still had a guilty, romantic weakness for con-
spiracy and violence. He was endowed with the marvellous gift of being
able to communicate to others his ideas and emotions. He asked questions
in order to develop an analysis; then analysed further in order to find more
questions to ask; and he would go on indefinitely, unable to stop.

He spoke fluent English, but with a very pronounced Hungarian accent.
The day he was released from his London prison, an incident led him to
doubt the sanity of the British who, after putting him in jail, now made
him the most peculiar propositions.

Not knowing where to turn, he entered a telephone booth to call his
only friend in England. At that time, all phone calls had to go through an
operator who would announce the cost of the communication. To
Arthur’s ear, the English language must have sounded as he himself
pronounced it. Instead of the innocent phrase: ‘Put your pennies in the
slot’, he understood the operator to say: ‘Put your penis in the slot’ — a
suggestion that understandably astonished him!

For a long time I'd wanted to introduce him to Isaiah Berlin, who was
back in London, and whose reputation for intellectual brilliance and
sparkling wit was already known to Koestler. I invited them both to lunch
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activities | then knew nothing about.) [ was more optimistic and disagreed
with Freddie Ayer. | betted on an imminent landing. Pierre Messmer
offered to be a witness — the stakes were a luncheon in liberated Paris — but
he insisted that we name a precise date for D-Day. At random, I picked

. . the sixth of June! And Freddie accepted the wager.

I'd forgotten all about it when [ met Messmer in Paris a few months later
and he reminded me of my bet. Only then did he confess that he'd asked
for a precise date because he was already informed of it. But nothing in his
behaviour had betrayed him, and neither Freddie nor I could ever have
imagined that he was concealing such a vital secret.

On 6 June we heard the news over the radio: the Allies had landed in
Normandy. [ literally jumped with joy! But we were not taking part in the
great adventure and felt a bit left out of things.

My job at the MMLA no longer made sense. It was at this point that
André Manuel, aide to Colonel Passy, who was head of the BCRA
(Bureau Central de Renseignements et d’Action), spoke to me about a
mission that sounded most exciting: it was something to do with the
French Resistance. | awaited my new orders with impatience. Nothing
happened. [ was finally given to understand that there was an unsurmount-
able obstacle: my name. It may have been that someone more resourceful
or more influential had volunteered — but that is the excuse I was given.
[ came across a letter | wrote to Alix in a mood of frustration and
anger:

In April, I was promised a far more interesting job than anything I could have
dreamed of. However, a few weeks later, when the MMLA headquarters staff
was reorganized, | found myself in a job that is less important than before and
very dull besides. Later, | had the proof of what I suspected: my name had been
the obstacle. To the right wing, a Jew; to the leftists, a capitalist . .

The outbreak of anti-semitism among the Free French in London can be
explained by their urgent desire to return to France, and their fear that the
important proportion of Jews might be a hindrance. When Jews joined up,
they’d been only too eager to utilize them; but now that their presence might
cause them embarrassment, instead of honouring the principles for which this
war is supposedly being fought, they are simply being dropped . . .

This reference to anti-semitism may cause surprise. The word was
undoubtedly exaggerated, coming from my pen in a fit of anger. But it is
undeniable that there was an awareness of the Jewish presence, due to the
large number of them who had, for obvious reasons, left France and joined
de Gaulle. Hoping to discredit the Resistance movement, Vichy had only
too often reminded people of the fact for anyone to have forgotten it. The
truth is that the French were still living in the past; and the idea of another
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my entire life. The familiar neighbourhoods, the faces of friends, the
voices | was going to hear again at last.

But | had no time for reverie at the moment. There were practical
problems to be solved: first of all, where to find living quarters. On whose
door should I knock first? I finally decided on Barbara and André Vagliano,
the friends with whom I used to play golf before the war.

[ said goodbye to my American companion at the Porte Dauphine,
walked a few hundred yards, and rang the doorbell, my heart beating fast.
[t was decidedly my day of glory: the entire family was there, and everyone
greeted me as if I'd just returned from the moon. We talked until we ran
out of breath, until it was time for dinner — to which I made my modest
contribution of K rations, which was all | had to offer.

A bed! A telephone! I called René Fillon, who was still managing the
bank as well as my family’s interests. Through the receiver, if [ may use the
expression, we fell into each other’s arms.

The next morning | borrowed a bicycle and rode to the Etoile, then
down the Champs-Elysées, as in a dream. The sun was shining; the girls,
also on bicycles, seemed each one prettier than the next, and I can still see
their wooden-soled shoes, the wide skirts that floated in the breeze.

[ wrote a reassuring letter to my family in America:

The Allied and French soldiers were given a fantastic welcome. Each man seems to
have two women on his knees, and tents in the public gardens resound all night
long with roars of laughter and joyful shouting. The Americans seem to believe,
perhaps rightly so, that Paris is one huge PX for dispensing feminine tenderness to
lonely Gls. The FFI, for the most part very young and far from shy (among whom
mingle some pretty seedy individuals who look more like gangsters), are all dressed
in civilian clothes with a tricolor armband; they rush about, machine-gun in one
hand, a girl on the other arm, brandishing hand grenades and flags. Paris bears few
traces of combat, the city is intact. No public transport, little food, no restaurants,
the shops are still closed, only the cafés are open.

[ paid a visit to our office on the rue Laffitte. Only a dozen people were
working there; the rest of the staff and employees were still in La
Bourboule, awaiting a solution to various personal and collective
problems.

I’d barely arrived when [ was greeted like a hero by the man the Vichy
government had placed in charge of the sequestration of the bank! As a
matter of fact, he had always been wholeheartedly on our side and was only
too happy to be relieved at last of the task of liquidating the family
possessions. That same day, the Bank of France officially returned to
‘Messieurs de Rothschild Fréres’ the account number which had been ours
for over a century. I had the impression that it was my birthday.
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appointed to judge the case. It was a typical example of the agonizing
situation faced by a persecuted people in distress. One couldn’t expect all
of them to be saints. The real culprits were the Nazis who had created such
inhuman circumstances.

At Christmas time, I finally was able to spend a week in New York with
the members of my family that [ hadn’t seen for the past twenty-four
months. My son David was just two years old, and we celebrated his
birthday; he was already beginning to pronounce a few words. Since [ was
one of the first eye-witnesses to the Liberation of Paris that the French
colony had seen as yet, | was continually asked to describe it in the greatest
detail.

[ flew back to Paris via Canada and England, in Arctic weather, carrying
with me the first package of penicillin sent to France, which I'd been
entrusted to deliver to the Minister of Health.

A few months later, Alix landed at Le Havre with her daughter Lili, the
faithful Lilah, and David, already beyond the baby stage . . .

And then the peace treaty was signed.

Some people never get over having lived through an exceptional
experience. They spend the rest of their lives reminiscing about their
personal Golden Age: those who proved themselves in combat, for
example; and those for whom the war was the happiest moment of their
lives (and such people do exist). Some members of the Resistance mix only
with other members of the Resistance; it sometimes happens that a war
hero, unable to readjust to civilian life, becomes an outlaw.

The French in London will always look back upon their experience as a
privileged moment, exceptional in every way: the example of the British,
their instinctive, daily courage. Although I'd occupied only a modest post,
for me too London was a unique experience.

What a contrast with America! From New York, I've retained only the
recollection of my family, of Alix, and the birth of ourson. . . butagainst
a background of profound dissatisfaction. It was a period of neutrality, of
indecision; I was outside the war and trying to get back in it. But in
England there was danger, important events were taking place right there,
there were responsibilities to assume, unexpected encounters.

How strange is the alchemy of memory! My life in wartime London
which was, after all, comparatively insignificant and limited, has become
in retrospect as colourful as an epic. Without romanticism or sentimen-
tality, without embellishing the facts, I think I can say that in London I
had the opportunity to feel as if | were part of the great adventure of
indomitable Britain, fighting for its life.

Back in France, [ never had the slightest sense of superiority over those






CHAPTER
II

Guy, Alain, Elie”

[ recently came across a memorandum dated January, 1946, in which I
wrote:

What is the situation in France? The country is taking an anti-capitalistic turn
like most of Europe. It is, of course, impossible to affirm that the present rate of
nationalization, of measures hostile to big corporations (it is now forbidden to
create new limited companies) will continue unabated. But the trend is
evident.

Moreover, the French currency is the worst managed of all the major
nations, as badly as that of Balkan and South American countries; in 1946, the
French franc is worth only one-fortieth of its 1941 value. There is no
comparison with England, Belgium, Holland, and even less with the United
States and Switzerland . . . We must consider it an intrinsic weakness of the
French economy.

It is clear that private wealth in any anti-capitalistic country with a shrinking
currency is doomed to disappear sooner or later. And one day or another, this
same anti-capitalism will lead to the suppression of private banks .

We must make a choice: either continue to live at home where we belong,
accepting the inevitable diminishment of our patrimony, training our children
to learn a trade, to become industrial technicians, farmers. . . or we can refuse
to relinquish the tremendous asset of our name: let some of us remain in France
to maintain our presence here; let others settle in the United States and
develop a business that will be a continuation of the House of Rothschild. We
would thus re-establish our ‘international good will’ and remain a factor in the
world of international finance.

To live in France in prosperous retirement is a mediocre goal. To create a

Rothschild Bank in America is an endeavour worthy of the Five Gentlemen of
Frankfurt. '

Read today, these lines are startling. I certainly erred in my view of the
political future, fearing, like many others at that time, Soviet domination

of Europe. But my analysis was correct — alas! — concerning the socializa-

* The three partners of de Rothschild Fréres were always named in decreasing order of age.
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bank’! On my return to liberated Paris in 1944, | found only half a dozen
employees (with whom | often shared a meagre lunch in the basement
room placed at our disposal, the rest of the building having been
requisitioned by the Secours National, a national welfare organization
created by the Vichy government). The remaining assets consisted of a few
clients, a handful of securities, and far from enough cash to operate a
financial institution.

Another less than rosy side of the picture was the presence in La
Bourboule, where the firm had taken refuge, of a hundred employees, most
of them seventy to eighty years old, who had been kept on the payroll for
evident humanitarian reasons. At the top management level, | was
assisted by René Fillon and Roger Langlois; notwithstanding their out-
standing achievements during the Occupation, neither of them was a
professional banker. I enlisted André Legros, the NCO accountant of my
Company in 1940, who had been working since then at the Crédit
Lyonnais; but his banking experience was limited to that of a branch
manager.

[ must remind my younger readers in particular that the War and the
Occupation had ruined the country to such an extent that even a return to
the economic level of 1939, modest as it was, seemed like an unattainable
dream. Among all the economic experts [ talked to at the time, not one of
them foresaw the fantastic expansion which in thirty years would promote
France to one of the top positions in the European economy. Nothing in
the inscrutable future encouraged a strategy of revolutionary change;
besides, I didn't want to upset my father in any way during his few
remaining years.

Despite the circumstances, which might be euphemistically described as
not very attractive, | was determined to put the French Rothschilds back
on the map, and to prepare a resurgence worthy of the family reputation
and of its prestigious past.

My first task consisted of recuperating the family investments that the
Vichy-appointed liquidator had, at our request, sold to friendly firms
which had agreed to let us buy them back if and when we could. In the
meantime, the government had turned over to us the proceeds from the
liquidations of our property since 1940, as was only natural. The transac-
tions were thus accomplished without difficulty.

[t soon became apparent to me that while the bank itself had engaged in
only limited activity between the two wars due to its small amount of
equity, individual members of the family possessed important holdings in
various companies of which we were, in fact, the principal share-holders.
On the one hand, a drowsy bank; on the other, prosperous businesses,
partly due to Rothschild investments. ‘Elementary, my dear Watson,’ |
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as a certain amount of risk. We also organized an investment management
service, and thus cashed in on broker’s fees. Constantly on the lookout for
every possible means of development, we took part in some unusual
projects.

Shortly after the end of the war, the government, in an effort to
encourage the French to repatriate the funds they had secretly deposited in
Switzerland, set up a procedure that guaranteed anonymity. We effected
many such transfers in total secrecy, a member of our staff working under
the supervision of a magistrate.

In 1947, the sister companies Royal Dutch and Shell increased their
capital by means of a new stock issue. The government was unable to
provide the necessary foreign currency for those French investors who
wished to subscribe. Together with Lazard Fréres, we persuaded the
administration to allow these investors to subscribe to their quota of the
new issues by using the proceeds from sales of rights and/or old shares; the
French foreign exchange balance was thus in no way affected.

A few years later, the German Flick group (whose Nazi activities had
not yet been exposed) sold a colliery in the Sarre and was paid with
blocked French francs, which they deposited with us. We obtained
permission for them to use these funds to purchase five per cent of the
Pechiney company. Although they later sold their share, the deal pro-
vided Pechiney with the cash it desperately needed at the time, and at the
same time protected Flick from a possible loss due to the weakness of the
French franc.

Finally, the British company Rio Tinto also floated a new stock issue;
this time we obtained from the administration the foreign currency
required for the French shareholders to buy up their entire allotment,
which amounted to half the capital of the bank.

Negotiations of this sort, along with ordinary daily business, enabled us
to keep our head above water. We were also aided by a tax exemption
applied to the funds invested in Treasury bills, an incentive created during
World War I, which was later repealed. These partly untaxed profits,
modest as they were, represented an appreciable positive factor.

Around 1949, | employed an expert to make a study of our accounting
system. His conclusion was that this fossil dating from the beginning of the
19th century was so wasteful of manpower that it might be better off if we
did no business at all!

We thereupon decided, wisely if audaciously for those days, to install an
IBM computer system, at that time in its infancy, which André Legros had
gone to America to study. Among the pioneer users in this field, we found
it most beneficial to our development. Fortunately, through the good
offices of my friend Pierre Chevrier, General Manager of the Banque
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profitable tax-free spin-off of its shares in the new investment trust. The
transfer to it of our holdings in Shell, Royal Dutch, Nickel, Pennaroya and
other French and foreign companies, made us by far the most important
shareholders. In 1955, the market was buoyant and the Compagnie du
Nord was in a position to issue new shares, bringing in fresh money for
investment — and fresh deposits for the bank.

Thus the first stage of redevelopment of Messieurs de Rothschild had
been accomplished. The old firm had made a comeback on the French
financial scene.

While the bank had always remained our prime interest, the family
vineyard of Chateau Lafite was among the most important assets that we
had to manage. It had caused us a lot of worry before the war, and none of
us could foretell its future. Elie expressed the desire to take charge of it;
Alain and I were delighted to see him assume this responsibility. Let me
say at once that he made a marvellous success of it. After many years of
remarkable growth and increased prestige, he handed it over to Alain’s son
Eric, who has carried on his work to the complete satisfaction of all. I am
merely a sleeping partner in Chéteau-Lafite, but [ follow its development
with the greatest interest — and consume its produce with the greatest
pleasure! Chateau-Lafite deserves more than a few lines . . . but the
subject in hand is finance, rather than wine.

Back to the bank and my daily activities there. The year 1955 saw the
beginning of a boom in oil and raw materials from what was then French
Africa, a boom that was to be a major financial factor in the years to come.

We played a dynamic role in developing the riches of the African subsoil
and took many initiatives in order to permit the public to participate. It
was a relatively brief but happy period, during which we were extremely
active. It was made up of various episodes, but [ will start with the project
to exploit the iron ore in Mauritania and our creation of the MIFERMA
company, since | was closely concerned with it and there are amusing
anecdotes related to it.

The first step that had to be taken was to remove the Chairman of the
skeleton company. Only Gaston Deferre, the Socialist Minister of Over-
seas Territories, could solve this delicate problem. He received me in his
office and mumbled in his characteristic slurred speech that to him [ was a
symbol of evil capitalism; only because of my honourable war record had
he agreed to meet me. Once my original sin had thus been dealt with, we
soon found a solution to my problem.

But before the business could really take off, there remained a major
difficulty: obtaining a 60 million dollar loan from the World Bank — and
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countries. The iron ore was very high-grade; unfortunately, its world price
collapsed even before the mine went into production. In 1974, when the
huge loans had been reimbursed and dividends were about to be paid, the
company was nationalized. Compensation was offered, but the return on
investment over the period of time involved was insignificant. It is this sort
of experience that has caused so many capitalists to lose their zest for
investing in the Third World countries.

The climax of the French economic adventure in Africa was the
discovery of oil in the Sahara desert. It set off a veritable Black Gold Rush.
The first well to be exploited was located at Hassi-Messaoud and owned by
the Compagnie Frangaise des Pétroles. Marie-Héléne, Georges Pompidou
and | were among the first to visit it — on one of the first flights of the
Caravelle.

All of the French investment banks, including our own, issued special
funds in order to finance the numerous projects that followed the earlier
successful explorations. All these investment trusts included in their titles
the letters REP (Research, Exploitation, Petrol): the first was FINAREP of
the Banque de Paris; soon there was COFIREP in which we were
associated with the Worms Bank, and many others. As new oil discoveries
were made in the Sahara, the REPs set off a boom on the stock-market.
People were lining up to subscribe to new issues; COFIREP, in two years,
hit a peak of seven times its issuing price. In 1957, again in association
with Worms, we created FRANCAREP. Too speculative for the general
public, Georges Pompidou and I placed all the shares, by telephone, with
private investors.

The Algerian Independence in 1962 put an end to this sensational but
short-lived boom. Politically inevitable, undoubtedly desirable from the
humanitarian point of view, it nevertheless deprived France of a major
source of energy and wiped out the anticipated profits of French investors,
since their property was expropriated by the new government. Only
FRANCAREP survived: thanks to its investments in North Sea oil, in
West Africa and Italy, as well as in Florida phosphates, it is still a
prosperous enterprise.

During the oil rush era, Rothschild Fréres issued a total of seven
different funds for oil and raw materials. The nationalization of all natural
resources eventually divested these companies of their original purpose.
At the same time, a change of legislation harmonized the tax status of
holding companies (such as the Compagnie du Nord) with that of
investment trusts (such as S.I. Nord). The best policy in these new
conditions was to do away with a diversity that had lost its meaning. Over
a period of several years, we therefore gradually merged them all into the
Compagnie du Nord, in order to make the best possible use of these assets.
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rather to the practical fact of getting a better return on capital investment.
Good management nowadays requires a sophisticated organization, the
cost of which must be spread over the largest possible volume of business.
From the human point of view as well, a self-confident, successful
management team hates to feel underemployed, but rather seeks to enlarge
its scope of action.

Writing these lines fifteen years later | can only add that this trend has
continued to develop considerably in the United States, spreading
throughout the financial sector, where a number of institutions have
either merged or been acquired by commercial conglomerates with assets
amounting to billions of dollars. I feel obliged to mention the outstanding
exception to the rule, which I have followed closely: Lazard Fréres in Paris
and New York, which have succeeded in attracting and renewing an
unusually large team of financially creative talent. Both firms are pros-
perous, with no increase in size, only in profits. I've always admired their
achievement, without ever seeing how to emulate it!

For years in France I tried to find associates endowed with that very
special talent of being ‘money-makers’. I've come across sound managers,
respectable and trustworthy; but none of them belonged to that rare
species which ‘creates profits’. Perhaps if | had circulated more, I might
have had the opportunity to meet the exceptional individuals I was
seeking. Now in 1984, as | am in New York for a while, I observe with
pride and joy the success of our family firm here in attracting exactly the
sort of management personnel | dreamed of in those bygone days.

To return to the rue Laffitte: the land on which our old building stood was
also underemployed. It was easy to see that we could replace 4,000 square
metres of inefficiently exploited real estate by 16,000 square metres of
modern, functional office space. Determined to live up to our reputation
for good taste, we finally selected, after many consultations, the plan
proposed by the American firm of Harrison and Abramowitz, in collabora-
tion with the French architect Pierre Dufau. This property development
scheme was of course linked with our banking projects, as one had to house
the other, and both were the result of our dynamic planning.

At this stage, one might have drawn diametrically opposed conclusions
from the same analysis. For example, if we had been willing to give up the
Compagnie du Nord, the companies it controlled, the men we had chosen
to run them, the public who had bought our shares, trusting in our
management and towards whom we felt responsible . . . we could have
conceived of another policy: contenting ourselves with our small, private
bank; finding a buyer for the publicly listed group, and concentrating on
the management of our own assets. This more selfish course would have
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1 January 1968. From that moment, the bank, henceforth a corporation,
would change its name to Banque Rothschild; its capital would be
increased by an infusion of capital from the Compagnie du Nord amount-
ing to 70 per cent of the shares; | was to be the Chairman of the Board of
the new firm, which would concentrate its activities in the areas deemed
most promising by our market research. I also announced the project to
tear down our old building and construct modern, aesthetic, attractively
decorated offices in its place. This came as a complete surprise to the
audience, as there had been no leak of our plans. The news was very well
received; we were given wide press coverage — and a lot of free publicity!

The new building, 21 rue Laffitte, was inaugurated at Easter 1970. One
can imagine the amount of work; research, planning, recruiting, that had
been done before then . . . including the acquisition of two small banks.
The building was set at right-angles to the street; a series of terraces on
either side broke the monotony of the solid frontage. Great care was taken
in the decoration of the offices as well as of the public rooms, with an eye to
aesthetics as well as comfort. An attractive cafeteria in the basement was
artfully decorated in order to eliminate any possible feeling of
claustrophobia. Well in evidence was the symbol we adopted: the sheaf of
five arrows, which symbolizes in the family crest the Five Gentlemen of

Frankfurt.

Technically of course, the new Banque Rothschild had started in 1968. Its
growth fulfilled our expectations: by the end of 1980, deposits amounted to
over 3.4 billion francs, and the firm ranked among the top fifteen French
commercial banks. There were twelve branches in Paris and eight in other
major cities. We employed 1,350 people. The expansion was not,
however, without its setbacks and disappointments. It wasn’t easy to start
a commercial bank in competition with old, solidly established institu-
tions. Moreover, the unforeseen reversal of the economy led to the worst
depression in forty years: possibly as bad as that of 1929, certainly longer-
lasting. During the first few years, the management I'd appointed was more
eager to develop new business than it was capable of controlling the
increasing overheads and installing necessary control systems. The more
dynamic a newcomer is, the harder he is hit by a depression. Furthermore,
the French system of credit control by the government since 1972 was
particularly inhibiting, because it froze existing positions, whereas we had
a larger equity base than most, which should have given us more
opportunities. But such is often the case in France.

Nevertheless, nothing could compromise the solidity of our group, whose
reserves were very large, even when evaluated as conservatively as they
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decided on the age of seventy.

When I reached that milestone, I naturally had to abide by the rule —
which, in fact, conforms with my personal philosophy. First of all, I think
it unfair to stand in the way of the rising younger generation; secondly,
beyond a certain age one may be wise, but one is seldom an innovator;
moreover, nobody is able to evaluate the decline of his own mental
faculties, because it is precisely the faculty of judging oneself that is the
first to go!

I like to think I have a sense of fair play. In any case, [ relinquished my
responsibilities without a moment’s hesitation, despite my inner regrets;
and afterwards, | refrained from back-seat driving, from harassing my
successors in any way. | listened gratefully to the reports they brought me
and gave my advice when it was sought; but I never tried to impose my own
views. While this behaviour may seem excessively stoical, [ thus main-
tained excellent relations with my successors; in fact, we never had any
difference of opinion.

Although one never really knows what one’s associates think of one
deep down, I believe I was easy to work with, even though I have the
reputation for being authoritative. Still, I've always generously delegated
responsibility and authority to others; I've always listened to contradic-
tions and suggestions with an open mind. My very demanding sense of
responsibility — one of my dominating characteristics — tends to make me
accept all the blame for errors instead of blaming others. Since I'm
fortunate enough to be neither hesitant nor indecisive, I've always made a
point of consulting my partners and associates, putting our heads together
whenever a major decision has to be made. This is not to say that ['ve
always been right! While I have invariably given precedence to my work
over amusement and frivolity, I've certainly erred more by excessive
indulgence towards others than by egocentric bossiness.

When I retired from the front line, I had the impression that the family
team to which I handed over the ball would within a few years benefit from
the homogenous, efficient structure we’d set up, as well as from their own
innovative management. Fate decided otherwise. Only three years later,
the firm with all of its holdings, including the mining companies, was
nationalized — and the Rothschilds were thrown out.
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On several occasions in 1953, René Fillon drew my attention to a man
he'd met in the political circles he frequented at the time. He was full of
praise for this civil servant of rather modest rank (Deputy Commissioner
for Tourism). Fillon nagged me relentlessly, trying to convince me that
this man would make a good recruit for us. A former professor turned civil
servant, he seemed to dislike working for the government; he thought
responsibility was so dispersed that it was finally impossible to bring a
project to completion. Having made up his mind to enter the private
sector, where he was convinced he'd be happier, he was waiting for a good
opportunity.

Since | had no job to offer, | was vaguely evasive each time the subject
came up, until the day René Fillon brought Georges Pompidou to meet
me. ‘You simply cannot refuse him’, he insisted.

Our meeting was cordial. I liked the man; he struck me as being modest
but determined. His physical appearance then was quite different from the
picture of their President as the French remember him: an unaffected and
reassuring mien, a certain stoutness which he assumed without self-
consciousness. At that time, although he wasn’t exactly slender, there
was a sharpness, a keenness in Pompidou's features that was almost
strange.

One of the sectors of our group happened to be causing me concern just
then: Transocean, which we had created after the war to engage in import-
export transactions without resorting to foreign currency payments (as I've
described earlier). The risks we were taking seemed to me out of all
proportion to the results, and | needed a man to run it who had his feet on
the ground. Pompidou must have given me that impression, because I
asked him to make a study of the business and propose solutions to me,
without neglecting to warn him of the difficulties involved. He accepted
unhesitatingly; in fact, the challenge seemed to amuse him.

QOur personal contact was infrequent at first. The Transocean offices
weren't in the rue Laffitte, and we met only once a week. He was reserved
by nature, and I am not very outgoing myself. Our relationship might be
described as courteous, but little more.

[t took the chance event of a business trip to Africa (in connection with
the development of SAGA, our maritime sector) for friendship to
develop. I invited Georges Pompidou to accompany me. Guided by a
former French colonialist, Michel Pasteau, the President of the company,
we spent fifteen days together, visiting West and Equitorial Africa, in
particular Liberia, Guinea and Senegal. There were only the three of us; |
had plenty of time to get to know the man, the vast extent of his culture,
his multi-faceted personality, his curiosity and that mixture of reserve and
human warmth that drew me to him.
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ability to direct and supervise, his innate authority to which his staff
responded from the very start.

[ was astonished by the self-confidence he showed at once. He never
seemed uneasy in the leading role he had to play in all circumstances. He
confided to me later that the need to assert his authority over people older,
sometimes even more competent than himself, had never been a problem
for him. He undoubtedly possessed that rare gift which combines two
normally antagonistic qualities: keen awareness of the fact that his
intelligence and culture allowed him to master any subject, and modesty,
due to which he never made a pretence of knowing what he didn’t know.
He never hesitated to make decisions, nor was he reticent about asking
questions. His self-confidence, both modest and full of awareness, was
certainly one of his fundamental characteristics, long before it became the
foundation of his success.

Pompidou’s rapid ascension therefore created no human relations
problems at the rue Laffitte. With Froment-Meurice, for example, there
was never any friction or rivalry.

['ve already described the development of the bank during this period. I
cannot really say that Pompidou’s management influenced our business
curve, which was already on the upswing; but it's undeniable that his
direction gave our group a new capital of confidence and solidity — also
another dimension. Unlike most highly-placed civil servants who enter
private business, he didn’t bring us a string of contacts with important officials
or with members of ministerial staffs. Pompidou already maintained relations
of a more political nature, but he kept them to himself, never trying to draw
me into these friendships, probably due to his sense of discretion.

What would the bank have become if he'd stayed on? A real question!
Would his prudence, his doubts, have led him to oppose my idea of
transforming Rothschild Fréres into the Banque Rothschild, a corpora-
tion? Would he have encouraged my desire to develop the commercial
banking sector? Who can say . .

[t may seem perfectly natural for two associates who agree on all essential
principles and who respect each other, to become friends, then intimate.

In my case, however, our circle of close friends and the business
community had always been two worlds apart. Marie-Héléne chooses her
friends according to her heart; with her love of fantasy, her generosity, she
is more attracted towards artistic spheres. My natural tendency to separate
my private and professional lives was therefore reinforced by my marriage;
I'd acquired the habit of refusing to impose on my family the business
dinners that generally bore them to tears. One shoot a year at Ferriéres,
that was all.
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ear continually alert. While he always seemed willing to modify his
own opinions, in the end it was always he who won others over to his
side.

His down-to-earth common sense has often been mentioned. It was in
reality more a feminine kind of intuition, in the guise of natural perspi-
cacity. In any case, he certainly elevated plain good sense to the supreme
height of art.

Although he was definitely an intellectual, he instinctively saw things
from a practical point of view. With a classic education and no experience
in the field of economics, he was immediately able to find the simplest
means of resolving the most complex financial problems.

Stable, level-headed, relentlessly persevering in whatever task he
undertook, the two pillars of his action were logic and willpower.

‘Tranquil Strength’ — the caption under Frangois Mitterand’s picture
during his presidential campaign — would have been an accurate descrip-
tion of Pompidou, rather than an empty political slogan.

Georges Pompidou was not a ‘character’ in the sense of a character in a
play or novel, which implies acting a role. He certainly had the wily side of
a peasant whom life has taught to be wary. But he was first and foremost a
man of truth, incapable of cunning or pretence. When he was struck by
sorrow, it was infinitely moving to guess the hurt in the depths of that
strong and stolid man. Nothing gave one a greater feeling of helplessness
than to see him suddenly silent, like a wounded animal, facing his ordeal
with stoicism, trying to let no hint of it appear. Only his eyes, more sombre
than usual, betrayed his inner grief.

He knew how to laugh, but preferred to smile. He enjoyed jokes, but
preferred the kind of humour, rare in France, that is the result of observing
life from a certain distance. Although sceptical of human nature, harbour-
ing no illusions as to its limitations and mediocrity, he was nevertheless
incapable of scorn. Everyone, in fact, has lauded his benevolence, so
evident was it, even to his enemies.

Obstinate but patient, headstrong but adaptable, stubborn but not
inflexible: these traits of his are well known. However, even more than the
‘man of confidence’ as he’s so often been described, he was a man who
inspired confidence, and who gave it to others.

As for his alleged thirst for power, his pronounced taste for leadership,
I'll comment on it when dealing with his political career. In the business
field, while he enjoyed power, it was due to his desire to prove the results of
his analyses. During the years we worked together, | had the impression
that he preferred to collaborate rather than to dominate.

He has sometimes been criticized for his rather developed penchant for
authoritativeness. The reason for it, so it seems to me, is simple: he hated
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had time for it he was only an average player), he concentrated intently on
every card and couldn’t forgive himself the slightest error or moment of
inattention.

He was a go-getter, a winner. However, once victory had been
achieved, there appeared that little smile which seemed to say: ‘So what!’,
accompanied by a twinkle in his eye to show that he wasn’t taken in by the
insignificance of it all.

In the Visitor's Book at Ferriéres, some of our friends used to enjoy
filling in Marcel Proust’s famous questionnaire; Georges Pompidou did so
with good grace in 1959. His replies reveal his simplicity and lack of
affectation. No literary effects, no showing off, no attempt at brilliance.
Just the quality and depth of the man he was:

What is your favourite virtue?

— Modesty

What is the quality you prefer in a man?

— Nobility

What is the quality you prefer in a woman?

— Grace

What are your favourite activities’

— Reading, music

What is your dominant characteristic’

— Obstinacy

What is your idea of happiness’

— At the fireside, in the evening, beside a loved one
What is your idea of unhappiness’

— An aged bachelor

What is your favourite colour, your favourite flower?
—Red. The rose

If not yourself, who would you like to be?

— An artist or writer

Where would you most like to live?

— In Paris or in Italy

Who are your favourite authors’

— Proust, Dostoevsky

Who are your favourite poets?

— Racine, Baudelaire, Shakespeare

Who are your favourite painters and composers’
— da Vinci, Vermeer, Cézanne. Mozart, Beethoven
Who are your favourite heroes in real life?

— de Gaulle

Who are your favourite heroines in real life?

— None

Who is your favourite hero in fiction?

— Fabrice del Dongo

Who are your favourite heroines in fiction?
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a sort of civilian aide-de-camp or, as the English would say, head of his
‘shadow cabinet’.

Of course, | was always curious to hear Georges talk about the General,
to learn what he thought of the political evolution in France. However,
without concealing his close relationship, Pompidou remained discreet.
He was aware of my own ideas and never attempted to influence or
convince me in any way. He simply asserted as self-evident that not only
was de Gaulle a giant of history, but also a genius: he alone had the gift of
visualizing the future. Georges'’s opinion was set, his admiration evident.
Oddly enough, he never tried to convert me, nor even to arrange a
meeting between the General and myself. In his eyes, de Gaulle was the
only man who could save the nation again, but the nation, alas, refused to
listen to him. He was convinced (and often told me so) that de Gaulle’s
retirement was permanent; that circumstances would never permit his
return to power. At that time, who could have believed otherwise?

We very seldom discussed internal politics; the sad spectacle of Parlia-
ment’s return to a state of paralysis had made me lose all interest in public
affairs. But [ enjoyed talking to Georges about what was close to my heart:
Europe, the European Defence Community, our relations with the
Americans and British and, when the Treaty of Rome was finally signed,
the Common Market. As a partisan of some system of European alliance, |
held different views from his; it was a point on which we clashed quite
often. [ think [ can say without conceit that an evolution gradually took
place in Georges’s mind, which would eventually surprise even me. There
will be further proof of it in a moment.

Then it was 13 May 1958. The Algerian rebellion. A period of
indecision which rapidly led to the feeling that only de Gaulle could
restore the authority which was disintegrating every day. As for the
rumoured secret negotiations before and afterwards — the famous ‘“Thirteen
Conspiracies of the Thirteenth of May’ — Pompidou never mentioned the
subject to me. When he didn’t wish to reveal a secret, he didn’t reveal it.
Indeed, he went further: he didn't even reveal the fact that he knew a
secret which he didn’t wish to reveal!

[ personally believe that the notion of a conspiracy concocted long in
advance is just another myth of our political history which, like a sea
serpent when the sea is calm, rises to the surface for a while, only to
disappear again.

In any case, one morning during that month of May, Pompidou
announced that he was going to spend the day at Colombey. That same
evening, he came to see me at the bank and to my great surprise told me
that he was relieved and pleased by the change in de Gaulle’s attitude: he
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person or another. He seemed to be the bearer of the peace pipe to the
circle of medicine men surrounding the Indian Chief; the mediator,
summoned by a common accord, to hand down his calm judgements. He
used to see de Gaulle at least once a week, generally in the evening —
when, as he sometimes confided to me, he usually tried to appease the
General’s irritation with one person or another.

Between 1958 and 1962, Pompidou devoted all his energies to the bank.
He seemed neither unhappy nor frustrated to have descended from the
heights of international politics to the level of practical problems. He
readjusted smoothly to the ordinary (if not exactly easy) work of a ‘small
firm’. It seemed only natural for me to resign from the presidency of the
Société d'Investissements du Nord and turn the job over to him.

[ still feared that his assiduous activity with de Gaulle, modest as it
might appear to be, would one day lead him to make the big leap back onto
the political scene. More precisely, | was convinced that even if Georges
denied any such intention (‘I'll find some way to get out of it’, he told me),
de Gaulle was bound to need him soon. It was always from the General
that messages came for Georges at the bank.

And during a private meeting one evening, de Gaulle cornered him,
leaving him no opportunity to get out of it.

The day after Pompidou’s appointment as Prime Minister, he and
Claude came to dinner. He announced his departure from the bank.
Marie-Héléne was confined to bed, and we dined in her room. During the
conversation, she remarked: ‘I don’t know why, but I have a foreboding
that this is the last time we’ll be together this way.” Georges didn’t say
anything, but I could spot a tear in his eye. As for Claude, she was
thoroughly upset by the thought of the life that lay before her.

There was a note of defiance in de Gaulle’s promotion of a man who'd
never been ‘in politics’, never served in Parliament or as a minister, to the
number one position in his government. But that was the General’s style.
Already, Georges's role of secret negotiator during the undercover
preliminaries to the Evian agreement (which led to the end of the war in
Algeria and its independence), had confirmed my premonition: entrusting
to a man inexperienced in diplomacy such an important mission concern-
ing an affair which menaced the very unity of the nation, was proof of the
total confidence de Gaullé had in him. (It may also have been proof of his
distrust of professional politicians, too busy redesigning the map of the
world to remember to keep their feet on the ground.)

The position Georges Pompidou had occupied at the rue Laffitte was
empty now; I didn’t even attempt to seek a replacement, knowing I could
never find his equal. He was about to be named President of Pennaroya; I
decided to assume personally all of his former functions. I felt by then
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private life, he loved surprises, friendship, song. In fact, he was one of the
rare political figures to reach such heights without ever having aspired to a
political career. A good example was his refusal to move from his
apartment on the [le Saint-Louis to the Matignon palace, which seemed
almost provocative at the time. It was Claude who announced the
decision, with humour and in her characteristic outspoken, spontaneous
manner: ‘I don’t care for secondary residences!’

But then, why did Pompidou accept the office of Prime Minister?

A phrase in that same letter repeats and confirms what he often told me
in person: ‘When I've served my time, I'll leave . . .’ But his admiration
for de Gaulle was unconditional; he couldn’t refuse to undertake a mission
for him. Just long enough to get the machine of State back on the tracks.

But why then, one might insist, did he stay on as Prime Minister for six
years! And above all, why did he become President of France? Contrary to
what some people may think, a ‘taste for power’ had absolutely nothing to
do with it. Georges was a winner. Like all men engaged in a combat with
the future at stake, he could never consider his mission accomplished.
While the reasons for these decisions will remain forever buried in the
depths of his conscience, I can attest to the fact that he was the least
personally ambitious man ['ve ever known.

And so Georges left the rue Laffitte. My personal regret was greater than
my pride in seeing a close friend reach such an eminent position.
Although, as I've said, | wasn't really surprised, I was certainly impressed
by the progress he’d made. The Georges I first met, a bit retiring, a bit shy,
a bit awkward, too courteous and discreet to push himself into the
limelight, had become much more at ease, more self-confident. I'd
witnessed the evolution of an exceptional individual finally asserting
himself in his own eyes. Of course, during his years at the rue Laffitte
Georges hadn’t changed on the political or intellectual plane; but on the
plane of human relations and of faith in his destiny, he was another
person. Or rather, the same person, but more conscious of his worth.

We used to have lunch together, just the two of us, about once a month;
he'd either come discreetly to my Pennaroya office on the Place Vendéme,
or else invite me to Matignon. When circumstances still permitted him to
spend a weekend at Ferriéres, he was the same as ever: still launching into
impassioned discussions with the same outward calm, the same convic-
tion, the same restrained ardour.

During his first few months as Prime Minister, he made a gesture towards
me that was typical of his inherent thoughtfulness: knowing how much I
disliked having to decide upon the salaries of our associates and staff every
year, he insisted that the personnel in charge of this come to see him at the
end of the year so that he could go over with them the salary proposals,
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the rebellion, he was born in Algeria; there were more excuses for his
action. Georges was determined to obtain his pardon at any price. ‘If I fail
to persuade the General, I'll resign. I've told him so.’

Begrudgingly, de Gaulle finally gave in to his arguments and pardoned
Jouhaud. But during the following week, so Georges told me, the furious
President wouldn’t speak to him, answering his questions only in mono-
syllables, like a sulking child. De Gaulle, who had yielded neither to
Churchill, to Roosevelt, nor to destiny, had been obliged to cede to a man
even more obstinate than he. | don't think he enjoyed it.

Thanks to our friendship with the Pompidous, we were often invited to
official receptions and festivities in honour of visiting heads of state. The
Elysée palace, the Opéra, the Chéteau of Versailles — de Gaulle, at the
height of his glory, seemed at home everywhere, without having to dazzle
his guests by displays of fireworks or fountains. He played the role of host
with the slightly blasé, polite nonchalance of someone who would have
preferred to be elsewhere. [ was invited several times to the Presidential
shoots at Marly and had an opportunity there to approach him in a less
‘military’ manner than during our first meeting in London. Extremely
courteous, he was still the same cold, distant personage . . . | never had
the feeling that he was a man to break the ice.

[t was during the events of May 1968 that the French nation measured the
real merits of Georges Pompidou.

Student demonstrations ignited discontent in other sectors, particularly
among the factory workers. There were rowdy demonstrations, occupation
of University buildings, general strikes — in other words, chaos, with an
underlying scent of civil war.

In my view, this was Pompidou’s finest hour, in the sense that a crisis
brings out the true quality of a man. With the government falling apart,
authority disintegrating, he was the rock no tempest could dislodge.

So much has been written to explain (and exploit) these events, that
everyone can find documentary support for their opinions. That’s not the
question. As always after a crisis, everybody claims to have foreseen it long
in advance; but at the time, nobody grasped the significance of what was
happening. And the more delirious the atmosphere, the more the spectre
of revolution loomed — a romantic, dangerous revolution — the more the
government lost its means of control and action. The powerless
administration seemed to behave blindly and ineptly, while giant
demonstrations succeeded one another, like serpents biting their tails.

Some people jumped on a plane; the more impatient politicians jumped
on the bandwagon; the others waited to see which way the wind was
blowing . . . Paris feared the worst.
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During the darkest moment of the storm of 1968, the only man who
seemed to remain cool was Georges Pompidou.

On his return from Afghanistan (where he was on an official visit when
the student demonstrations erupted), it was obvious that he was on his
own. What did it matter whether or not he made a mistake in reopening
the Sorbonne? He'd taken over the reins; that was what counted. For one
thing is sure: at first, Pompidou assessed the full extent of the phenomena
no better than anybody else. But, in riding terms, he brought the horse
back in hand, tried to set the pace that suited him. The still vague threat of
the drama already underlined his profile of tranquil sage. A little authority,
a little liberalism: the professor hoped to calm his unruly class; he’d been
through it before. (He confided to me later one of the reasons for his
apparent hesitation at the beginning: his personal contacts with the labour
unions had given him the assurance that all would return to order if only he
authorized the reopening of the Sorbonne. But if promises were made,
they were not kept.)

So the government drifted, the demonstrations continued — until the
‘meeting of Grenelle’, between leaders of labour, management and the
government, presided over by the Prime Minister himself.

There are numerous accounts of these negotiations. It is my opinion
and, [ think, that of the majority of the French people, that the
government recovered its wits; from then on, Pompidou dominated the
situation. During three days and nights, he gave the impression of filling
every role, smiling and calm, self-assured, surprising the labour union
veterans by his fantastic physical stamina, stupefying everybody by the
sharp, decisive spirit that lay within his rounded form.

Physically, morally, psychologically, he was the man who stood his
ground, and that sufficed. I could distinguish in this a trait of his personal
philosophy: the political error which irritated him most of all, which he
considered unforgivable, was to smile at one’s opponents while ignoring
one’s supporters. On the contrary, he thought one should ignore one’s
opponents and try to attract their adhesion by asserting one’s own
position. Steadfast when the bourgeoisie was going to pieces, he was the
undisputed hero of Grenelle. The game was won, the situation reversed.
Salary increases and other concessions were merely the price of victory.
Pompidou had come through with flying colours.

It's always the final image, if it's an impressive one, that remains
imprinted in the spectator’s mind. Everybody, even those who didn’t
read the papers or who rejected the entire lot of worn-out politicians, was
now convinced that only one person had unshakingly held onto the

helm.

But already another game of chance was under way. A few weeks after
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statesmen, who can't allow matters of state to be influenced by personal
scruples. But in de Gaulle’s case, it also seems to include a sort of disdain
for humanity in general: unconditional supporters lack character; courtiers
are mercenary; the rest are hypocrites. And whatever the evidence of their
mediocrity, all of them are merely insignificant actors on the political and
historical scene of France. You, Georges, on the contrary, and you alone,
have negated this conviction by your virtue, your disinterest, your ability.
Throughout the years, the General has given you countless proofs of his
friendship and esteem. He’s entrusted you with his most personal affairs.
He’s welcomed you into his family, along with your wife and son. He’s kept
you in his government while dismissing everyone else. You are the only
person in whom he’s found a filial devotion, an absence of personal
ambition, an intellectual ‘synergy’. You've had the satisfaction and pride
of being the only person admitted into that inaccessible, haughty fortress,
of being appreciated for your morality and your ability.

‘And then in June of last year, he suddenly treated you like a stranger,
the favourite son sent back to the rank and file. You'd have understood his
decision to make a change of Prime Minister; in fact you'd have agreed
with him. But you weren't prepared for such a cruel dismissal.

‘You're suffering from a wounded heart, my dear Georges, rather than
from wounded pride. To put it bluntly, you thought de Gaulle loved you
like a son, and you're feeling like a son whose father has rejected him.’

Georges remained silent. Our conversation came to an end. But the
next day he said to Marie-Héléne: ‘Guy is very perceptive.’

His removal from the government was not the principal reason for
Georges's distress. It was the manner in which it had been handled. It
seemed to destroy his image, the image he had of himself. So haughty and
off-hand a reply from de Gaulle, his coldness, his aloofness. Pompidou
must have often been a witness to the same behaviour towards others; for
the first time, he was the victim.

No doubt of it, he was wounded; I could almost see the blood. Other
circumstances, alas! would make it even worse.

A little while later, the Markovic affair erupted: a murky scandal set off
by the mysterious murder of a Yugoslav refugee, in which the yellow press
implicated by innuendo celebrities from the world of cinema, art. . . and
even, by insinuation, the name of Madame Pompidou. (Faked photo-
graphs were circulated.)

Not only did the blow of this outrageous calumny strike Georges in his
most sensitive spot: his honour as a man, husband and father (though
practically invulnerable to criticism, he’d fly into a rage if anyone dared to
make a disparaging remark about Claude or his son Alain), but even more:
he discovered the ignobility of humanity, the real nature of politics, the






182 The Whims of Fortune

(where, according to the AFP correspondent, Pompidou implied that he
might have a ‘national destiny’), he assured me repeatedly that there had
never been in the back of his mind the slightest ulterior motive, the
slightest intention of undermining the General’s position. When Marie-
Héleéne asked him the direct question, he replied: ‘I swear I didn’t have the
least political interest in talking to those reporters. There was never any
“appel de Rome”. It was all a pure invention of the press. I fell into a trap.’

After the referendum (I can’t remember whether it was before or after
Pompidou’s election as President of France), Marie-Héléne told him of a
presentiment that haunted her:

‘Georges,’ she said, ‘your life has been dominated by the number seven:
seven years as a professor, seven years in the Ministry of Tourism, seven
years at the bank, seven years as Prime Minister. This means that you can’t
be re-elected for a second term. But what ['m saying is nonsense, because
who could ever defeat you?”’

Marie-Héléne was unaware of his malady, and could not have imagined
that death was to make her prediction come true.

After Pompidou became President of France, our meetings were less
frequent. | suppose we both by tacit agreement considered it advisable to
avoid laying ourselves open to criticism. He was too respectful of his
position to make social visits, even to see close friends, and he no longer
came to Ferriéres for the weekend. Once though, when Marie-Héléne was
very ill, protocol gave precedence to friendship, and he came to have
dinner at the foot of her bed, after every precaution had been taken to
ensure his visit remained in the greatest secrecy. I continued to accept the
invitations to the annual Presidential shoots, and we attended a few
private receptions at the Elysée palace. .

Nevertheless, the presidential function created a certain distance
between us. Georges himself didn't change, nor were our feelings affected
by his lofty position, by any secret wish to impress, to uphold a certain
prestige. | think it more likely that the first effects of his mortal illness (a
rare form of leukaemia) altered Georges’s relationships with all of his close
friends. One evening at the Opera, [ was struck to find him so bloated, so
ill at ease, almost running away as if he wished to hide his malady, even
before it had become a subject of speculation.

[ had lunch alone with him one day about two months before he died.
He gave me the impression then of really being himself again. He was well,
he sat down, got up again, laughed; he was bright-eyed, rosy-cheeked. |
was relieved, truly happy. The calendar seemed to have been turned back
fifteen years! | was convinced that his health was improving.

One of his close associates told me later that Pompidou, without
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But the next morning, the duck had the last laugh: it was still waiting,
just as patiently, but this time in a corner of the pink room in Paris! And
the solution to the mystery was clear: Georges Pompidou had chosen the
same duck, the third one, for us, and had had it delivered to Ferriéres.
Familiar with the habits of the household, he knew that Marie-Héléne
systematically re-wrapped every package, so he’d seen no point in having it
gift-wrapped!

Three months before his death, it was more than a coincidence. It was
an omen. We were still on the same wavelength.

It’s too soon to know what place Georges Pompidou will occupy in the
history of France. In my opinion, he will increase in stature as time goes
by.

Let me offer a few pieces of evidence: some people have tried to
minimize his achievements, to reduce them to the simple ambition of
industrializing France. Yes, but the trend had already started. The paradox
is that this man of peasant background and Mediterranean culture should
have applied all his strength and will to accelerating the process. But that
isn't the most important point.

Pompidou inherited the overwhelming task of succeeding a great man.
Who could follow a head of state so solitary on his Mount Olympus? Who
else but a head of state who was close to the French people. The mere fact
that no decline of prestige or authority ensued seems to me a miracle. The
fact that the transition from a superman to a normal one should have been
made through such an unassuming person seems to me an irony of history.
And the fact that, after the de Gaulle mystique, the French never had the
feeling that his too-heroic statue was being overturned, will always remain
to Pompidou’s credit.

[t was thanks to him that the institutions of the Fifth Republic acquired
stability. After the grandeur and the dream, the nation needed a realist.
Georges Pompidou was able to fill that role, he whose soul was instilled
with sensitivity and poetry! This man attuned to the rhythm of the earth
was able to lead the nation forward, slowly but surely, like a peasant taking
his time to reach the end of the furrow.

On 2 April 1974, we were dining with my cousin Alain when my son
David called to tell me that the radio had just announced the death of
Georges Pompidou. We were stunned, speechless. Emotion and sorrow
gripped our hearts. Marie-Héléne and I left like robots, unable even to say
good-bye. For almost an hour, Marie-Héléne couldn’t utter a word. We

were joined by friends; we sat up all night long talking about him.
A few days later, Le Monde published an article: ‘As [ Knew Him’, in
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CHAPTER

13

Bread, Butter and Garlic

While [ naturally concentrated all of my energies during the immediate
postwar period on revitalizing the ‘dear old bank’, I never lost from view
our long-standing family engagement in industry. How could I guess that
years later a combination of coincidences and of voluntary decisions would
involve me in what was to become a French multi-national enterprise:

IMETAL.
IMETAL . . . adifficult but thrilling adventure.

During the thirty years following World War 11, the economic develop-
ment of the western world rose to record-breaking heights. It was as if our
own Chateau-Lafite had produced thirty exceptional vintages in suc-
cession! Much has been written about the American boom, the German
and Japanese ‘miracles’, which produced tremendous growth in the major
corporations of those countries. But in France, apart from a few excep-
tions, our industries had lacked scope; just as lack of size was restricting the
development of our own bank. During the previous century, my family
maintained traditional interests in raw materials; never, however, to the
point of acquiring control of the companies in which they invested. So
when [ was encouraged to become active in this sector, | had no idea how
far it would lead us. It’s a long story — which began in 1962 and lasted until
1981.

The concrete, tangible aspect of the mining business contrasted sharply
with the rather monotonous abstraction of figures and accounts that is the
banker's lot. It appealed to the down-to-earth side of my nature, which is
generally attributed to people like myself who were born under the sign of
Taurus. Another point of contrast: whereas industry is generally con-
centrated within the developed countries, raw materials are imbued with a
romantic flavour of wild, untamed frontiers . . . In my younger days, the
giant English Rhodesian and South African mining companies were
among the most glamorous and respected institutions of their time.

My family had always been one of the major shareholders in the British
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It was intellectually taxing. However, I was quite surprised when one
day the Board was asked to approve the cost of psychiatric treatment for
the chief executive of one of the foreign subsidiaries who had suffered a
nervous breakdown.

My family also owned 10 per cent of the capital of a French mining
corporation which it had helped found in 1881 and of which we were still
the largest individual shareholders: Pennaroya.

[t had started out by operating a coal mine in Spain that was discovered
in a most unusual way: a shepherd living in the region had a dog called ‘El
Terrible’, who used to roam about the countryside during his master’s
siesta. He returned several times with his collar soiled by a blackish
substance that intrigued the shepherd. One day he followed his dog and
thus came upon the coal deposits of Pennaroya, a small village which still
displays El Terrible’s collar in its local museum.

The company later expanded its activities to include lead and zinc
mines in Spain, France, Italy, North Africa and Brazil, as well as several
small copper mines in Chile.

[t has always been difficult to extract lead and zinc, two metals generally
present in the same ore, which is widespread on our planet. Lead has been
utilized for ages and is still extracted, smelted and refined using artisans’
methods — that is to say, anyone can do it on a small scale. But, as in
agriculture, so many producers are involved that it is impossible to keep
production in line with varying world consumption, and the price
fluctuates from (occasionally) high to (frequently) low. Most of Penna-
roya’s mines had a modest output; their installations were either too small
or too out-of-date and inefficient. A modernization programme required
important investments at a time when the slumping metal market was
causing a drain on the company treasury.

Since 1884, my family also had a stake in nickel. It had been associated
with the founding of the Société Le Nickel (SLN) for explorations in New
Caledonia.

Since the dawn of mankind until the 18th century, nickel was con-
sidered not a metal but an unidentified alloy. Around 1650, some miners
in Saxony working in the silver, cobalt and copper mines in the mountains
there, came across an ore which, when refined, had a different colour from
the ore which they were seeking. Unable to melt it down, they called it
‘Kupfernickel’; being superstitious, they considered it an evil product of
‘Nick’, the mischievous mountain elf whose brother ‘Kobalt’ had already
given his name to that metal. Quite the opposite of lead and zinc, nickel is
found in very few regions of the world and can be treated only on a large
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able to name him chief executive even sooner than I'd hoped. From the
start, we had a harmonious relationship. During seventeen years, our
mutual confidence never faltered. (When I retired, I asked him to become
Chairman of the Board of IMETAL, in addition to his Pennaroya post.)

The new management which took over Pennaroya in 1962 faced some
serious problems: technical problems to start with, of which the most
complicated was the adjustment of a new furnace at the zinc foundry in
Nouvelle-Godault, not far from Paris. Originally built to furnish an output
of 30,000 tons per year, it was far from attaining that production level.
However, after several years of effort, our engineers succeeded in increas-
ing its annual output to . . . 120,000 tons!

Next there were problems of a commercial nature. The company, not
yet equipped to handle its own marketing, had to depend on an outside
commercial organization. This had to be remedied.

Then the financial problems: we had to provide Pennaroya with the
financial means for acquiring a number of small companies — small
producers of lead and zinc oxides, as well as scrap metal firms.

Finally, there was politics: after lengthy negotiations with the local
government in Sardinia, we succeeded in liquidating the mines we had
been operating there without the slightest hope of ever breaking even.

In 1967, nonferrous metals were pulling out of the slump, and we seized
the opportunity to infuse fresh capital into Pennaroya in order to reduce its
indebtedness as well as to finance new technical developments at the
Noyelle-Godault foundry and in various mines. I'd learned through my
experience with Rio Tinto that the vitality of an industrial concern
depends on its financial strength, so I sought to give Pennaroya the
financing it required. It was the period when COFIREP (of which I wrote
earlier) had a lot of cash and had also lost its oil exploration assets in
Algeria. I therefore suggested that COFIREP buy one million six hundred
thousand shares of Pennaroya for 160 million francs. The Annual General
Meetings of both companies voted in favour of this transaction, as a result
of which COFIREP acquired 40 per cent of Pennaroya. Another 10 per
cent was owned by the Compagnie du Nord (along with 10 per cent of
SLN). When COFIREP merged with the Compagnie du Nord a short
while later, the entire 50 per cent were thus in the same hands.

In order to complete the structure, | wanted to merge Pennaroya and Le
Nickel into a single company, with a single management, which would
exploit the entire range of nonferrous metals. At this point, the Com-
pagnie du Nord held 1o per cent of the capital of SLN and 50 per cent of
Pennaroya. | then proceeded to the final stage of the operation: the
Compagnie du Nord exchanged its 50 per cent holding in Pennaroya for
shares representing 20 per cent of the capital of SLN (which itself
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SLN, believing that I'd be in a stronger position than he to handle the
negotiations. And so [ abandoned the presidency of Pennaroya to assume
that of the mother company, SLN.

During the prosperous 1960s, we had formed an association with Kaiser
Aluminum for the purpose of considerably increasing the production
capacity of our nickel foundry in Nouméa. At the time, extracting nickel
from the rich mines in Caledonia was very profitable. But the capital
required for the important expansion we had in mind was far too great for
our company to provide without borrowing dollars on a medium term
basis. At the first signs of another economic crisis, the Kaiser management
became alarmed and decided to pull out. It's never advisable to try to hang
on to a reluctant partner. But SLN was already overstretched, and we
wondered what we should do.

As [ was studying this apparently insoluble problem, Pierre Guillaumat,
Chairman of Pétroles d’Aquitaine, informed us as a matter of courtesy that
his company intended to diversify by going into nickel production,
exploiting deposits in another part of Caledonia. Although the conclusion
for us was evident, we considered the matter very carefully and for some
time before initiating negotiations with Aquitaine. Our purpose was
threefold: to find a replacement for Kaiser; to prevent the arrival in
Caledonia of a competitor; and to obtain from the government, always
pleased to see a state-controlled company (as is Aquitaine) increase its
territory, a new tax statute in New Caledonia. From Guillaumat’s point of
view, it was clearly much cheaper to buy into a going concern than to start
from scratch on his own.

After several months of negotiations, we came to an agreement: all of
the nickel industry belonging to SLN was conveyed to a new subsidiary
which bought out the Kaiser interests, and half of it was sold to Aquitaine
for 573 million francs; the government gave its blessing by granting the tax
modification we had been seeking.

At the time, I didn’t realize how vital it would be for us later to have
divested ourselves of half of the nickel industry. In 1979, at the meeting
during which I retired from the Chairmanship, I sat next to the Governor
of the Société Générale de Belgique, who whispered in my ear: ‘You were
really smart to have sold your half-share in Nickel.” To which I replied:
‘And I was an ass not to have sold the other half!’

Since the corporate name of SLN went to the nickel subsidiary, we had
to find a new one for our mother company. We finally decided on

IMETAL.

At the time these complicated negotiations were going on, nickel was a
highly coveted metal and our high-grade deposits were greatly envied.
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behaviour, one’s unimpeachable attitude. What a surprise to be told that
in the United States one must show as low a profile as possible; answer
questions with ‘yes’ or ‘no’, or preferably ‘I don’t know’! Our litigating
lawyer made us rehearse our parts, and instructed us to act ‘ignorant and
dumb’.

Our takeover bid had aroused a great deal of public interest. A man who
recognized me in a hotel lift one day said: ‘I hope you win!’ (I think he must
have had a bet on me!)

[ was invited to appear before a State Inquiry Board presided over by an
Ohio senator, because the Copperweld management had spread the
rumour that if our takeover bid was successful, we would close a factory
located in that state. My lawyers made me politely decline. Union
delegates paraded in front of the Capitol and the French Embassy in
Washington, carrying banners with inscriptions hostile to ‘the Baron’.
The press published numerous articles about my ‘invasion’; some for, some
against. Congressmen and government officials were interviewed. Even
the American Embassy in Paris and the French Embassy in Washington
were brought into the ‘affair’.

The case was to come to court in the middle of September in Pittsburgh.
We decided | would attend all of the sessions in order to familiarize myself
with the procedure, and also as a gesture of courtesy towards the sole
presiding judge.

On the second day of the hearings, as | was leaving for lunch, I was
accosted in the street by a few labour union members who wanted to give
me a petition bearing 100,000 signatures, which was stuffed in several
large canvas bags. In the presence of television cameras, I assured them
that | had no intention of depriving them of their jobs. I then said that I
couldn’t accept the bags because I had no means of transporting them.
They replied that neither did they. ‘Then we're in the same boat!’ [ said, as
[ walked calmly away with my lawyer, after shaking hands (but with a
feeling that they hadn’t understood my attempt at humour), and adding:
‘God bless you and goodbye!" When we were out of earshot, I said: ‘In
France, they'd have given me a much rougher time!’ To which he replied:
‘You forget the fact that they all vote Republican!’

The judge took a dim view of this demonstration in front of the
courthouse involving one of the parties in the case he was hearing. From
then on, the Marshal was instructed to escort me through a back door.

Smith’s lawyers tried to prove that IMETAL and myself were part of a
giant conspiracy involving all the public and private companies that had
the slightest direct or indirect connection with us; and that poor little
Copperweld was about to be strangled in this monstrous spider’s web.

The next day [ was on the witness stand all morning. Following my
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Pennaroya was either the first or second world producer of lead; SLN the
second, on a par with Falkenbridge. MINEMET, the commercial branch,
built an efficient international organization, and its research centre near
Paris is reputed for its technical and industrial creativity. In 1980,
notwithstanding a loss for SLN, IMETAL recorded a consolidated profit of
200 million francs, 25 to 30 francs per share.

The world situation of nickel has taken a most unfavourable turn, with
nobody having foreseen it as far as | know. In our case, as French
producers, the principal cause of losses was the decline in the value of the
dollar during the decade between 1970 and 1980. IMETAL thus suffered
all the ups and downs of the particularly cyclical raw material industry,
aggravated by a recession in the nickel sector, which had been so long
considered the crown jewel.

When [ retired in 1979, the shareholders had not yet benefited as I'd
hoped from our endeavours and achievements, among which Copperweld
was outstanding, its dollar value having doubled within six years. This
business, with which I was closely associated until my retirement, was the
one from which [ derived the greatest satisfaction. It was conceived and
managed completely outside the bank; among my responsibilities, it was a
field apart, due to its intrinsic nature, but also to the different group of
people with whom I worked. In spite of the essential weakness of an
industry based on non-ferrous metals, | was proud of having achieved what
[ did for the rue Laffitte. The Compagnie du Nord, with 20 per cent of the
capital, was by far the largest individual shareholder in this multi-national
mining company.

As | was finishing the chapter in 1982, the impact of the world
depression in base metals had become so far-reaching that one could
wonder if businesses of that kind would manage to survive. Today I find it
doubly sad to see IMETAL now government-controlled, staggering under
the weight of the slump.

All that remains for me is the remembrance of our efforts, our
difficulties, our dreams . . .
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Robert. My eye kept coming back to a rather small, compact two-year-old
colt. His name was Ilex, and he was considered mediocre, but I couldn’t
help liking him. Trusting in my lucky stars (or perhaps motivated by the
superb innocence of youth), I asked my father to give him to me. Amused
by the idea and as happy as could be to see me share his passion at last, he
was only too willing to do so.

The cadet training course at Saumur kept me busy all winter far from
Chantilly; when it was over | was given, along with the rank of second
lieutenant, a ten-day leave. This happened to coincide with the opening
of the racing season, and Lucien Robert informed me that ‘my colt’ would
have his first run two days later at Le Tremblay, a charming small
racecourse on the outskirts of Paris (which has since disappeared). My
mother went with me. In fact, she practically held my hand.

My colours were those of my father in his youth: blue and yellow hoops,
yellow cap. There were twenty horses entered in the race. Ilex, considered
hardly in the running, started at odds of 18 to 1, and to the general
surprise, he won. My mother beamed, and I felt as if I'd passed another
examination — with honours.

Then came the garrison life of a young officer at Pontoise, instructing
the recruits, long riding sessions, and the officers’ mess with its traditional
rites. | forgot all about Ilex, who ran twice again, unplaced. Nevertheless,
in July I entered him in a semi-classic race, the Prix Eugéne Adam, which
at the time was run at Maisons-Laffitte. Because it was a Sunday, [ was able
to attend; this time it was my father who accompanied me. The favourite
was Parsee, who had also been one of the favourites in the French Derby
but had failed to stay the course. Halfway up the straight, Parsee was in the
lead; then Ilex accelerated and beat him by a comfortable margin. [ was
elated.

As we drove home, I said to my father: ‘If you had kept Ilex, you
wouldn’t have won that race.’

‘Why not?’ he asked.

‘Because you'd never have thought of entering him in it.’

He didn’t reply, but smiled thoughtfully.

When | made my first appearance at Longchamp as a new owner in the
autumn of 1949, I felt intimidated and inexperienced, as if I were entering
a new life. My colours were to appear in a ‘classic’ race, the Prix Royal
Oak, a long-distance event in which I'd engaged two horses: Violoncelle,
who had had some previous ‘useful’ performances and was my first choice;
and his stable-mate Ciel Etoilé, who was there to make the running. He
did it so well that in the straight, when he was expected to fall back, he
kept going all the faster and was first past the winning post. For an initial
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faster pace, Laumain kept him going. All the way round and up the hill
there was no major change, but downhill Vieux Manoir, well placed till
then, fell back, and it looked as if it was going to be a repeat of his
performance at Epsom. So | gave him up to concentrate on Alizier, who
stayed in the lead through the last bend. Attacked in the straight, he
fought off all challengers, and my hopes were rising fast. Suddenly there
appeared from nowhere a horse that was literally gobbling up the whole
field, and my heart sank. Defeat was inevitable. Then, in a flash, I took a
closer look at the intruder and, to my amazement, recognized Vieux
Manoir. Before | had time to realize what was happening, he had won by
four lengths. Alizier was second, having resisted all the others till the end.
A triumphant ovation greeted the winning team which, hat in hand, I led
back to the enclosure, glowing with pleasure. Less happy, undoubtedly,
was Jean Laumain, whose experience served to confirm the racecourse
legend that if the Rothschild stable has two horses entered in a race, the
stable jockey is sure to choose the wrong one.

The following Sunday, Ocarina, sound at last, won the Grand Prix de St
Cloud at a canter; and in August, Alizier had no trouble at all in winning
the Grand Prix de Deauville. In the autumn, Violoncelle confirmed his
earlier good performance and won what is now called the Prix du Conseil
de Paris (Group II).

In only six months, the Rothschild stable, plundered by the Nazis, had
made the most fantastic comeback! It was top of the list at the end of the
year in front of Marcel Boussac’s, which had dominated the French turf for
twenty years. In one season, | had accumulated a rarely achieved number
of classic victories, any one of which would have been enough to make an
owner proud.

It is said that in the racing game beginner’s luck is often followed by a
period of purgatory. Such was the case with me. Vieux Manoir had proved
to be unsuited to Epsom, and now Ciel Etoilé met misfortune in the Gold
Cup at Ascot. At the time, there was no security system on English
racecourses, and he was ‘got at’ (maliciously and harmfully drugged).
Wildly overexcited at the start, he collapsed halfway and finished last by
several hundred yards. As for Vieux Manoir, he ran at Doncaster in
September in the St Leger and was the favourite. But the interminable
straight, more than half a mile long, proved too much for his jockey’s
patience; he drew out two furlongs too soon and was beaten by a Boussac
horse that was ridden with greater restraint. Shortly thereafter, a tendon
gave way during training and his racing days were over. Alizier replaced
him in the Arc de Triomphe and finished second, beaten by Tantiéme.

Vieux Manoir stood at stud at Meautry and became famous as a sire of
sires, his sons including Val de Loir, Mourne and Le Haar; one of his







202 The Whims of Fortune

Oaks and never got clear, but she came second in the Grand Prix de Paris,
after entering the straight twenty lengths behind the leader. In the
summer, she won the Grand Prix de Deauville by such a margin that it was
impossible to find a photo of her finish which also showed the runner-up! |
thought that, thanks to her, | had for the first time a really good chance in
the Arc de Triomphe. But once again, a tendon gave way and she never
raced again. At stud, she gave birth to many top-class performers, in
particular the world-famous stallion Luthier. So you see, there are times
when one thinks one has a handful of aces, and then suddenly one horse
falls lame, another turns sour, a third disappoints. In the racing game,
nothing is more fickle than success. (But what an incomparable joy when
one achieves it!)

Of all the horses I've bred at Meautry, the most prestigious is Exbury.
We nicknamed him ‘le petit’ (the little fellow), since he measured barely
15.2 hands at the withers. But what a big heart he had within his relatively
small body and behind his calm and modest manners! As a two-year-old,
he ‘showed something’, but no more. At three, he won the Prix Daru
Group I, finished third in the French Derby and second to Match in the
Grand Prix de St Cloud. The following year, with Deforge the new stable
jockey, Exbury was unbeaten, winning four top-class races, including the
Coronation Cup at Epsom. When the day arrived for the Arc de
Triomphe, the ‘test of tests’, the veritable world championship of
thoroughbred racing, his entire reputation was at stake. If he won, he'd be
the undisputed ‘Horse of the Year'.

A rainstorm the day before made us fear that a mile and a half of heavy
going would be too much for him. Moreover, with an unusually large
number of runners in the field, there was a risk that Deforge, who liked to
wait behind, would be unable to find a clear run in the straight. The
favourite was Relko, trained by Francois Mathet, who had cantered away
with the Epsom Derby with disconcerting ease. Despite the presence of
many other first-class competitors, such as Sanctus, winner of the French
Derby and the Grand Prix de Paris, everyone expected to see a titanic
struggle between Relko and Exbury.

Squeezed together among the friends that filled our box, Marie-Héléne
and | awaited the start, tense with anxiety, our hearts beating like mad.
The field broke fast and compact, with Tang, our lead horse, in front.
Coming into the straight, when some of the horses were already drawing
out, Deforge was hampered at first in his effort to get clear. But then began
one of those spectacular, thrilling comebacks which one can never be sure
of lasting till the finishing post. We were screaming our heads off, and
Marie-Héléne was leaning so far over the front of our box that she had to
be held back to prevent her from falling out; while Leon Zitrone, the
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colt White Label won a good race at Longchamp, but was disqualified for
interfering. It was obviously not our lucky day!

Two weeks later, I entered two horses in the Grand Prix de Paris,
including White Label; but after thinking it over, | decided he was not
quite good enough for the event and so withdrew him. The next day the
stewards asked me to reverse my decision because there was a sweepstake
on the race and they had insufficient runners. | did — and he won! This
stroke of luck made up for my recent misfortunes. | even received a present
of two cases of White Label whisky from the dealer.

As can be seen, England is not lucky for me, even though I've won the
Coronation Cup twice and the Eclipse Stakes once. But in the 1959 Epsom
Derby, my horse Shantung was kicked at the start and his jockey, Palmer,
thinking the horse might have been hurt, let him drop into last place.
Coming into the straight, Shantung recovered, sprinted past the field and
finished third. Many spectators thought he should have won. Then the
next year, in the Oaks at Epsom, Shantung’s half-sister Imberline was
battling up the straight against Never Too Late (who had won the 1,000
Guineas) and was gaining on her rival. Alas, her jockey hadn’t noticed
that the leading filly, just in front of him, was dropping back. Fifty yards
from the winning post, he had to pull up short in order to avoid a collision,
and finally finished third behind (faint consolation) two other French
fillies.

The British cheer loudly when one of their horses wins at Longchamp or
Chantilly, but at home their famous reserve returns, and apart from some
discreet applause, the winner is greeted back in surprising silence. During
the incident which cost Imberline a win in the Oaks, Marie-Héléne
exploded so loudly that my English cousin, Evelyn de Rothschild, feared
that our family would be discredited forever in the eyes of British
racegoers. :

In 1977, | had several good horses, among them Lightning, unbeaten
winner of five excellent races. We decided to run him in the Benson &
Hedges Gold Cup at York in August. Ridden by Yves St Martin, he took a
good start in typical St Martin style, but after a few yards fell back and
finished unplaced. His uncharacteristic behaviour made us think at first
that he’d been drugged. Then we remembered that he was a ‘cribber’,
although this had never affected his racing performances before. It must
have been during the plane trip from France that he had filled his stomach
with air and thus arrived completely out of form. Unfortunately, his bad
habit only got worse, and after one more unsuccessful racing try, we had to
give up. A pity, because he was a good horse.

For thirty years Geoff Watson was a remarkable trainer for us, especially
of fillies. He won the French Oaks five times: once for my brother-in-law
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there is no universally effective training programme; it must be made to
measure for each individual. Neither is it enough to be able to evaluate a
horse’s possibilities, nor even to know how to bring him progressively into
the peak of form on the day of the race. The trainer also has to select the
most appropriate races to enter him in. Frangois Mathet was a past master
of this art, and wouldn’t hesitate to send a colt of modest talents to a
distant provincial racecourse in order to run — and win — some small event.

The trainer also has the responsibility of selecting and directing a large
staff, considering the advice of veterinary surgeons, and above all,
supervising the condition of the horses in his care: their feed, health, legs,
rate of development, idiosyncracies, temperament and talents. He also has
to be a good diplomat, especially when dealing with inferior horses,
because owners generally remain loyal when all goes well, but become
upset when results are disappointing, often harbouring the illusion that all
it takes to put things right again is to change the trainer.

The riding tactics of jockeys are endlessly discussed, but few people realize
that they have to perform under conditions of great physical stress. Most
races are run at an average speed of over 36 miles per hour, and the jockey
has to be able to distinguish between a speed of 35 or 37 m.p.h. Moreover,
racehorses can pull very hard, with a force of some 150 pounds on each
arm, which requires considerable effort and often causes aching muscles.
He also needs a lot of wind. In these conditions, it isn’t easy to be adroit
and clever at the same time. The best jockeys finally ride by instinct, and
seize, as if by automatic reflex, opportunities that less experienced riders
would have missed.

Jockeys are supposed to obey the orders of the trainer who, after all, is
the person most intimately familiar with the horse and its ability. But at
the same time, he has to possess sufficient initiative to be able to adjust the
strategy to the way in which the race is actually run. ‘It’s the field that gives
the orders’, is the way one jockey put it. And there’s always the risk that his
improvisation won’t work out, in which case he’ll get all the blame. A
good jockey can win a race through strategy or skill, but he can seldom
succeed with an inferior horse; whereas a bad jockey can miss many an
opportunity. ‘

One of the most impressive moments of my racing career was as a
spectator, when [ was dazzled by Yves St Martin’s ride on Rescousse in the
1972 French Oaks. She was a very ‘free’ filly and had to be held back as late
as possible. Unfortunately, she made a flying start, so St Martin decided it
was best to stay in front, although it was contrary to the trainer’s
instructions. He managed to quieten and balance her, setting a false pace
(a tactic in which he excels), then letting her sprint along the straight,
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name, look upon him as the man who is about to triumph or to fail. As
starting time approaches, he can feel his blood-pressure rise, his mouth
becomes dry. He observes the proceedings as in a dream, and when the
horses enter the starting stalls at last, his binoculars are shaking so much
that he can hardly see them. Suddenly, they're off! What a contrast to the
oppressive slowness of the waiting hours! Everything happens so fast! In
the confusion of colours, he seeks his own, like a sailor seeking a familiar
rock in a stormy sea. Ah, there they are. But how can he be sure that all is
going well? At the last bend, when the field turns to run towards the
stands, the public is on its feet and he tries in vain to see through the solid
mass of hats and shoulders. He can hardly breathe. Where’s my horse? All
of a sudden, he spots it. He’s coming, he’s drawing out, he’s going to win!
No, another horse comes up to challenge him. For fifty yards, one
hundred, the suspense is at its peak: will it be victory or defeat? Finally,
luck is with him; the horse’s stride is unfaltering, he’s in the lead, he’s in
front all alone; for the moment he and his horse are the centre of the
universe, all else forgotten. Surprised by victory, he can’t quite believe in
the joy that surges in him. He leaves the stands, walking on air, to lead his
horse into the paddock. He is treated like a hero, surrounded by a crush of
friends and admirers. He rejoices inwardly, but outwardly contains his
delight, remembers the social graces: be polite, answer questions, say
thank you.

Bad days are just as depressing as good ones are exhilarating. That
fleeting moment of joy is replaced by an overwhelming feeling of frustra-
tion. What went wrong? Why and how?! He leaves the stands dejected,
worried and lonely. Glory has changed sides. He feels almost ashamed,
he'd like to explain, to justify himself. He disappears as quickly and
discreetly as possible.

Become a racehorse owner if you enjoy a thrill and are not afraid to
suffer. But cardiacs, beware!

The breeder’s role may seem less stressful than that of the owner, trainer or
jockey, but it is the most difficult of all. It begins with a study of all the
theories, the ‘science’ of mixing blood lines, of blending the qualities of
the ancestors; but the breeder still has to rely on his intuition. He arranges
a mating. Some 340 days later, a foal is born, wobbly-legged and hardly
giving a clue as to his future ability. Has he inherited the qualities of his
dam, or the faults of his sire? The breeder observes his first year of growth,
wavering between hope and doubt. The foal goes into training. The
greatest promise is sometimes shown by the least likely individuals. Hopes
soar. Then comes the moment of the maiden race — and he starts out from
‘square one’ again.
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Robert Sangster, who heads a powerful syndicate that breeds and buys the
most expensive yearlings, spending several million dollars every year,
hoping to win the classic races in Europe and to sell the winners as stallions
in the United States for enormous prices. Robert Sangster owns, in various
parts of the world, some 325 horses, trained by 48 different trainers; if you
include the brood mares, foals and yearlings, he must have some seven or
eight hundred horses. He seems to run his business very well, considering
his unprecedented exploit in 1982 of winning in the same year the Epsom
Derby, the Irish Derby and the French Derby. But this still doesn’t alter
the fact that present-day prices for thoroughbreds have no economic
foundation. They remind me of an article on kinetics | read some time ago:
a stone falls down a mountainside, but if it were placed on the ground it
would, notwithstanding the slope, remain immobile. So why does it fall?
Answer: it falls because it falls. The same applies to horses. Stallions are
expensive because their produce is expensive; but this is expensive only
because the good colts will become expensive stallions. The equine dog is
running after his tail. Horses are expensive because they are expensive.

But money isn’t everything, not even in racing. Nature is unimpressed by
the cost of an expensive mating and quite willing to reward talent or good
luck. In my own case, | decided to upgrade my stock with a few sound
acquisitions, rather than to launch into a costly buying spree which would
have been contrary to my innate sense of moderation. I've been fortunate
enough to obtain for reasonable sums the dams of Exbury, Shantung,
Haltilala (winner of Group I Prix Vermeille) and La Bamba (one of the
best fillies I ever owned).

Marie-Héléne and Alexis de Redé say that I'm better at buying
yearlings for others than for myself. Every year they entrust me with the
task of selecting a colt at the Deauville Sales for them to buy in
partnership; for a while, Alexis also wanted a filly for himself. In 1970, |
picked Pleben as the colt and Rescousse as the filly. Both were quite
cheap. Two years later, Pleben won the Grand Prix de Paris and the
French St Leger, while Rescousse won the Prix de Diane (the French
Oaks) and was second in the Arc de Triomphe. One can appreciate the
incredible luck involved when one considers that many large stables,
despite years of endeavour, have never won any of these classics. A
newspaper had a computer evaluation made of the statistical probability
of buying such a miraculous pair of yearlings, and found that there is one
chance in 362 million!

[ will conclude this chapter with a true story that illustrates the unpredict-
able ups and downs in the life of every horse-lover. It is recent, but dates a
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little competitive spirit. In 1979, she gave birth to a chestnut colt, the first
son of Pharly; he struck me as being so ugly that I immediately sold the
nomination I'd bought for another of my mares that year with the same
sire. Marie-Héléne, who always finds wonderful names for our horses,
called him ‘Le Nain Jaune’ (The Yellow Dwarf), which was the title of a
book she liked. As he grew up, Le Nain Jaune improved a little, but
Frangois Mathet had his hands full trying to reform his bad behaviour and
he didn’t run until he was a three-year-old.

He started with two useful wins, better than expected, and I began to
wonder whether, like his mother, he might not improve and to what
extent. Two second places followed, which seemed to presage no brilliant
future. All the same, we ran him in the Grand Prix de Paris of 1982. Run at
a fast pace, it was a true test of stamina. Le Nain Jaune won decisively, and
the public cheered our colours with enthusiasm — which was particularly
heart-warming after the bitter recent experience of having the family bank
nationalized.

During a luncheon party before the race, Alexis de Redé had given us all
a yellow rose to wear for luck. In the winner’s paddock, I slipped mine into
Le Nain Jaune’s halter, as a way of saying ‘Thank you’ to him. After the
race, a friend pointed out that my last three winners of the Grand Prix de
Paris had all borne names with a colour in them: White Label, Soleil Noir

and Le Nain Jaune. He asked if he could look forward to seeing a ‘Green
Streak’ or a ‘Blue Ribbon’!

Racing memoirs generally end with a melancholy outlook on the future of
the sport. It’s undeniable that higher costs, erosion of wealth and heavier
taxation give cause to question the future of the racing industry. But one
must not forget the uncanny power of seduction that the horse has
exercised over man for several thousand years. Breeders and owners are
inspired by so much hope, so much expectation, and so much love for
horses, that they cannot prevent themselves from being optimistic as well
as irrational. Racing has survived so many vicissitudes that I still have
hopes for the year 2000.
A racing man cannot lose faith.
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At the end of the evening, after all the numbers had been drawn and the
prizes allotted, it seemed to me only courteous to congratulate (without
ulterior motive?) the young lady who had just won my Lafite.

‘At last! It's about time!” she exclaimed, as [ was preparing to recite my
compliment.

The obvious aggression in her voice, the coldness of the look she gave
me, left no room for doubt: she obviously did not share the same feelings as
[. I was taken aback. Whatever had I done?

Providence — maybe only mutual friends — took us to Brummel’s, the
casino night-club, at the end of the evening. The young lady accepted my
invitation to dance; and | knew what it was all about.

The Countess de Nicolay knew a lot about horses: her husband, along
with his four brothers, was a thoroughbred breeder in the Sarthe region.
She hadn't exactly appreciated my lingering look, considering it far too
insistent for a well-bred gentleman, and her ‘It’s about time!’ simply meant
that instead of my unabashed display of admiration, good manners
required that [ should have been introduced to her first.

She said what was on her mind in a direct, straightforward manner,
without the slightest reticence or sugar-coating. If I hadn’t understood
that I'd behaved like a perfect cad in her eyes, I'd certainly have also been a
perfect fool. Her candour only added to her aura of seduction . . . I must
have succeeded in effacing that unfortunate first impression, for after the
Grand Prix de Deauville on the last Sunday in August, we met again at
Brummel’s. We danced. This time I didn’t even think of staring at her; I
was too preoccupied with listening to the ‘little night music’ playing inside
my heart. She told me she was going to spend the month of September in
Holland . . .

And that month of September was the longest month . . .

[ took advantage of this enforced separation to learn a little more.

She was the daughter of the Baron and Baroness van Zuylen van
Nyevelt, whom I had occasionally run into at various parties in Paris. A
couple with whom | had had a historic link for more than a century. The
van Zuylen family and my own’s paths had crossed and this encounter had
set off sparks. A marriage with a scent of scandal, an ancient feud
perpetuated by family tradition, which one listened to vaguely like a stale
old story. There had been a disagreement between the van Zuylens and the
Rothschilds. I knew no more.

But soon [ had unravelled the tangled threads of that mysterious alliance
and reassembled the genealogies which made us relatives.

Marie-Héléne’s grandfather, Etienne van Zuylen, had married a young
Rothschild girl, Héléne, the daughter of Salomon de Rothschild, the
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beautiful Marguerite Nametalla, ‘Maggie’ to her friends, and fell madly in
love with her. He was engaged then to a princess, but preferring Egyptian
blood to the royal variety, he broke off his engagement in order to marry
the lady of his heart from the banks of the Nile. Another drama, one
generation later. The family could not do less than cut off financial
support. The couple left for America, where Marie-Héléne was born, the
first of three children.

Maggie had an exceptional personality. Witty and gay, lively and
provocative, she combined audacity and fantasy. Completely natural and
devoid of timidity, her sense of humour, her taste for coining phrases, her
repartee, her gift for imitation, made her seem like a character in a play.
Intelligent (Malraux said of her: ‘Hers is intelligence in its purest state,
since it is unencumbered by any intellectual baggage’), Maggie could
participate in any discussion for, while conscious of her lack of culture, she
never gave it a second thought. She once smilingly proposed an unusual
bargain to Georges Pompidou: ‘Half my fortune for half your culture!” She
fascinated everyone who met her by her irony, that gift for accepting cares
light-heartedly and giving a humorous twist to sad stories. Heedless of
convention, she chose her friends from the most varied spheres: Pompidou
and Malraux, Visconti and Onassis, Serge Lifar, Coco Chanel and Maria
Callas were among those closest to her.

She liked to dramatize her unwealthy origins by describing in great
detail, and with the oriental accent that added spice to her anecdotes, her
self-styled ‘impoverished’ childhood. ‘In our family,’ I once heard her say,
‘we’re always buried standing up. It's cheaper and it takes less room!’

She had lived through all sorts of droll experiences, from which she
wove delightful little comedies: her marriage having been indefinitely
postponed by her parents-in-law, she found herself pregnant too soon. In
order to conceal this unfortunate state of affairs from respectable New York
society, she decided to postpone the official birth of her baby until the
proper time. So she kept the actual event a secret, and continued her
normal social life (as well as her now fictitious pregnancy) thanks to a
clever arrangement of pillows that gave her the shape of a mother-to-be.
One evening, during a formal Embassy dinner, the pillows slipped and fell
to the floor, to the stupefaction of everyone present. She was the first to
laugh, and the least embarrassed by it all.

During their first years of marriage, the young couple, penniless and
unaided by the family, had difficulty making both ends meet. Neverthe-
less, they lived at the Waldorf-Astoria, a luxury New York hotel. One day
when Maggie had gambled away the little money she had left and was
feeling doubly ravenous due to the baby she was carrying, she ordered a
huge plate of spaghetti from the Italian room service waiter. She devoured
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when, during a conversation, friends or ideas dear to him were being
attacked.

His absent-mindedness could play tricks on him. Once [ was sitting next
to him during the funeral service for a mutual friend. Egmont suddenly rose
and began to practise his golf swing, completely forgetting that we were in
church! Another time, undoubtedly delayed by some disagreement, he
entered the room to preside over his Board of Directors, carrying the
telephone book under his arm instead of his business dossiers.

This gentle poet was, of course, tender-hearted, forgetful of himself
because he thought only of others, exquisitely courteous, and unfailingly
generous. He was so fond of his horses that he was unable to recognize their
limitations. At the start of every season, he was convinced he owned the
Horse of the Year. And when it came time to sell one of them, he couldn’t
bear to do it, for fear that the horse might be maltreated.

Towards the end of the last century, Egmont’s father had reconstructed an
immense medieval-style castle on the ruins of the family chateau in
Holland. To do so, he hadn’t hesitated to shift the entire village several
hundred yards back! Built of brick, surrounded by a moat, in the middle of
a park planted with trees a hundred years old, dotted with lakes and crossed
with canals, this Gothic edifice, with its towers and dungeon, its crenela-
tions and gargoyles, was a perfect blend of the extravagance of the ‘Années
Folles' and the romanticism of the Dark Ages.

To reach the chiteau, one has to cross over a drawbridge, pass through
an enormous wrought-iron gate, whereupon one finds oneself in — a
cathedral! Veritable pillars, a vaulted ceiling soaring almost out of sight,
medieval statues, armour, weapons, hangings, tapestries, galleries running
around the upper storey. On the ground floor, a series of Gothic reception
rooms, a vast oak-panelled dining room overlooking the moat, alcoves
dipping into the water as if to protect from ghosts the soldiers of the watch.
Narrow, twisting staircases lead to the upper floors, where there is a
succession of bedrooms, each one as spacious as an armoury. Wooden
bridges lead from one tower to another, and when one strolls there after
nightfall, bats brush silently past. The bathrooms are equipped with tubs as
deep as tombs. Only lacking are ghosts rattling their chains.

There every year during the whole month of September, Egmont and
Maggie entertained their guests. It was a month of perpetual fireworks: at
times, the glitter of sparkling wit; at others, the rumbling thunder and
lightning of political discussions, as a world of friends from the most
diverse horizons gathered there on that occasion. Carefree millionaires,
bohemian artists; aristocrats of ancient lineage, ambitious young politi-
cians; noble Spanish grandees, democratic Swiss; descendants of Tsarist
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races of the season. The winter seemed too long for us to part. Somehow
we found pretexts for seeing each other.

In the spring, Longchamp allowed us to meet a little more . . . I'll
recount only two horse stories, in homage to the equine gods who had
taken us under their protection:

The first concerns a filly, Hurnli, which the Nicolays, who generally
sold their products, had exceptionally kept in training and through
courtesy registered in the personal colours of Marie-Héléne. She turned
out to be good, but [ couldn’t see any chance for her in the Poule d’Essai for
fillies — which she carried off brilliantly, beating one of my own fillies.
Marie-Hélene, a few boxes away from me, was exultant. [ congratulated
her by politely bowing my head and raising my hat. I'm sure she guessed
that for once | was happy to lose. Besides, | won the following race, the
Poule d’Essai for colts, with Cobalt . . . This double success — Filly of the
Year, Colt of the Year? — began to look like a complicity of fate.

At the end of the same year, Egmont asked Marie-Héléne and her
husband to buy a mare for him at the Newmarket Sales in England. They
brought back the mare I'd sent to the sales, who was in foal to one of my
stallions, Vieux Manoir. “‘Why travel so far to buy what was next door?’
was Egmont’s astonished comment.

The resulting foal was named Le Haar, in fitting dual tribute to a noble
lineage and a stately home: never was a name so aptly chosen. Le Haar was
a good horse, notably third in the French Derby; but he was above all an
excellent stallion. I sent him to one of my mares, and the result of the
mating was Exbury (named after one of the Rothschild estates this time).
Exbury, as I've described earlier, won the Arc de Triomphe and was
without a doubt the best horse I've ever bred. The Rothschild breed
combined with the van Zuylen's had produced a champion.

In the meantime . . . an idyll was born. The bud of love at first sight
needed several seasons before it could bloom in full daylight. As in all love
stories, we had to fight and resist. We'd vowed never to see each other
again. . .weparted. . .

And then one day, in spite of remorse, doubts, hesitations, suffering, all
those restraints and barriers that conscience had placed between ourselves
and happiness, in spite of the opposition of some and the pressure of
others, we slipped away and married in America.

[t was twenty-five years ago, as [ write these lines.

[t might begin like a romantic novel: ‘Daughter of the desert sands and the
fogs of Holland . . .’ But there’s always something in the alchemy of souls
that comes from far back. The produce of this original couple could hardly
fail to be excessive, exotic, rare, flamboyant.
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her!), whooped with joy or dissolved in tears.

Winning doesn’t interest her; but winning over is her favourite activity.
As a young girl, she had to return to Europe with her parents, which meant
leaving not only America, but also her first boyfriend. How could she
telephone him? She managed to make friends with the anonymous long-
distance operator, and she confided her troubles to him with such a
profusion of touching details that she succeeded in softening his heart.
From then on, every evening at the same hour, she had a free line to New
York!

Today, if she organizes a benefit, she doesn’t appeal for donations to one
person after another, but decides herself how much each one should
contribute. And many a tight-fisted miser has found himself magically
relieved of a cheque made out for an amount that only a few minutes earlier
would have sent him into a state of collapse.

‘Vouloir, c’est pouvoir,” they say in France. ‘Where there’s a will, there’s
a way.’ But with Marie-Héléne, more than anybody else [ know, willing is
merely the first step to achievement.

A thousand examples spring to mind. As a young girl, she decided to
‘earn’ enough money at cards to buy a car, along with three equally
impecunious friends. Playing for low stakes, but playing night and day, she
managed to accumulate the price of a Chevrolet! At about the same time,
Egmont challenged her to earn her own living. She resolved to obtain
lucrative advertising contracts for her father's literary review, La Pensée
Francaise. Needless to say, the advertising managers she contacted almost
laughed in her face. Little did they know her! She decided to bypass the
saints and go to God himself. If a door was shut in her face, she slipped in
through the window, with such persistence that she wore down the
resistance of the Presidents of such companies as General Motors and
Chesterfield, who finally let themselves be convinced of the honour or
interest they had in advertising in a French magazine . . . read by a few
hundred impoverished intellectuals!

I too ended up by yielding to this force of persuasion, or rather, by
making use of this gift. If | wished to syndicate a stallion, for example, and
mentioned the price I'd set, she’'d begin by flying into a rage: I'd never
change, always undervaluing everything I did or produced . . . Then
she’d take matters into her own hands, decide on a ‘reasonable’ price—in a
field where everything is, by definition, subjective, since it concerns a
gamble on the future! Her estimation was always so far removed from mine
that I'd tremble at the thought of seeing the transaction come to naught.
But, needless to say, she'd succeed in finding the effective arguments. . .
and the buyers. | had ‘lost’, while she had pulled off a master stroke! How
many times have | seen the same scenario.
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As with her mother, this kind of impulsive boldness can lead to the most
comical incidents — as Marcel Kébir would be the first to agree:

During a large dinner party at Ferriéres at the beginning of our marriage,
the conversation centred on World War Il and the events of Mers-el-
Kébir.* A girlfriend, whose only fault was always insisting on giving her
opinion on every subject, categorically expressed her views. Irritated,
Marie-Héléne interrupted the conversation and addressed her in an
aggressive tone: ‘You who think you're so smart, then tell us exactly who is-
this Marcel Kébir you seem to know so well!” A moment of dazed silence
was followed by a burst of laughter. And since then, a postcard arrives from
Oran from time to time, with the message: ‘Love and kisses from Marcel’!

Indifference is another absentee from Marie-Héléne's gamut of emo-
tions. She wants to know everything, not out of curiosity, but because of
the genuine interest she takes in everybody and everything. So she asks
questions, listens, consults, takes charge. She untangles intrigues, patches
up lovers’ quarrels, consoles the sorrowful and advises the sick; nothing
motivates her more than lost causes.

These traits of character are minor ones, no more than small cards
accompanying the ‘ace of trumps’ which Marie-Héléne was dealt at birth: a
formidable love of life, the quality that so struck me from the start. A love
of life as it happens to be, in its simplicity and reality — but just as much, of
life in its extremes. Ordinary daily life, but also ‘high life’. Refinement,
parties, clothes, travel and decorating houses. Without false modesty,
without self-consciousness and without vanity. But always with the sense
of luck as well as with the spirit of childhood, that capacity for wonder that
makes the unusual seem familiar and burdens light to bear.

This manner of being at ease within herself as well as in her role, of
feeling as comfortable with her hair dishevelled as in an elegant evening
gown, reminds me of the words of a Queen (English, of course) who, going
to visit a slum area of London, said to her lady-in-waiting: “Today give me
my finest jewels. We are going to visit the poor and | cannot disappoint
them.’

In daily life, Marie-Héléne adds to her profound qualities the spice of
true originality and a sharp sense of the comical. She overflows with gaiety
and mischief.

Such are the dominant elements of her personality, which compose a
character apparently as solid as a rock. Such is, in fact, the image received
by those who know her only slightly.

Paradoxically, while these brush-strokes are as accurate as I've been able
to make them, nothing resembles her less than the portrait I've just

* The main French naval base in Algeria which was bombarded in 1940 by the British.
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At about the same time, she once obstinately refused to board an
aeroplane, for no rhyme nor reason, restrained by some vague premon-
ition: the plane crashed in the Azores; Marcel Cerdan was among those
who perished in the disaster.

Because she doesn't know the word ‘reason’, there’s no point in trying to
reason with her. With her, the heart governs and controls, commands and
decides.

Perhaps because she is more often than others subject to illness, her
primordial interest is in everything concerning medicine (she is a member
of the Committee for Medical Research in France), and she enjoys
nothing more than organizing a benefit for those who suffer. She has
organized memorable events for the haemophiliacs, for instance, and for
the Pasteur Institute, which were — even more important — resounding
financial successes, at the personal cost to her of unremitting effort and
attention, deciding and checking every detail herself. The way in which
she always gives her utmost reminds me of the dictum we were taught as
children: ‘If it’s worth doing, it's worth doing well.” Her perfectionism
astonishes people, but above all it produces exceptional results in a world
that has become increasingly careless. For example, in just one evening in
aid of the restoration of Versailles, she succeeded in collecting more funds
than had been raised during several years!

After medicine, her favourite hobbyhorse is art — and, if I may say so,
‘she rides it well’. That is why the officials in charge of creating a Museum
of the 19th Century in the Gare d'Orsay, the disused railway terminal on
the Left Bank, insisted that she accept a membership on the Board of
Directors.

Ncedless to add, with Marie-Héléne nothing is ever neutral, banal or
mediocre — which does not exclude misunderstandings. People who know
her only from magazines or gossip columns have a completely false
impression of her. Because she is what she is and who she is, the press
eternally describes her with that old cliché: ‘The Queen of Paris’. It might
cause smiles, if the public image were not in reality completely opposite to
the private person. In this artificial sphere of society, her naturalness, her
scorn for convention, her childlike enthusiasm, her enchantment with
life, are rather disturbing — like a pebble tossed into a pond, which
unsettles the complacent ducks.

It's true that she is talked about, her every deed and gesture is com-
mented upon, she is a subject of discussion. She charms and she shocks.

She captivates and she offends. She is admired, criticized, envied,
imitated. She enchants, she subjugates, she inspires jealousy.

One likes her or one dislikes her. In any case, she stirs, she disturbs, she
upsets. One is for, one is against.
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fantasy inherited from the van Zuylens.
But first, let’s set the scene.

Since I'd given our Paris residence and the property at Reux to Alix and
David, Marie-Héléne and | had to find somewhere to live. After spending
a year or two in a hotel, then in a furnished apartment, we were offered a
charming house on the rue de Courcelles which had belonged to
Napoleon's niece, Princess Mathilde, a famous patroness of the arts during
the Second Empire — a role in which I could easily imagine Marie-Héléne.
[ bought the ‘rue de Courcelles’. And we lived there for seventeen
years . . .

[ gave up Reux regretfully. [ adore Normandy, and the romantic charm
of the estate was particularly appealing to me. Fortunately, there hap-
pened to be on the middle paddock of the Meautry stud, less than two
miles from Deauville, a 15th-century manor-house which had belonged to
one of the Dukes of Normandy. During my father’s lifetime, it had been
inhabited only occasionally, and then only by the veterinary surgeon
when he came to treat the horses. Although run down, it was a veritable
gem of the Renaissance — a two-faceted gem: one side old dovecotes, the
other ancient stones. And in the main hall, a ceiling in which each beam
ended in the sculpted, painted head of one of the Dukes of Normandy.

[ decided to restore the manor and took charge of the structural repairs
and landscaping, while Marie-Héléne attended to the interior decoration.

Today, some twenty years later, the month of August at Meautry is one
of the gayest moments of the year. In the paddocks, young foals galloping
at their mothers’ side; with us in the manor, our guests; a few minutes
away, the racecourse, the golf course, the sea; in the immediate
neighbourhood, a number of relatives, friends . . . Everything I need to
make me happy.

If Ferriéres had never existed, I'd certainly have spent all of my weekends
in Normandy and never dreamed of establishing a residence in the
[le-de-France.

But Ferriéres existed. Or rather, Ferriéres had existed, because the
chateau had been uninhabited for almost twenty years. After its requisi-
tion by the German Army and the looting of its art collections (only the
Boucher tapestries hadn’t taken the train to Germany; covered with neatly
tacked-on jute-cloth, they'd escaped the notice of the Germans, who
hadn’t thought of looking underneath it) — after the war, in other words,
the chateau remained unfurnished and unheated. It was only very partially
opened when I'd come to shoot in the forest with a few friends, because we
then stayed in the former ‘pheasantry’.
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While I'd always tried to be worthy of the heritage I've received and to
continue the tradition of initiative and adaptability that had been
responsible for the success of my ancestors, | may have forgotten one thing:
the Rothschilds didn't owe their reputation to business achievement
alone, but also to a certain style, a certain attitude towards life. With
Marie-Hélene, | found myself caught up from one day to the next in a
whirlwind that was also an echo of the past. With her characteristic
exuberance, she too conceives of life as a féte — but she believes that a real
féte has to be shared, that real pleasure is first of all the pleasure of those
you love.

Like the younger generation which prefers to live in groups, among
comrades, our life expanded to accommodate our friendships. Our ‘family’
now included everyone who was close to our hearts. An American
journalist wittily remarked: ‘Since Marie-Héléne has twelve best friends,
the Baron Guy restored twelve guest apartments at Ferriéres.” The truth is
that there were fifteen of them; but even if I'd agreed to restore twenty-
four, all of them would have been permanently occupied.

The manor at Meautry is sufficient proof of it. There weren't enough
bedrooms for Marie-Héléne’s liking, so the horse boxes in the nearby
stables were transformed into guest rooms. Then it was the turn of the hay
barn. After which a small farm on the estate was restored — but then the
dining room was too small for so many guests. Like the gourmet who takes
another serving of cheese to finish his wine, then some more wine to finish
the cheese, this sort of thing can become a vicious circle!

Ferriéres gradually recovered the radiance I'd remembered from my
childhood. I organized shooting parties again, almost every Sunday in the
autumn. But with or without a shoot, the chateau was filled with guests all
year round. There were our intimate friends, an extension of ‘the family’,
whose rooms were permanently reserved for them; and there were the
friends of our friends. Then there were the new acquaintances whom
Marie-Héléne attracted. I began to meet all sorts of people I'd never
dreamed of getting to know before, believing we had nothing in common.

Marie-Héléne has a gift for making friends with all kinds of artists. It
surprised me to discover that in artistic fields — and, more generally, in the
realm of great talent — outstanding success seems to be based on something
these exceptional individuals possess in common, often in secret. For
example, the great virtuosi: my music-loving mother, Grisha'’s Piati-
gorsky’s marriage to my sister, my stay in America, provided me with many
opportunities to come in contact with a number of ‘musical interpreters’ as
they like to describe themselves. To name only two of them — Isaac Stern
and Rostropovitch — | find in them the same ardour, the same open-
heartedness, the same enthusiasm — in short, the same passion for life —
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to the ceiling and nearly burst its four walls; and the long night was filled
with enchantment as everyone gave presents to everyone else.

But Marie-Hélene also loves a féte for its own sake, as a parenthesis in
time, as the breath, the smile of life. An imaginative décor in which
gaiety, wonderment and dreams all dance together. The most minute
detail then becomes vitally important; a single false note can break the
magic melody.

Giving a ball is not necessarily the same as having a ball. A brilliant
night is preceded by many sleepless ones. A veritable Penelope, aided by a
few exhausted friends, she arranges and rearranges the seating plan until
each guest ends up with the neighbour close to his heart. Each separate
element must be thought of, planned; a flower, a light, a decoration,
moved a hundred times; until the very last minute . . .

Isn't it part of our role in life, each according to his own style and taste,
to brighten it with the superfluous, to have the courage to enrich it with a
few flashes of ephemeral beauty? ‘The superfluous is so necessary’, once
wrote a previous tenant of the Hotel Lambert: Voltaire.

So I'll talk about Marie-Héléne's fétes because they've been so talked
about. They have been praised, they have been criticized. But they
haven't been forgotten.

Marie-Héléne can always find a pretext for a party . . . while I try to
exert a restraining influence on her penchant for three-ring circuses, |
know full well that certain foolish expenses are no sign of folly. However,
the financiers must not forget to be cobblers; and they must remember to
sing the morning after in order to take their minds off the accounts.

[ won't recite the entire anthology of fétes given or organized by Marie-
Héléne. Just two gala evenings at Ferriéres: one ‘In Remembrance of
Things Past’, and another whose theme was ‘Imagined Time’. The Proust

Ball and the Surrealist Ball.

In the winter of 1972, an invitation cut out of a sky painting by Magritte
with strange hieroglyphics floating among the clouds must have at first
mystified the people who received them. But when it occurred to them to
read the text in a mirror, they learned that they were invited to a
surrealistic dinner party at Ferriéres on 12 December.

That night, due to ingenious lighting effects, the chateau at the end of
the dark drive seemed to be in flames.

As the guests went up the main staircase, everything appeared calm,
harmonious, grandiose, as usual . . . except that an army of lackeys,
lackeys with cats’ heads, seemed to have fallen asleep on the steps, the
banisters, the landings, in the most grotesque positions.
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guests wandered about in complete disorder, mischievously guided by
butlers wearing top hats, carriations in their button-holes, whose mission
was to solve these puzzles and finally lead them to their places.

On each table, covered by a tablecloth representing the sky, there wasa
centre-piece inspired by some surrealist painter or poet, designed to be at
the same time crazy, incongruous and poetic. For example on the table
entitled ‘Eggs a la Florentine’, it was a mound of cooked spinach,
transpierced by the carcass of a giant bird, garnished with women’s breasts.
At each place setting there was a fur-covered plate and a placecard: a
square of sky held between the ruby-red lips of Mae West; a pale blue
dinner roll — the famous pain peint (the two words are pronounced the same
in French, their literal translation being ‘painted bread’); a wine glass with
the label vin vain (another play on words, since these two are also
pronounced alike, and the meaning — or rather, lack of meaning — is ‘vain
wine’); there was also a bubble-blower and a menu.

The menu, inscribed on a background of sky and clouds, was all the
more hallucinating because none of the sixty guests read the same words.
And such delirious words! Double meanings, outrageous puns. Marie-
Héléne and her friends must have had a lot of fun finding these ideas, or
rather, trying to confuse the ideas! French-speaking readers may appreci-
ate the cheese course: ‘les choses dégoulinantes’ for some, were ‘beaucoup
de Brie pour rien’ for others. Finally came the ‘Dessert des Tartares’ —or, as
on another menu, ‘At last!” Since the dishes were described so wildly,
nobody had the slightest idea of what was going to be served next.

The warmly applauded climax was a huge platter carried by eight men,
with a nude woman reclining on a bed of roses, all made of edible spun
sugar, to be hacked to pieces. ‘Dessert of the Barbarians?’

After dinner, the festivities moved to the salons, to dancing in a
Turkish night-club, to another salon where a photographer took pictures
of the guests seated on a Dali sofa in the form of a pair of lips, underneath a
picture of Mae West. The whirl went on till dawn. Everyone was
enchanted with himself, everyone was enchanted to be there . . . in
short, everyone was enchanted.

The next morning, our everyday heads seemed very strange indeed!

But it was Marie-Héléne’s Proust Ball, in celebration of the great writer’s
1ooth birthday, that left me the most beautiful memories.

[ can do no better than to quote, with apologies, from a description of
the great fétes of Paris, because this account recaptures the atmosphere
exactly as | remember it:

In December 1971, Marie-Héléne de Rothschild received the following letter
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mysterious corridor, lit only by the candelabra held by valets in red livery and
powdered wigs, and having whispered in the ear of the barker a ‘remembered’
name (Duke or Duchess of Guermantes, Marquis and Marquise de Villeparisis,
Prince des Laumes . . .) one finally enters the tapestry room with its red and
pink atmosphere, to be greeted by the host and hostess: he in tail coat and grey
moustache, she in a long pale satin gown by Saint-Laurent. One proceeds
through the blue salon, then the large music room. Everything is intact:
furniture, tapestries, bibelots, mirrors; only the spectacular arrangements of
pale and white flowers, bursts of palm fronds and greenery, remind one that this
is a special occasion.

The atmosphere becomes warmer, the crowd more dense; one can hardly
hear the pianist playing compositions by Reynaldo Hahn and Satie in the
background. One finally manages to approach the mauve and green dinner-
table plans to find one’s place. One tries to remember to avoid stepping on the
ladies’ trains. One exclaims in admiration over the costumes invented by one’s
friends. How lovely! How brilliant! Dinner is served.

One proceeds into the most splendid hothouse, the most gigantic winter
garden, ever seen. The Baroness Guy, and the artists Jean-Frangois Daigre and
Valerian Rybar, have had the colossal main hall of the chateau surrounded by
an extraordinary forest consisting of thousands of plants and exotic flowers
visible through immense glass trellises. To bring more intimacy to this room of
cathedral dimensions, they have draped the ceiling with green silk, gathered in
the centre by an enormous crystal chandelier.

Orchids, vines and greenery adorn the gold, the columns, the statues and
busts. Three hundred and fifty guests have found their tables, where they
gradually discover a mass of refined details: the Proustian names written on
mauve fans tied with violet ribbons; the table-cloths of mauve pleated chiffon;
the napkins of mauve linen bordered with blond lace; the beautiful centre-
pieces of mauve and violet cattleyas, Odette’s favourite flower; the menus
written in old-fashioned script announcing mysterious dishes and prestigious
wines: consommé Aurélie, mousseline de sole Mahenu, duck a la Madriléne,
salade Clarinda, soufflé glacé Agénor; Chateau-Lafite-Rothschild, Moét et
Chandon, Chateau-d’'Yquem . . .

Dinner is served by an army of butlers in scarlet Louis XV costumes. It is
perfect: hot, delicious, rapid. In the background, gypsy music turns heads and
hearts.

Towards midnight, a second wave of guests arrives: the young friends of our
host’s son, superb young people, arrogant and slightly stiff in their formal period
evening dress; dazzling young girls and women, bristling with frills, feathers and
jewels.

There’s dancing in the most amazing night-club imaginable: the shadowy
dining room of the chateau, lit only by the gleam of its extraordinary series of
Cordoba leather panels with their gold background, painted after cartoons by
Rembrandt; a modern orchestra, small tables draped in gold and green, the
twinkle of candlelight.

The rumour circulates that a surprise awaits the guests in a small salon as yet
unexplored. There, in front of an immense 1gth-century painting of the
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them. The obligatory fétes we are encouraged to support are not at all the
same. As if everyone could feel like dancing and singing in the streets at an
appointed hour . . .

One autumn afternoon in 1975, Marie-Héléne telephoned me at the
bank.

‘Do you still feel young?’ she asked.

[ couldn’t imagine what was coming next. The question obviously
preceded some upheaval! I replied in a calm voice that I still felt in pretty
good shape . . . and waited for her to continue.

‘Young enough to change the course of your life in the space of two
hours?’

“Why not?’

My voice had become less confident. Damn it! I'd forgotten to be
wary . . .

And so I learned that the Hotel Lambert was for sale, and that Marie-
Héléne, after carefully studying the project, thought we should embark on
the adventure of buying it.

Whether I felt young or not was beside the point: the enterprise seemed
sheer folly to me. After years of effort, I'd only just convinced Marie-
Héleéne of the necessity of closing the chateau de Ferriéres, and now she
was already asking me to buy a chateau in Paris!

[ was perfectly familiar with the Hotel Lambert because Alexis de Redé,
one of our closest friends, was its principal tenant. He occupied one floor,
the one containing the most handsome salons and the famous Gallery of
Hercules. During almost thirty years of residence, he had resuscitated the
18th-century ‘palace’, restoring the building itself, the paintings, tracking
down the original decorative elements whenever possible (some panels
were now in the Louvre, including those of the cabinet d’amour), or
unearthing period panelling and paintings that could replace them.

In the words of Voltaire, who once had lived there: ‘It is a palace for a
king who is also a philosopher.’ But I was neither a king nor a philosopher!

[ knew that Chopin had often played the piano there — perhaps a certain
Ballade or Waltz dedicated to my great-grandfather or to his daughter
Charlotte, James’s only daughter, who had been one of Chopin’s best
pupils. [ knew, of course, that Chopin had been a protégé of my ancestors;
they had received him, helped him to become famous . . . But all of that
did not constitute a sound argument!

Actually, Marie-Héléne had analysed the enterprise from every point of
view. She realized that the various independent apartments would permit
us to gather together the different generations of the family under the same
roof. David had recently married; Edouard and Philippe were now grown-
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his triumph had emerged from their panels at Ferriéres and now resumed
their original places in the procession: reunited, they formed a frieze going
all the way around one of the salons. Betty and The Astrologer (who is
often referred to in Vermeer catalogues as The Astronomer, but whom we
always called The Astrologer, for some unknown reason) faced each other
on opposite walls of the cabinet d’amour, prepared for conversation. In my
bedroom, the wholesome smile of the Woman with the Rose was beaming.
All of these objects, these persons, really seemed to start a new life. My
great-grandmother Betty, the niece and then the wife of James, mother of
Alphonse . . . how many different lives had she lived, in how many
different rooms, how many different family homes, to how many of my
ancestors had she addressed her wistful smile? What ties bound me to her?
What new ties would we form?

‘The strange life of objects . . . ' It’s quite true that the Betty of
Ferriéres did not exactly resemble the one on the rue de Courcelles, who
was not precisely the same Betty as in the cabinet d'amour . . . ‘nor quite
the same, nor quite another . . . ' another pose, another look, another
wistful smile . . .

In the meantime, Ferriéres closed its gates.

Since 1970, it became increasingly clear to me that an estate of that
importance entailed responsibilities which would one day be impossible to
shoulder. Relinquishing a home to which so many memories attach one is
a painful decision, difficult to make. And I was alone. Marie-Héléne, our
family, our friends, everyone who had participated in or followed the
restoration of the chateau, couldn’t bring themselves to approve of my
decision: so much effort for only fifteen years of enjoyment! But the future
was to prove me right.

In order to conserve at least the precious advantage of owning a residence
in the middle of a forest, far from any suburban zone and yet only half an hour
from Paris, I had a chalet built on another part of the grounds. After endless
discussions with friends, countless decisions endlessly revised, we finally
agreed on the site. It was a low building with a shingled roof and walls, level
with the land, equipped with every modemn convenience for service and
maintenance. ‘The chalet’ blended into the surrounding nature as much as
the chateau dominated, and was therefore remote from it.

Hoping to steal a march on the evolution of history, I'd planned to
exchange a country chiteau and a private house in Paris for a small chalet
and a city apartment. And now I found myself with a palace on an island
and a chalet in the forest! As usual with Marie-Héléne, ‘it’s always the
unexpected that happens’ . .
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remaining true to themselves through changing times and fashions. They
have never dreamed of feeling ashamed of their wealth nor of disguising
their life-style, no more than they have ever failed to assume their roles
and responsibilities as Jews.

According to an old French motto: ‘Noblesse oblige’ — one must live up to
one’s name. The Rothschilds’ condition of life has imposed on them a
second motto: ‘Richesse oblige’ — one must live up to one’s fortune. And
they may have succeeded in living up to both of them.

To the current political pundits who try to promote a hatred of money as
a prelude to promises of a rosy future, let me quote this phrase: ‘A love of
life and a love of fétes are attributes of a happy people.’
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possibly being in league with the police. I had to act, but in the dark.

In order to recover my composure before going into action, | performed
my twenty minutes of daily exercises, a ritual I've never failed to observe,
not even under the bombs at Dunkirk. A discipline that leaves room for
exceptions is no longer a discipline.

[ decided against waking up Marie-Héléne, so as not to upset her.

[ phoned David several times to explain my delay, and above all to show
him [ was behind him, that [ was thinking of nothing else. When the bank
opened at nine o'clock, I was told there wasn’t enough cash on hand to
provide the sum [ needed; it would have to be collected from the Bank of
France, which didn’t open until 9. 30.

Another phone call, another reply, with still the same tone of urgency:
‘Hurry up . . guiick?t', . 2

[n the meantime, one of my associates had telephoned the police and
the head of the municipal police was on the line. As I was explaining the
situation to him, he interrupted:

‘Just the man you need happens to be walking into my office at this very
moment. ['ll put himon. . .’

[t was Commissioner Le Mouel, head of the Anti-terrorist Squad. He
asked me to see him for five minutes before | joined my son.

‘OK, rue d’Andigné, in front of number 2, in fifteen minutes.’

On this street, which is separated from the Avenue Raphaél by a public
garden, we could meet without being spotted.

My chauffeur drove me to the appointed place. A short grey-haired man
approached me, calm and kindly looking.

‘Monsieur de Rothschild?”’

i { . S

‘Do you have the money?”’

‘Yes, I'm going now.’

‘Don’t worry. They are certainly gangsters. As soon as they've got the
money, their one idea will be to make a quick getaway.’

‘l hope so. Anyway, | don’t want a kidnapping.’

‘Is there a rear entrance to the building?’

‘I've no idea, I don't live there.’

The Commissioner requested a delay of a quarter of an hour in order to
get his men in position, but I was too nervous: ‘Impossible. I'll give you five
minutes.’

During this interval, I forced myself to walk calmly back to my car, got
in, and asked the chauffeur to drive me to the entrance of my son’s
building. There I found the cook and Vava, the elderly nanny, on the
pavement, both of them visibly frantic.

‘Oh, Monsieur Guy, it’s terrible! Poor David is upstairs with a man
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of hypertension, a sort of exaltation takes over the control of one’s nervous
system in some strange way, and makes one choose the right reflex. One is
afraid, one's mouth is dry, but the adrenalin flows abundantly and
multiplies one’s capabilities.

The man at the window seemed to have lost his last drop of sang-froid:

‘Who are those men down there?’

‘How should I know? You know very well that | don’t live here. You've
been here longer than I have. You should know better than me.’

Already, | couldn’t resist making a sarcastic remark. It was perhaps a
way of getting the upper hand, but above all of reassuring myself.

[ hadn't yet been able to size up my enemy; however, while my eyes saw
only a dangerous, cool, rational man, I could sense his inner panic. He
suddenly left the window and came towards us:

‘You're going to drink this . . . and then you'll fall asleep . . .’

This really foxed me; | was dumbfounded. What was this, some magic
potion? Fortunately, David spoke up:

‘But you've already been told that it won’t have the slightest effect. So
why bother?’

The man hesitated. Then he suddenly made up his mind.

‘All right. Well, you're going to come with me. We'll go downstairs
together.’

David turned towards me, saying: ‘I'm coming with you.’

Very calmly — at least apparently so — | addressed the man with the gun:

‘Do you realize what you're planning to do? At eleven o’clock in the
morning, a boy in a pink dressing-gown, in the middle of the crowd, and
you expect to pass unnoticed?’

“You're right,’ he replied, almost with a note of apology in his voice.

[ breathed again. David was saved!

The masseur was next to volunteer. And the three of us left the
apartment together.

[t was then that I scored my first decisive advantage. | looked my man up
and down, with an ironic eye:

‘Do you really intend to go out with those gloves on in the street?’

He was, in fact, wearing a pair of bright pink rubber gloves, the kind
used for dishwashing. I do believe he blushed in confusion, like a child
caught red-handed. I felt'no great satisfaction in observing his embarrass-
ment, but [ was now sure that the situation was getting beyond his control.
Without dropping his gun, he started to remove the gloves with his teeth,
a complicated and ridiculous procedure which took at least five minutes.

‘We'll take the lift,” I said.

‘Oh, no, we'll walk down.’ |

This time it was he who scored a point, still clear-minded enough to
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stel Lambert: the salon des cuirs with the Cordoba leather paintings.
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I'd succeeded in side-tracking David, his mother, the masseur —alone at
last!

The man ordered me to get into the front seat while he settled in the
back with the bag beside him, all the while pointing his gun at me.

‘Drive to Issy-les-Moulineaux,’ he said. “‘We'll take a helicopter there.’

Again, | was speechless. | hadn’t foreseen this eventuality either! | was
petrified, but in order to maintain my air of indifference, I refrained from
turning round.

The man then asked if there was a radio in the car. When [ said there
wasn't, he wanted to stop and buy one.

‘What a good idea!’ I said, welcoming the chance to avoid ending up in
Bordeaux or Timbuctoo or whatever crazy destination this gunman had in
mind! | instructed the chauffeur to turn back towards the city.

In a very crowded thoroughfare — I think it was the rue de Passy — [ made
him double-park in front of an electrical appliance store. | then asked him
to go into the shop and buy a radio. At last I was alone with the bandit —
unfortunately, one in front of the other instead of face to face. (At this
point, I learned later, the police, unable to guess why the chauffeur had
left us, became scared and almost intervened.)

When the chauffeur returned with a small transistor radio, | finally
turned round. The man was literally dripping with perspiration. Not a very
reassuring individual! The police knew better than I that this type of
criminal is more dangerous than an experienced outlaw, who is perfectly
conscious of what risks he must not take.

Aware that my companion behind was slowly but surely succumbing to
his mounting hysteria, I decided to try to calm the fellow. And so I started
to talk, to offer him a thousand and one marvellous proposals.

‘As you can see, I'm not armed . . .’

‘Luckily for me!” he replied, almost with a sigh.

‘Now we’re going to drive to a subway station,’ I said. ‘I'll come with
you. According to all the best detective novels it’s the ideal place for
escaping pursuit by mingling with the crowd. No, wait! I've got an even
better idea. Let’s go to the Galeries Lafayette department store. That will
be convenient for me too, because my office is practically next door!’

The man was now drenched with sweat. My little speech, from which I
couldn’t suppress a slightly flippant tone, only seemed to increase his
panic. He had no idea what to do. None of my proposals, not even the
most reasonable ones, seemed to suit him. He was literally petrified, para-
lysed. I think that if the car door had been opened at that moment, he'd
have been unable to get out — his legs would have buckled underneath him.

[ turned on the radio and tuned into a news programme. Nothing about
us. He seemed disappointed.
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What would have happened if the police had lost track of us in the traffic?

Everything was possible. We were floundering in an ocean of delirium. I
don’t believe the man would have fired. He might have ended up by
begging me to save him, returning the money and asking for a job at the rue
Laffitte! He might have passed out or become hysterical . . . because he
was visibly in a trance and had completely lost control of himself. He
probably hadn’t slept all night, and had certainly been living under
extreme tension for several hours. | might even have been able to arrest
him all by myself. ‘You don’t want to kill me, so give me your gun. [ don’t
want to kill you either. You'll be free to escape at last.’

I too had passed through several phases. The first fever of excitement
had been followed by a feeling of optimism as we were leaving the
apartment. Then fear again, observing the panic of the man who no longer
knew what he was doing. Finally, as he gradually changed from menacing
to clinging, my problem could be summed up in a single question: ‘How to
get rid of him?’ The tiger seated behind me may have turned into a big cat,
but he still deprived me of all freedom of action.

The police helped me out of the car littered with broken glass,
accompanied me to a chemist —flying glass had injured the cornea of an eye
—and I returned to the rue Laffitte a hero. My cousins hugged me, brought
me a stiff whisky, while my little dog Pinka was at her wit’s end.
(It seems that she had howled all morning, undoubtedly sensing from
the nervousness of my secretaries that something abnormal was going
on el

I phoned David. He already knew everything, having followed the
operations with Commissioner Le Mouel, who had been in permanent
contact with Commissioner Bouvier. | next called the Chief of Police,
who gave me an account of the operations from the Headquarters’ point of
view. (‘It was risky,’ he told me, ‘a bullet was already in the barrel.”)

Then I telephoned Marie-Héléne, who knew nothing of what had
happened. It seems I was so over-excited that [ talked a mile a minute and
she couldn’t understand a word [ said!

My phone started to ring and continued non-stop all day long,
beginning with Georges Pompidou, the President of France, who had also
been following the adventure step by step. And all day long I felt the same
over-excitement, as | repeated a hundred times the same details to friends
who called from everywhere, listened to the radio commentaries, yielded
to the insistence of the journalists by holding a brief televised press
conference. This lasted till the following day, when all the newspapers
headlined the event.







CHAPTER

18

Noble Destiny

My father inherited from his ancestors a deep devotion to Judaism. Apart
from the Sabbath (I've already mentioned the fact that he never went
shooting or raced one of his horses on a Saturday), he observed the
principal Jewish holidays, more out of respect for tradition than from
religious zeal. He never failed to attend the services of Rosh Hashana, Yom
Kippur, Passover. . . And in my youth, on the eve of Yom Kippur, after
the dinner preceding the fast, he'd always make me walk to the synagogue
on the rue de la Victoire with him, wearing a tailcoat, white tie and a silk
top hat, to the astonishment of passers-by.

When [ was thirteen, we naturally celebrated my Bar Mitzvah. It was an
elaborate ceremony (during which, I regret to say, I sang my part in the
ritual terribly out of tune).

[ well remember the Seder dinner, the evening before Passover (a feast
commemorating the Hebrews’ exodus from Egypt in 1500 Bc), when the
entire family used ro gather together. Apart from the emotion I felt when I
was called upon to recite the ‘Manish Tana’,* I could vaguely sense the
hidden symbolism of the various rituals that accompany the ceremony.

Traditionally, several symbolic objects are placed in the centre of the
table, in front of the head of the family: a lamb bone (in memory of the
lamb the Hebrews sacrificed on the eve of the death of the first-born
Egyptian sons, ‘the tenth wound’); three matzoth, unleavened bread
(commemorating the Hebrews’ hasty flight from Egypt when they were
driven into exile by the Pharaoh); bitter herbs, such as horseradish
(recalling the severity of their slavery in Egypt); a paste made of mashed
dates and figs (evoking the mortar the Hebrews had to mix in order to build
the pyramids); and an egg (which, having neither a beginning nor an end,
is infinite, thus symbolizing eternity and the hope of eternal rebirth).

Seder was an occasion for all of us to be together in a gay and cheerful

* At the end of the meal, while the head of the family reads the Haggadah — the story of the
Exodus — the youngest male member asks him a series of questions about the meaning of the
celebration.
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more than thirty years, until April 1982.

The FSJU grouped together representatives of all of the political,
religious and cultural aspects of French Jewry; it was essential to maintain
an even balance between all the conflicting groups in order to preserve
some form of unity, and especially to ensure that all major decisions were
accepted by a large majority of opinion as representing the general interest
of the community. In addition to the problems concerning the community
itself, this office which I held so long also obliged me to face political
problems, sometimes advocating vigorous action, sometimes restraint.

For example, in 1955 a Catholic priest provoked an outcry by refus-
ing to return to their family, who had survived deportation, the two
Finaly children whom he had hidden and cared for during the war, no
doubt hoping to convert them. Several members of my board at the
FSJU thought the affair was the beginning of renewed persecution of
the Jews, and | had all the trouble in the world trying to restrain their
ill-advised excitement. | published a statement, widely reproduced, in
which I said that we couldn’t accept the reality of ritual kidnapping in
place of the old false accusations of ritual murder. I gave full support to
Chief Rabbi Kaplan, who skilfully negotiated with an embarrassed and
mainly innocent Catholic hierarchy. The children were returned to
their family.

In the early 1960s, the great problem was the massive return to France of
the 150,000 Algerian Jews — not to mention those from Morocco and
Tunisia. The Fonds Social managed to mobilize the resources in men and
money required to receive them, house them, and facilitate their
economic and cultural integration.

In 1967, as relations between Israel and Nasser became increasingly
tense, it seemed obvious that de Gaulle, who was opposed to a military
solution of the conflict, was preparing to reverse the traditional policy of
Franco-Israeli alliance. Believing it my duty to take some action, | went to
the Elysée one Saturday morning (the day before the Six Day War broke
out) for a private meeting with Etienne Burin des Roziers, the President’s
Secretary General. The Elysée palace seemed deserted, but I knew the
General was there because he interrupted our conversation twice, sum-
moning his aide to his office. | explained to Burin des Roziers that while I
could understand de Gaulle’s motivation, I felt obliged to warn him of the
inevitable reaction of the French Jewish community. Every member would
recall the fact that the General had never made a gesture to acknowledge
the specific, if not major, place occupied by Jews among the French
martyrs; the fact that he had been absent from the inauguration of the
reconstructed synagogue of Strasbourg; that (in spite of my insistent
invitations) he hadn’t attended the inauguration in Paris of the Monu-
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tension imposed on Israel, it was due (and I can bear witness to it) neither to
absence of sympathy nor to indifference for her future . . .

During the presidential campaign of 1981 and following serious anti-
semitic outbreaks, such as the murderous bombing of the synagogue on the
rue Copernic, a group of Jewish activists became very agitated, claiming
that those responsible for the community were too indulgent towards the
government. They were, of course, free to express their opinion, but I
considered their criticism quite unfair. Furthermore, this same faction
recommended a vote of sanction against the retiring administration, in an
attempt to create a ‘Jewish lobby’. Finally, it seized every opportunity to
flaunt its unconditional backing for Israel, to the point of irritating even
her supporters. If, as was seen after the Copernic tragedy, such an outrage
inspires some people to rally behind the Israeli flag, it will shock many
Jews, equally ardent defenders of Israel, but who consider themselves
French and refuse to be viewed as members of an Israeli colony living in
Paris. It's not a question of hiding our sentiments or of offering only
lukewarm support to Israel; it's a question of independent, responsible
citizens remaining free in their opinions and conserving their identity. On
that particular occasion, I felt obliged to publicly reaffirm the sensible
position of the majority of French Jews.

After the Copernic bombing, there was much talk of anti-semitism in
France, comparing our country to Eastern European nations, accusing
France of being lenient in the face of a revival of anti-semitic attitudes.
There too, the criticism is unfair. Few people realize that Jewish schools in
France are subsidized by the government, an almost unique situation in the
world; even more extraordinary is the fact that military service accom-
plished in Israel exempts French citizens from military service in France.
And if the world will have to witness a tragic alliance between anti-Zionist
Palestinian extremists and neo-Nazi or Red terrorist groups, France will
certainly not be the only nation to be endangered by it.

No more than any other was my family immune from anti-semitism at the
time of the Dreyfus affair. Drumont, in his newspaper La Libre Parole,
really let loose. I'll quote only two or three of his attacks, because they defy
the imagination. As I've mentioned, my grandfather Alphonse volun-
tarily severed relations with his best client, Tsarist Russia, refusing to have
anything to do with a régime guilty of bloody pogroms. Drumont described
as ‘infamy’ this act of solidarity: . . . the Rothschilds never flinched at
this betrayal. They had only one goal: to come to the aid of their fellow
Jews in Russia.’

The most puerile anti-semitic insults as to the ‘miserable’ origins of my
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Jewish homeland acquired an intense emotional appeal; | myself became
an ardent Zionist, without however envisaging a change of direction in my
personal life or that of my family. The word ‘Zionist’ can thus lead to
confusion, because it designates a person prepared to immigrate to Israel as
well as a supporter of the State of Israel.

In 1945, | made a trip to the Middle East with an official mission to
report my findings. On that occasion | met Ben Gourion for the first time
in Jerusalem; he asked me if I was a Zionist. (He was a man who
appreciated precision.) As | hesitated to reply, he added:

‘Do you want to bring up your son here?’

Not wishing to disappoint him, I replied negatively, and the subject was
dropped.

[ spent two weeks in Palestine visiting the different Jewish settlements,
and in particular numerous Kibbutzim. Each of them had its individual
character, political and geographical; but despite the denials of their
officials, [ found them all rather intolerant — for example, in the refusal of
each one to accept members of a different origin than their own.

[ celebrated the Seder in a kibbutz of Yugoslav immigrants, ‘Ein Gev’,
on the banks of Lake Tiberiade, with Arthur Koestler, who had also just
arrived in Palestine, and a young man, Teddy Kollek, now the famous
mayor of Jerusalem, surrounded by a crowd dancing the Horah; we thus
started a life-long friendship.

During the same trip, which also took me to Cairo, I met a most able and
fascinating officer of the French Intelligence Service, who explained to me
his pessimistic outlook as to French interests in that part of the world.

The return plane trip lasted three days, with stop-overs in Benghazi,
Tunis, Algiers — a measure of the progress in time and speed since then!
With the perceptive information I'd gathered in Cairo, added to my
personal observations on the spot, | prepared a report for the Ministry
responsible for my trip. In it [ explained how and why it seemed evident to
me that France was doomed to lose Syria and Lebanon in the very near
future. Nobody took any notice of my forecast — if, indeed, anybody even
bothered to read my report. A few weeks later, events confirmed my
prediction, but I felt no satisfaction in seeing it come true.

On my return, | shared with my English friends in London my
enthusiasm for the kibbutz way of life, which succeeds in eliminating
money while still giving its members freedom and happiness (or so it
seems). It is certainly an exciting experiment, unfortunately valid only in
special, very limited circumstances. The Zionist dream at the time
identified itself with Israel: a national home for the Jewish people, a just
and democratic society, a pioneer spirit, a passionate quest for a new set of
values. The negative aspects of the experience would appear only later.
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gentlemen. They were jubilant! Extremely hostile to de Gaulle, whom
they couldn’t forgive for having granted independence to Algeria, they
were finally getting their revenge on the Arabs — via the Israelis! All means
are good for satisfying an enduring hatred.

The lamb had turned into a lion; the weak had arisen strong. Those for
whom one feared the worst achieved victory with astonishing ease and
brilliance. The Jews, and particularly the Israelis, were then confronted by
an entirely new and unforeseen situation. During the weeks following the
1967 victory, my sister Bethsabée, who lives in Tel-Aviv, came to Paris,
and | remember telling her:

‘Israel should immediately withdraw from the West Bank of the Jordan. For
two reasons: first, for two thousand years the Jews have suffered from the
oppression of most of the peoples with whom they've been in contact; and it
seems inconceivable to me, for the dignity and honour of Israel, that a Jewish
army or government should now play the opposite role and appear to be the
oppressor, against whom a resistance movement will inevitably arise.

‘Secondly, Israel is a small country which will always depend more or
less on the United States or some other highly industrialized country. If
the West, weary of Arab hostility, were ever to withdraw its support from
Israel, then Israel would be forced to return within its frontiers, a
humiliation which would counteract'all the benefits of its brilliant victory.

‘I might add that if the ethics of our time and the pressure of public
opinion could prevent the United States from doing what was necessary to
achieve victory in Vietnam, what chance would Israel have?’

In 1969 I returned to Israel and held forth the same argument to Dayan,
who simply brushed it away; then to Levi Eshkol, the Prime Minister, who
kept me for an hour trying to convince me: he appreciated the validity of
my analysis, but said he was unable to change his policy. | maintained that
if a single Arab soldier (who could only have been Jordanian at that time)
penetrated into Trans-Jordan, any Israeli unit would be capable of putting
things in order.

Levi Eshkol, changing the subject, asked me with a certain premonition
if there would be a change of French policy in the eventuality of Georges
Pompidou replacing General de Gaulle as President. I explained to him
why no government could fundamentally reverse the French policy: it was
vital for France to maintain good relations with the North African
governments so that no hostile military bases would be established facing
our Mediterranean coast. When Levi Eshkol’s posthumous memoranda
were published, I found in them an account of this portion of our
conversation and of his disappointment in my predictions — which ensuing
events were to prove exact. |

[ was so convinced of the danger Israel risked by a prolonged occupation
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devotion to her. Israel seemed brutal and cold-blooded. For the first time,
her army had been used not for defence but for aggression. The media have
shown heart-breaking scenes of the extensive destruction, stressing the
tragic number of civilian casualties. The Israeli government also laid itself
open to criticism in making the error of announcing ‘limited operations for
the protection of its frontier zone’ — and then immediately invalidating the
declaration by marching on Beirut.

We've seen how Soviet-inspired propaganda, with its usual escalation of
verbal excess, has exploited these events. The facts are undeniable. But
their presentation has often been biased; the conclusions drawn from them
are unfounded. Refusing to recognize the constant efforts of the Israeli
army to limit civilian casualties is just as unfair as denying the importance
of the strictly military installations the Palestinians deliberately installed
in the heart of the residential sections of West Beirut.

Some have tried to make out that this war was an anti-terrorist action —
as if the Israelis were ignorant of what everyone else knows: that no
country has ever succeeded in suppressing a nationalistic rebellion by
force. This is really underestimating their military leaders, whose talent
and efficiency has inspired world-wide admiration. Another fact has been
too easily forgotten: that Lebanon was no longer a sovereign nation, in any
sense of the term, but a territory occupied by two armed forces hostile to
[srael, one of which was guilty of repeated acts of aggression against her.

[t was at this point that a terrible tragedy occurred, a few weeks after the
fighting had ceased. Hundreds of helpless men, women and children were
murdered by the Lebanese Christians in the camps of Sabra and Chatila,
while the Israeli army did nothing at all to stop them. The army was too
close to the camps, the warnings to the Israeli government too often
repeated (as was learned later) to consider it innocent in the sinister affair.
The Israeli population was certainly conscious of it, as it reacted violently
and in a manner worthy of what we expected: demanding the creation of
an investigating committee, which summoned as witnesses the Prime
Minister, the Defence Minister and many Army officers. Alas, committees
can’t resuscitate the innocent dead; and the numerous murders previously
committed by the Palestinians cannot serve as an excuse for anyone
concerned.

[srael will obtain peace only through moderation; she could destroy
herself by being in the wrong, which does not necessarily condemn hertoa
bleating, angelic purity. In fact, it is the first time in her history that her
leaders have been confronted with such a difficult moral dilemma: having
to choose between what they can do and what they decide they can’t do.

Whatever one’s opinion of the Begin government, and whatever may
have been its objectives in launching the war in Lebanon, one can judge
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nationalization — a spectacular move, but also futile and costly? Fur-
thermore (an aggravating circumstance) one which has in principle long
since been abandoned by all the Socialist parties in other industrialized
nations/’

The truth of the matter is perfectly evident: banks are depicted in
Socialist mythology as the Temple of Money, the abhorred symbol of
capitalism. No need to justify their appropriation: it’s an act of faith. It’s
evidence of the determination to destroy a form of economy and society
founded on private property and freedom of enterprise.

In December 1977, Monsieur Mitterand and his friends, then in
opposition, had already proposed a law whose preamble began as follows:
‘In order to break the domination of big capitalism . . . we must transfer
to the collective the financial instruments now in the hands of dominant
capitalist groups.’

The negligible share that private French banks held in the total
financial activity of our country earned such slogans as ‘big capitalism’ and
‘capitalistic domination’ . . . even without having to take into account
the recognized quality of management of the banking establishments
concerned.

In order to justify their policies, prominent members of the new regime
frequently resorted to some staggering statements. A few samples:

‘Stifled by the great financial powers, they [industrial enterprises| are in
a state of stagnation voluntarily created by the former; we will free them.’
(Bérégovoy)

‘. . . put an end to the bureaucratization and State control over
industry . . .’

‘Permit small and medium-sized industries to develop and thus escape
from their vocation of sausage-meat for big capitalism.’ (One can hardly
believe that these words were pronounced by Frangois Mitterand who is,
however, not so interested in industry: it’s the banks that he resents. ‘Blum
died fighting the fortress of money, | want to avenge his memory,’ he's
reported to have often said.

The encyclopaedic ignorance of the Left in matters of economics is a
constant of French political life, as is its subservience to an outdated
ideology. Of course, every society needs a generous inspiration.
Unfortunately, social justice and progress cannot be achieved by taking
19th-century literature as the Bible, and even less by opening the gates to
Communist infiltration on every level of public administration and
economic activity.

The Left doesn’t lack men of talent. It’s surprising that they don’t
succeed in extricating themselves from a vicious circle which finally gives
their opponents a monopoly on economic progress, on raising the standard
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gigantic expropriation of a list of more or less anonymous important banks
should also cause the disappearance of Rothschild, whose connotation is
both historical and mythical, without anybody’s noticing or paying
attention to it. | took up my pen and wrote an article entitled ‘Adieu
Rothschild’, which was printed on the front page of Le Monde. The public
reaction surpassed my expectations. | received hundreds of expressions of
sympathy and approval, most of them trying to be encouraging and ending
with: ‘Not adieu, but au revoir, Rothschild’; many said: ‘Hoping to see you
soon, Rothschild’, or ‘Thank you, Rothschild’. All of them congratulated
me for having been virtually the only member of my profession to have
responded ‘with courage and dignity’.

ADIEU ROTHSCHILD

A family whose name is associated with an eminently capitalistic banking
establishment could only see the scope of its activities gradually shrink at every
stage of the socialization that France has experienced during the course of the
2oth century. The Rothschilds have been affected by each of these stages: the
Popular Front of 1936 ousted them from the management of the Chemin du Fer
du Nord, which they had run since 1857; it ousted my father from a directorship
of the Bank of France, which he had held for twenty years.

After the Liberation, the interests held by the Rothschilds in the production
and distribution of electricity and in insurance were nationalized by de Gaulle.
Finally, in 1981, the Socialist-Communist coalition decreed the nationaliza-
tion of the banks, thereby evicting them from the family building which had
been theirs for 170 years on the rue Laffitte — the rue Laffitte which had become
synonymous with the Rothschilds themselves. At the same time, the family lost
control of the other businesses it had traditionally managed, such as the mining
group based on Pennaroya and Le Nickel, and those inherited from the private
holdings of the former railway companies.

The march of time always leaves casualties along the way. One can regret it,
but it is only to be expected. If that were all, we'd only need to lick our wounds
and silently suffer bitterness and sadness within the privacy of the family. But
there are also all the people with whom the author of these lines collaborated in
giving a new life to an institution that had been mummified since 1914,
developing a bank and an industrial complex worthy of the French economy.
All those people are broken-hearted to see the results of forty years of arduous
effort annihilated. But that isn't the only point: the main question is the
relationship of the Rothschilds with the government in power, to which they
are at least an embarrassment if not the embodiment of evil.

The Rothschilds have an ‘image’ that is very special and very personal. They
have become the proverbial symbol of wealth, a wealth which is evidenced with
no pretence of guilt in their life-style. Furthermore, the succession of one
generation after another at the head of their business has created the
appearance of a dynasty — which is merely a fantasy.

In business, they are noted for a certain competence and scrupulous
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that the case of the Rothschilds differed from the rest in that they were a
symbol.

Latent in normal times, the hostility and fear inspired by the Rothschilds
breaks into delirium in time of crisis. When the Popular Front was in power in
1936, the family was one of its favourite targets.

In 1940, three weeks after the Armistice, the Vichy regime issued a decree
depriving my father and my uncles, Robert and Henri, of French citizenship,
striking them off the Légion d’honneur, confiscating their possessions. Their
crime was having sought refuge in America, fleeing from the advancing
German army instead of volunteering for cremation. Before joining the Free
French, I had to face the sequestration of the bank, the seizure and dispersal of
my family’s possessions. The responsible minister, Alibert, referring to the
decree regulating the spoliations and the way he'd applied it, said: ‘Above all,
I'm using this to get at the Rothschilds.’

Clearly, the nationalization of the banks isn’t specifically aimed at the
Rothschilds. We may not be the target, but we've been hit — as in a shooting
accident, caused by those to whom the French have for a period carelessly
entrusted guns. To those who are thinking: ‘But you're decently compensated’,
I reply (is it for me to say this): ‘Money isn’t everything. Besides, we've never
been for sale.’

The French Rothschilds made the mistake of believing that they could
develop and grow with their time and in their own country; they were wrong.

The Socialist Radicals have excluded them from the economic community.
Of the House of Rothschild there will remain a few odd pieces, perhaps
nothing.

A Jew under Pétain, a pariah under Mitterand — for me it's enough. To
rebuild on ruins twice in a lifetime is too much.

Forced into retirement, I have decided to strike.

Guy de Rothschild

The article was reprinted and commented on by the international press,
and | was besieged with requests for interviews: television and radio,
newspapers and magazines, in Europe and America. It obviously came at
the right time, as the interest it aroused surpassed what might have been
attributed to myself or to my family. Besides, it served as proof that our
name was still famous and above all that it was associated with current
events, enhanced and not enshrouded by its historic past.

By publicly expressing my views, I got them off my chest, as they say. |
fulfilled what seemed to me to be my duty; I enjoyed the warmth of those
spontaneous gestures of sympathy. But I still had to live through the
factual event. Everything I'd been able to create or help to create during
my lifetime — the bank, rejuvenated and greatly increased in size; a French
multi-national corporation IMETAL - had been confiscated, my work
demolished. I'd toiled for thirty-five years to no avail. At the end of 1980,
my family controlled a group in which the banking sector, including
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by urging us to become provincials in Paris, condemned to a permanent
inferiority with respect to our international colleagues.

Logical reflection showed me the way. But it was sentimentally that I
was most affected by the loss of the rue Laffitte and of all ‘the House’ meant
to me. Of course, the government’s objective was not to evict us from our
building, but the bank is inseparable from it, owned it; exclusion from one
could only mean exclusion from both.

The modern building we had built and decorated with enthusiasm was
the continuation of the old one; for us, it had not demolished but
succeeded it. It was its reincarnation rather than its replacement.

The old-time rue Laffitte seemed to revive before my eyes: the concierge
of number 19, with his greatcoat in winter and his odd flabby hat all year
round; the door under the archway that had to be opened by the bolt
because the handle didn’t function — a ploy to discourage burglars (very
inexperienced ones!); the little staircase leading to ‘the Room’, and next
to it adecrepit lift that hadn’t worked in my lifetime and whose usefulness I
was never able to imagine. Then all the traditions of former days returned
to mind: the mail that could be opened only by a partner (it used to be
delivered to my father on the rue Saint-Florentin in a red leather case
before being returned to the bank for distribution); the obligation the
Rothschilds imposed on themselves of personally signing every document,
whatever its nature, even during holidays. ‘

We'd conserved from the past more than appeared at first glance. A
discreet atmosphere, ushers in tailcoats, obliging and attentive. No
ceremony, but no carelessness — a far cry from the negligence that
frequently reigns in public buildings. On the rue Laffitte everything was
impeccable: not a single stray paper was in sight, flowers and plants
adorned each landing, everything reflected a concern for brightness and
beauty.

In addition, for the privileged such as we, there was a staff which made
life easy and pleasant. Efficient secretaries organized life, competent
services provided us with financial, legal and tax advice. The bank was our
accountant, lawyer, counsellor, business manager, secretary, confidant.
Many of our clients received the same attentions we did, and many of them
expressed their devotion.

Large or small, a business enterprise has a distinct personality,
independent from those who manage it. It becomes a living entity, it hasa
life of its own; it prospers, it suffers, it grows, it is endangered. A
demanding individual, its successes are a reward for its employees and
managers. In exchange for sacrifices, it offers emotional security; dedi-
cation to its purpose dispels anxiety and excludes boredom. It distills a
magic potion as enslaving as a drug; and when one must leave for good, its
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died a few months later. Having in the space of a year to break away from
our past and to face major worries as leader of the Jewish community was
too much for him.

The Rothschilds have left the rue Laffitte forever. It’s a violation, it’s
the stranger in the house, it’s cutting the umbilical cord from the placenta.

[ lived there more than fifty years of my life, more hours than I've spent
in bed, more years than in any other house, more experiences, more
worries, more satisfactions, than anywhere else. | have accumulated more
remembrances there than in all the rest of my memory. I'll never return,
unless I'm forced to do so flanked by two policemen. I'll try never to enter
that street again. I'll try to live, think, work and dream somewhere else.
But never will I forget the rue Laffitte. All that remains is a memory of the
past, like Cinderella returning from the ball. The glass slipper has
vanished, the party has disappeared, one cannot see it again, one is blind.
The curtain has fallen.

One is only defeated when one accepts defeat, said Marshal Foch. Inspired
by this motto and as if [ were still young, I intend to accept the challenge.
Contrary to Cinderella, I'll set forth in search of another slipper, which I
hope we will never lose.

The essence of life is to fight as if never to die.




Guy de
J@om%d
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